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CORPORATE PROFILE AND CORPORATE INFORMATION

RAFHTRATDER

InvesTech Holdings Limited (the “Company”, “our” or “we”, together
with all its subsidiaries, the “Group”) is mainly engaged in the
provision of network system integration including provision of
network infrastructure solutions, network professional services and
smart office software solutions, and the network equipment rental
business. The shares of the Company (the “Shares”) were listed on
the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”) on 16 November 2010.
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Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of
the Company (the “Company” and together with its subsidiaries, the
“Group”), | hereby present the annual report of the Company for the
year ended 31 December 2022 (the “Year”).

BUSINESS AND MARKET OVERVIEW

During the Year, despite the adoption of effective anti-pandemic
measures, China suffered a resurgence of Coronavirus Disease
2019 ("COVID-19" or °
mass testing and other response measures hindered the country’s

the pandemic”), and citywide lockdowns,
economic recovery.

However, under the national 14th Five-Year Plan (2021-2025) and
the Digital China strategy, fields such as artificial intelligence, big
data, cloud computing and the Internet of Things ("loT") enjoyed a
remarkable performance during the Year. In December 2022, the
State Council issued the Outline of the Strategic Plan for Expanding
Domestic Demand (2022-2035) ( & A A 7 B B A2 &1 41 2 (2022-
20354 )
innovative infrastructure such as industrial centres. Favourable

), which encourages forward-looking development of

policies presented the IT industry with fertile opportunities and
drove the development of the digital economy as soaring demand
for IT solutions added to market growth. Grasping the market
opportunities brought by favourable policies and addressing the
government’s needs, the Group managed to capture market
opportunities and enhance sales during the Year.

A substantial increase in the adoption of smart office devices and
In China,
office market maintained rapid growth during the Year. Driven by

solutions has occurred worldwide. the smart mobile
complex external environment, national policies and the ongoing
penetration of the collaborative office concept, enterprises have
gradually adapted to the collaborative development of online and
offline businesses, catalysing the evolution of the smart office
industry, which enjoys an enormous market with strong growth and
practically limitless opportunities.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ERBE

Under this backdrop, the Group has been actively exploring IT
infrastructure system integration and smart office solutions, at
the same time carrying out all-round cooperation in various fields
with technology giants, including Microsoft, Huawei, and Lark and
so on, thus empowering Fortune 500 customers in term of digital
transformation. Among which, the Group and Microsoft formed
strong alliance and strategically deepened collaboration in the field
of smart office during the Year. In November 2021, the Group ranked
first in Microsoft Teams Hackathon with “Virsical Automated Visitor
Registration Solution”, and won the title of Microsoft Gold Partner
in December 2021. In early 2022, Wafer Systems’ "Virsical AloT
Solution” officially entered Microsoft laboratory, and was empowered
by Microsoft laboratory’s technology and equipment. In 2022, the
Group and Microsoft jointly launched two distinctive enterprise
digital transformation solutions, namely “AloT-based Smart Building
Digital-twin Solution” and “Teams-based Digital Administrative
Office Solution”, to empower clients from various industries to

undergo digital transformation.

OUTLOOK

Organisations nowadays are constantly evolving due to dynamic
workforce demographics and rising technological expectations
among employees and employers. Thanks to the active efforts of
world-class internet companies, smart office software and hardware
platforms have begun to spread throughout many vertically
integrated industries. The Group therefore believes that smart office
solutions will become an embedded trend, and that the smart office
market will offer virtually limitless opportunities and abundant

prospects for rapid growth.

In addition, recognising the importance of sustainability, the Group's
MetaMatrix series solutions — which include MetaWork, MetaSpace,
Metaview and MetaFM - will help enterprises achieve sustainable
development and reach the carbon reduction target as well as
various environmental, social and governance goals.
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Looking ahead, the Group will maintain the stable development of
its IT infrastructure system integration and smart office software
solution businesses. As a leading provider of smart office solutions
in China, the Group will make good use of its integrated product
matrix, strong research & development capabilities, and extensive
ecological cooperation network to offer customers one-stop smart-
space solutions and facilitate enterprises’ digital transformation.
To provide customers with more diverse products and services,
the Group will allocate more resources to enhance research and

development capabilities.

Securing more orders from both private and public sector customers
is another of the Group’s key business strategies. In the private
sector, collaborations with technology giants and active participation
in tenders will help grow the customer base and increase the
Group's revenue. In the public sector, the Group will continue actively
to participate in tenders, aiming to secure more business from the
Hong Kong government.

APPRECIATION

I would like to express my sincere gratitude for the continuous
support of all our shareholders, investors, business partners and
customers, and to our management team and employees for their
valuable contribution as well as hard work. As always, the Group
will create more brilliant results and generate better returns for

investors and Shareholders in the long run.

Yours faithfully,

Chan Sek Keung, Ringo
Chairman and CEO

31 March 2023
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
CURL RS

A highlight of results, selected financial ratios, assets and liabilities %& - KEFHHLEX EERBBERASRE

and cash flows is as follows: BRI ZE 4N T
RESULTS INFORMATION ¥EER

Year ended 31 December

BEZE+-—A=t+—HLEE

2022 2021
—E-= —E-—%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ET R ARETTT
Revenue WA 556,679 484,598
Gross profit el 85,371 57,108
Loss before tax BEiAIEE (28,809) (22,048)
(Loss)/profit for the year FR(EE)/EF
- Continuing operation —RBECEER (33,019) (22,329)
- Discontinued operation —BRIERER = 1,329
(33,019) (21,000)
(Loss)/profit for the year attributable to [SUNCIE 2PN L)
owners of the parent FR(B1R),/EF
- Continuing operation —RBECEER (35,882) (18,176)
- Discontinued operation —BRIEREERR = 1,329
Profit/(loss) for the year attributable to JEIR GRS R R T (1)
non-controlling interests
- Continuing operation —REREER 2,863 (4,153)

Year ended 31 December

BE+-A=t+—HLEE

(Loss)/earnings per share
From continuing and discontinued operations
- Basic and diluted (RMB cents)

From continuing operation
- Basic and diluted (RMB cents)

From discontinued operation
- Basic and diluted (RMB cents)

8 InvesTech Holdings Limited 128 AR A 7
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REFERCRIEREER
—BEAREE (ANRES)

REFBLLEED
-~ EXREEANRES)

REBRELEER
—EXREE ANRES)

2022

—E=-C
RMB’000
AR®T T

2021
—E-—F
RMB'000
ARET T

(RMB32.09 cents) (RMB21.03 cents)
(AR#32.09%) (ANR#21.039)
(RMB32.09 cents)  (RMB22.49 cents)
(AR #32.099) (ANR#22.695)
N/A RMB1.66 cents

TEHA AR 66D




FINANCIAL SUMMARY
MBEE
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
MBRE

SELECTED FINANCIAL RATIOS INFORMATION RETHHLERER

Year ended 31 December

HBZEt-A=t-HLEE

2022 201 202 2019 2018
S F s “F0F ==z

(approximate) (approximate) (approximate) (approximate) (approximate)

(#4) (B4 (1 )

Gross profit margin % 15.3% 11.8% 10.9% 13.3% 8.6%
Net loss margin'” FERZ0 (5.9%) (4.6%) (16.8%) (5.0%) (13.2%)
Current ratio (times) MENELE (15) 1.3 14 13 13 14
Gearing ratio® EXRBHE0 12.7% 10.8% 6.7% 58% 8.7%
Return on total assets® BEERRY (6.7%) (3.1%) (9.5%) (2.0%) (39%)
Return on total equity” ERERETY (10.2%) (5.6%) (14.4%) (2.8%) (5.4%)

BRAFERLLEEBFNERENURAGE -

m Calculated by using loss for the year from continuing operation divided

by revenue.

@ Calculated by using the total of interest-bearing bank and other @ 1REH BAIRTT M B 8 R CA K AT HA IR (5 25 A8 RN R A
borrowings and convertible bond divided by total assets. BMEEE-

® Calculated by using loss for the year divided by average balances of @ RFENEBRAGEESN G, THMEE -

total assets or total equity.

1 0 InvesTech Holdings Limited B ZRER A



FINANCIAL SUMMARY
MBEE

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES INFORMATION EEHEEER

As at 31 December
R+=B=1-H
2022 Al 2019

ZECC “B--F “E-NE \
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR ARBFIL ARETT ARETT ARETTL

Cash and cash equivalents BeRBEESED

(excluding pledged deposits) (TREREAER) 59,436 54,920 76,128 48,781 98,278
Current assets mEHEE 495,651 378,406 366,343 399,185 404,426
Non-current assets FRBEE 250,761 277,023 354,127 710,719 955,346
Current liabilities nEBE 382,620 276,936 279,786 301,439 297,637
Non-current liabilities #nBEE 43,699 49,192 20,140 27,103 62,327
Equity attributable to SRREAAEGER

owners of the parent 309,236 322,750 371,099 728,093 943,072
Non-controlling interests RS 10,857 6,551 49 4hh 53,269 56,736

CASH FLOWS INFORMATION RenE&Es

Year ended 31 December
BEt-A=t-HLEE
2022 2019 2018

S = 2= L
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR  ABETR  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR

Net cash (used in)/from meEy (MA)/mE

operating activities HeFE (35,242) (8,707) 19.917 39,347 89,088
Net cash (used in)/from REZY (FA)/ 55

investing activities Red (24,905) (8,456) 2,699 (40,333) (195,393)
Net cash from/(used in) BEEBAME/ (FA)

financing activities ReFE 63,156 (4,867) (15,853) (47,486) (2.902)

ANNUAL REPORT 2022 —ZE— — 63§ 1 1



FINANCIAL SUMMARY
MBRE

ARG M REORZIT :

A summary of consolidated financial results for the last five financial years is it T B B FE

as follows:

Year ended 31 December

BZt-A=t-HLEE

CONTINUING OPERATION
Revenue
Cost of sales

Gross profit

Other income and gains

Selling and distribution expenses
Administrative expenses

Other expenses, net

Finance costs

Loss before tax
Income tax (expense)/credit

Loss for the year from
continuing operation

DISCONTINUED OPERATION
Profit/(loss) for the year from

discontinued operation

Loss for the year

Other comprehensive income/(loss)
that may be reclassified to profit

or loss in subsequent periods:

Exchange differences on translation

of foreign operations

Recycle of exchange differences
upon disposal of foreign
operations

HELERR
LON
BERA

M

LY ONL 6
BERDERX
THFAxX
At H R
BERK

RABE
FRH (Ax) /E%

ReBEEEEHY
FEER

BRIEEERH
RACRLEZZHH
EEE/ (BR)

EEBR

IRERBRENE
REENAMZE
i/ (BR)
BENEEK BN

=8
HENEXBHLDN
ERER
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2022

—E--

RMB'000
ARBTR

2021
—E-—F
RMB'000
ARETT

2020

St 25
RMB'000
ARETT

2019
—Z-NF
RMB'000
AREFT

2018
—E-N\E
RMB'000
ARETT

556,679 184,598 469,116 488,682 414,864
(671,308) (427,490) (417,849) (623,640) (379,256)
85,371 57,108 51,267 65,042 35,606
8117 5,252 6027 3891 5,629
(28,709) (25.806) (25.942) (24,654) (22,167)
(68,508) (54,359 (68,447) (56,038) 7872
(19,431) (1236) (58,057) (6,786) (19.877)
(6,269) (300) (2926) (4,115) (9,735)
(28,809) (22,068) (78,278) (22,438) (58,416)
(4,210) (281) (384) (2027) 3,759
(33,019) (22,329) (78,662) (24,665) (54,657)
- 1329 (8024) - -
(33,019) (21,000) (86,686) (24,465) (54,657)
1,359 26,086 21,848 (57997) 602
- (657) - - -
1,359 25,407 21,848 (57,997) 602




FINANCIAL SUMMARY
MBEE

Year ended 31 December

BET-A=1-HLFE

Other comprehensive income/(loss) N EL % BB AR 25
that will not be reclassified to AERERMEM
profit or loss in subsequent periods: 2 AWz / (BHE) :

BERRRRMBRE

Exchange differences on

2022
oo

—_——

RMB'000
ARBT R

2021
—E-—f
RMB'000
ARETT

“Z-FF
RMB'000
ARETT

2019
“E-NE
RMB'000
ARETT

00
ARBTT

translation of the Company’s BHEB I ERES
financial statements into
presentation currency 2,965 (27,083) (24,489) 60,052 402
Financial asset at fair value S UNTRELEEIN
through other comprehensive At 2 ERE
income: THEE:
Change in fair value RrfEEE (21,118) (70,992) (271,491) (230,370) 12,939
Income tax effect FERyE - - - 3,235 (3.235)
(18,753) (98,075) (295,980) (167,083) 10,106
Other comprehensive (loss)fincome ~ FEHM2E (B18) /IE
for the year, net of tax MBHE (17,394) (72,668) (274,132) (225,080) 10,708
Total comprehensive loss for the year & 2 EEBHE (50,413) (93,668) (360,818) (249,745) (43,949)
(Loss)/profit attributable to: A& A
(B8) /&M
- Owners of the parent ECVNGIE 2PN (35,882) (16,847) (83,051) (21,094) (46,171)
- Non-controlling interests — RS 2,863 (4,153) (3,635) (3,569 (8,486)
(33,019) (21,000) (86,686) (24,665) (54,657)
Total comprehensive (loss)fincome AT & A E(ERE
attributable to: (BR)/ haes:
- Owners of the parent RCYNGIE 2PN (53,924) (89,437) (356,994) (246,278) (35,436)
- Non-controlling interests — iR 3,511 (4,231 (3,824) (3,467) (8,513)
(50,413) (93,668) (360,818) (249,745) (43,949)
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EERERWR D

BUSINESS REVIEW

During the year ended 31 December 2022 (the “Year”), the Group
continued to focus on its core business of IT infrastructure system
integration and sales of smart office software solutions. The majority
of the Group’s revenue was generated in the People’s Republic of
China (the "PRC" or “China”) market.

In the first half of the Year, stringent COVID-19 restrictions were
imposed in major cities in China, curtailing business activity
and causing supply chain disruptions, temporarily hindering the
performance of the Group. Fortunately, following the gradual
recovery of China’'s economy, soaring demand for IT solutions
was witnessed in the second half of the Year, contributing to a
significant increase in the Group's sales. For the business operation
in Hong Kong, the project regarding the provision of a smart-
library system for Hong Kong government’s Leisure and Cultural
Services Department (the “Library Project”) also began to generate
promising income in particularly during the second half of the Year.
Thanks to the above-mentioned positive factors, the Group’s total
revenue recorded an increase of approximately RMB72.1 million or
approximately 14.9% to approximately RMB556.7 million for the Year
(2021: approximately RMB484.6 million). The Group’s gross profit
increased by approximately RMB28.3 million or approximately 49.6%
to approximately RMB85.4 million for the Year (2021: approximately
RMB57.1 million), broadly in line with revenue growth. While a net
loss for the year of approximately RMB33.0 million was recorded
(2021: approximately RMB21.0 million), mainly attributable to the fair
value loss of a debt investment at fair value through profit or loss of
approximately RMB10.9 million for the Year as a result of the default
of an unlisted bond.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

IT Infrastructure System Integration

The Group continued to enhance its traditional IT infrastructure
system integration business, which remained a major source of
revenue during the Year. Leveraging its advanced products, the Group
continued to provide advanced and customised IT infrastructure
system integration solutions to its customers in diverse segments
including finance, manufacturing and retail, etc. The Group kept
maintaining strategic partnership with various tech giants, with the
aim of acquiring new clients through strategic alliances to deliver
cutting-edge IT infrastructure solutions and enlarge the customer
base. More importantly, the work performed in Library Project
translated into the recognition of approximately RMB49.8 million of
revenue and contributed remarkably in the significant increase in

the segmental revenue during the Year.

The Group won the bid of the Library Project in 2021, the Group
began to carry out preliminary work during the Year, including the
design of core library systems. The Group also expects that the
project will be on-going to provide a substantial and stable income
stream. To broaden its income stream, the Group also sought
to tap new public and private sector customers, with a focus on
projects involving smart-city technology and smart-IT, as a means to

enhance its revenue.

The IT infrastructure system integration segment saw promising
developments, with revenue up approximately RMB52.2 million,
or approximately 11.6%, to approximately RMB500.8 million for
the Year, following respective revenue of approximately RMB448.6
million in 2021.

Smart Office Software Solutions

During the Year, the Group’s smart office software solutions and
property technology ("PropTech”) solutions businesses, which
operate using loT technology and have relatively high profit margins
as compared to that of the sale of hardware goods, benefited from
robust demand. Thanks to the Group’s powerful product matrix and
research & development capabilities, the number of orders for, and
sales of, smart office software solutions recorded a steady growth,
resulting in an increase in related sales. Accordingly, the Group's
revenue from the provision of smart office software solutions
increased by approximately RMB19.9 million, or approximately
55.3%, to approximately RMB55.9 million for the Year, following

respective revenue of approximately RMB36.0 million in 2021.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWR DN

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Smart Office Software Solutions (continued)

The Group has been deepening its achievements in the smart office
field to support enterprises’ digital transformation. During the Year,
it continued in-depth smart office cooperation with technology giants
including Microsoft, Huawei and Lark. Capitalising on its partners’
outstanding technical capability and exhaustive list of product matrix,
the Group effectively optimised its solutions to provide clients with
better products and services, thus expanding its market share in
the promising China market. The Group’s homegrown applications -
MetaVisitor, MetaWorkspace and MetaMeeting - were launched on
several platforms during the Year, and the Group also redoubled its
efforts to upgrade Virsical, its flagship smart office software product.

Other Investments

During the Year, the Group continued to invest in Hong Kong's
stock market through on-market transactions. To enhance financial
returns to its shareholders and limit risk exposure, management
adopts and follows a prudent investment policy. As at 31 December
2022, the Group held equity securities listed in Hong Kong worth
approximately RMB13.5 million as financial assets for trading (2021:
approximately RMB2.9 million). During the Year, the Group recorded
a net fair value gain on equity investments at fair value through
profit or loss of approximately RMB5.1 million (2021: approximately
RMB1.9 million). In additions, the Group acquired five car-parking
spaces during the Year and most of them have been leased out,

providing the Group with stable rental returns.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue and cost of sales

Revenue of the Group for the Year was approximately RMB556.7
million (2021: approximately RMB484.6 million), representing
an increase of approximately RMB72.1 million, or approximately
14.9% as compared with that of 2021. The increase in revenue was
primarily attributable to the increase in revenue generated from the
provision of smart office software solutions and the contribution
from Library Project for the Year.

Following the increase in revenue, the cost of sales of the Group
increased by approximately RMB43.8 million, or approximately 10.2%
to approximately RMB471.3 million for the Year (2021: approximately
RMB427.5 million). The increase in cost of sales was in line with the

increase in revenue of the Group.

Gross profit and gross profit margin

The Group achieved gross profit for the Year amounted to
approximately RMB85.4 million (2021: approximately RMB57.1
million), representing an increase of approximately RMB28.3
million, or approximately 49.6% as compared with that of 2021. The
gross profit margin for the Year was approximately 15.3% (2021:
approximately 11.8%), representing an increase of approximately
3.5% as compared with that of 2021. The increase in gross profit
margin was primarily attributable to the increase in the proportion
of sales contributed by the sales of software solutions and related
services of the Group, which had a relatively high profit margin as

compared to sales of hardware products of the Group.

Other income and gains

The Group recorded other income and gains of approximately
RMB6.7 million for the Year (2021: approximately RMB5.3 million),
mainly consisted of (i) fair value gain on equity investments at fair
value through profit or loss of approximately RMB5.1 million (2021:
approximately RMB1.9 million); and (ii) the government grants
released to the Group of approximately RMB1.1 million (2021:
approximately RMB1.5 million).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWR DN

FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

Selling and distribution expenses

The selling and distribution expenses of the Group increased
by approximately RMB2.9 million or approximately 11.2% to
approximately RMB28.7 million for the Year (2021: approximately
RMB25.8 million), primarily due to the increase in sale commission

incentive to sales and marketing team.

Administrative expenses

The administrative expenses of the Group increased by approximately
RMB14.1 million or approximately 25.9% to approximately RMB68.5
million for the Year (2021: approximately RMBb54.4 million), primarily
attributable to the increase in research and development cost and

staff cost to cope with the expansion of business operations.

Other expenses

The other expenses for the Year of approximately RMB14.4 million
(2021: approximately RMBO0.1 million) mainly represented (i) fair
value loss on a debt investment at fair value through profit or
loss of approximately RMB10.9 million (2021: fair value gain of
approximately RMB1.4 million recorded in other income and gains);
and (i) fair value losses on investment properties of approximately
RMB3.2 million (2021: Nil).

Finance costs

The finance costs of the Group increased by approximately RMB1.2
million to approximately RMB4.2 million for the Year (2021:
approximately RMB3.0 million). The increase was mainly attributable
to the interest arising from the issue of convertible bond of
approximately RMB1.5 million (2021: Nil).

Income tax
The income tax of the Group comprised provision of income tax

expense and deferred tax.

The Group recorded provision of income tax expense of
approximately RMB7.0 million for the Year (2021: approximately
RMB3.4 million), and the increase in income tax expense was mainly
due to the increase in assessable profit of the Group’s subsidiaries
in China and in Hong Kong during the Year.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

Income tax (continued)

The Group recorded tax expense of approximately RMB4.2 million
for the year (2021: approximately RMBO0.3 million), primarily due to
the recognition of the deferred tax credit of approximately RMB2.8
million (2021: approximately RMB3.1 million) arising from the
amortisation of other intangible assets, which offset the impact of

the provision of income tax expense mentioned above.

Loss for the Year from continuing operation

The Group recorded a loss for the Year from continuing operation
of approximately RMB33.0 million for the Year (2021: approximately
RMB22.3 million). The increase in loss was mainly attributable to
the fair value loss of a debt investment at fair value through profit or
loss of approximately RMB10.9 million for the Year as a result of the

default of an unlisted bond.

Liquidity and financial resources

As at 31 December 2022, the Group’'s gearing ratio, which is
calculated by total of interest-bearing bank and other borrowings
and convertible bond divided by total assets, was approximately
12.7% (2021: approximately 10.8%). The increase in Group’s gearing
ratio was mainly due to the increase in bank and other borrowings.

As at 31 December 2022, the total interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings of the Group amounted to approximately RMB69.9 million
(2021: approximately RMB49.3 million), among which approximately
RMB50.6 million (2021: approximately RMB29.3 million) was
unsecured and guaranteed by a director of the Company. As at 31
December 2022, the interest-bearing bank and other borrowings
of approximately RMB19.3 million (2021: approximately RMB24.9
million) carried at fixed interest rates and approximately RMB50.6
million (2021: approximately RMB24.4 million) carried at floating
interest rates.

As at 31 December 2022, the carrying amount of convertible bond
of the Group amounted to approximately RMB24.6 million (2021:
approximately RMB21.7 million).

Save as aforesaid or as otherwise disclosed in this report, and
apart from intragroup liabilities, the Company did not have any
other outstanding indebtednesses or contingent liabilities as at 31
December 2022.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWR DN

FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

Foreign currency risk

As certain of the Group’s trade and other receivables, cash and
cash equivalents and trade and other payables are denominated in
foreign currency, exposure to exchange rate fluctuation arises. The
Group has relevant policy to monitor the risk associated with the
fluctuation of foreign currency and control such risk, if necessary.

Working capital

Inventories balance as at 31 December 2022 was approximately
RMB20.3 million (2021: approximately RMB17.3 million). The average
turnover days for inventories was 15 days as at 31 December
2022 (2021: 13 days). Trade and bills receivables balance as at
31 December 2022 was approximately RMB318.1 million (2021:
approximately RMB208.0 million). The average turnover days for
trade and bills receivables increased to 173 days as at 31 December
2022 (2021: 154 days), which was due to longer collection period for
certain customers and milestones payment term for Library Project.

Trade payables balance as at 31 December 2022 was approximately
RMB215.2 million (2021: approximately RMB174.8 million). The
average turnover days for trade payables increased to 151 days as at
31 December 2022 (2021: 144 days), which was comparable between
the years.

Affected by the increase in average turnover days for trade and bill
receivables, the Group’s cash conversion cycle for the Year increased
from 23 days in 2021 to 37 days in 2022.

Cash flows
The net cash used in operating activities for the Year amounted to
approximately RMB35.2 million.

The net cash used in investing activities for the Year of approximately
RMB24.9 million was mainly attributable to (i) acquisition of
investment properties of approximately RMB8.6 million; and (ii)
deposit paid for the acquisition of a company of approximately
RMB15.5 million.

The net cash generated from financing activities for the Year of
approximately RMB63.2 million was primarily attributable to the
combined effect of (i) the gross proceeds from the issue of shares
of approximately RMB40.1 million; (ii) repayment of bank and other
borrowings of approximately RMB37.7 million; (iii) new bank and
other borrowings of approximately RMB63.5 million; and (iv) payment
of principal portion of lease payments of approximately RMB7.1
million.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

Capital expenditures

The Group had capital expenditures of approximately RMB10.1
million for the Year (2021: approximately RMB22.5 million) for
additions to property, plant and equipment, investment properties

and right-of-use assets.

Capital commitments
As at 31 December 2022, the Group had outstanding capital
commitment of approximately RMB62.2 million in relation to the

acquisition of a company (2021: Nil).

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

Placing of new shares under specific mandate

On 22 November 2021, a placing agent and the Company entered
into a conditional placing agreement pursuant to which the Company
has conditionally agreed to place through the placing agent, on a
best effort basis, a maximum of 33,000,000 ordinary shares of the
par value of US$0.01 each in the share capital of the Company
("Placing Share(s)") at the placing price of HK$1.5 per Placing Share
(the "Placing”). Completion of the Placing took place on 11 March
2022, and an aggregate of 33,000,000 Placing Shares have been fully
placed by the placing agent, the gross proceeds from the Placing
was HK$49.5 million, and the net proceeds from the Placing, after
deducting the placing commission and other expenses incurred in
the Placing, was approximately HK$48.0 million. The net proceeds
were intended to be used for the Library Project. Details of the
Placing are set out in the announcements of the Company dated 22
November 2021, 23 December 2021, 13 January 2022, 27 January
2022, and 11 March 2022, and the circular of the Company dated 24
December 2021.

On 7 June 2022, the Company resolved to change the use of the
unutilised net proceeds from Library Project to general working
capital for network system integration business. Up to the date of
this report, the net proceeds from the Placing was fully utilised in
which approximately HK$20.7 million are utilised for Library Project
while that of approximately HK$27.3 million are utilised for the
general working capital for network system integration business.
The details of the change in use of proceeds are set out in the

announcement of the Company dated 7 June 2022.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWR DM

B ERE (&)

EAREX
AEEAEBEREINARKIIEET (=
T NARMDSEST) BEREDE-
BERSRE BEMEURERELSE-

B AREE

RIZBZZF+ZA=1T—HA FAEEHEBHK
E-—RARBRANRBITERREOARKS2.2
BET(ZZ—F:8)-

fRAZR1E

REFIRERENROG
RZIEBE-_—F+—A-+-B BEERFER
NAF Y BEBRHEEHE Bl AAFEAK
HREEBRERBRBEMEEELERS
33,000,000/ A~ A Rl AN AR EE0.01E T 2 &
AR (TRERG]) REEAERESRKRMIS
B (BEEFHE]) REFHEER-_TZ=
= A+—H5%K " B4 $£33,000000 B E/RMDE
BREEREXRHMRE LEFEMESHELER
SEEBT MEEEEEMEREFE (K
KREEEEHEACRERS MEMAIR)OA
LBOBBB T ZMERBEFEEANEEEE
B-RESEFBHRARAAHA-T-—
+—A=-+=—A-—E-—F+=-A=-+=8"
T _F—A+=B - T -__F—fF=-++
Ak —F=A+—HZAEUERARRAFH
HAEZE-_—F+_AZ+THEHZEEK-

RZBZ_FRNALA ARRFERBARE AP
SREFEAGHEEREREERBRREGE
BEBN-—REEES - BEEAREAH KE
EEMBFEFECTEIA EHHN20788
ATCARBEEHEEE MAIBEATER
FREARBAETN —REEES -BEMG
RERAEFREN AR AR/ T - _F A
T Bz d e

ANNUAL REPORT 2022 =2 == F3§ 2 1



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWR DN

INVESTMENT IN LISTED EQUITY INVESTMENTS

During the Year, the Group recorded fair value gain on equity
investments at fair value through profit or loss of approximately
RMB5.1 million (2021: approximately RMB1.9 million), which was
related to the fair value gain from the Group’s investment in listed
securities. As at 31 December 2022, the Group's equity investments
at fair value through profit or loss consisted of 13 listed equity
investments (2021: 1), all of them were shares listed on the Stock
Exchange. The fair value gain for the Year was mainly contributed
by the disposal of 553,500 shares of Redco Healthy Living Company
Limited ("Redco Healthy”), which are traded and listed on the main
board of the Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 2370), through an on-
market transaction on 27 July 2022 (the "Disposal”). The Disposal
was made at an average price of approximately HK$17.97 per
share of Redco Healthy (the "Redco Share(s)”), representing the
market price of Redco Shares at the time of the Disposal and
the consideration in aggregate was approximately HK$9,946,000
(exclusive of transaction costs incurred under the Disposal). The
Disposal is completed on the second trading day following the
execution date of the transaction, i.e. 29 July 2022. Details of the
Disposal are set out in the announcement of the Company dated 28
July 2022.

As at 31 December 2022, the fair value of each of the equity
investments at fair value through profit or loss was less than 5% of
the Group's total assets.

INVESTMENT IN NON-LISTED EQUITY INVESTMENT
Investee company’s principal business, performance and
future prospect

China Communication Technology Co., Ltd.* (“CCT")

CCT is a company incorporated in the PRC with limited liability which
together with its subsidiaries are principally engaged in research
and development, design, production and sales of computer software
and hardware, communication products, metal, semi-conductor
and provision of network information service. Its major businesses
include high frequency satellite communication systems, military

communication and provision of related supporting services.
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INVESTMENT IN NON-LISTED EQUITY INVESTMENT
(continued)

Investee company’s principal business, performance and
future prospect (continued)

China Communication Technology Co., Ltd.* ("CCT")
(continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Company entered into
a capital injection agreement to inject an amount of RMB600 million
to CCT (the "CCT Investment”). The CCT Investment was completed
on 25 July 2018 and the Company had interested in approximately
3.91% of the enlarged registered capital of CCT as at 31 December
2022. The CCT Investment was recorded as a financial asset at
fair value through other comprehensive income of the Group. The
fair value of the CCT Investment as at 31 December 2022 was
approximately RMB18.4 million which accounted for approximately
2.5% of the Company’s total asset as at 31 December 2022.

During the Year, the fair value loss (net of the income tax)
in respect of such unlisted equity investment recognised in
other comprehensive loss amounted to RMB21,718,000 (2021:
RMB70,992,000). The fair value loss for the Year was mainly
attributable to (i) unfavourable operating conditions of its major
Ltd., which was delisted in the
Shenzhen Stock Exchange on 17 June 2022; (ii) the decrease in value

subsidiary, Huaxun Fangzhou Co.,

of equity investments held by CCT; and (iii) the unenforced amount
under various litigations for enforcement to CCT. In addition, there
were several factors affecting its operating capabilities, including
the frozen and seizure of important assets and the suspension of
its major construction projects, etc. Notwithstanding the above,
the management of CCT will proactively take feasible improvement
and supportive measures to reorganise its businesses in order to
improve its financial position.
Looking ahead, the Group will continue to monitor the operations of
CCT for its turnaround in the future.

* The English name is for identification purpose only.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWR DN

MATERIAL ACQUISITION

Acquisition of entire equity interest in Sino Profit Trading
Limited (“Sino Profit”) and sale of the loans (the “Sale
Loan”) advanced by Ms. Tin Yat Yu Carol (“Ms. Tin")

On 18 October 2022, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
(the "Purchaser”), Delta Wealth Credit Limited (the “Vendor”), Ms.
Tin and Sino Profit (collectively known as the “Parties”) entered into
the sale and purchase agreement (the "Agreement”), pursuant to
which the Purchaser has conditionally agreed to acquire, and the
Vendor has conditionally agreed to sell the entire equity interest of
Sino Profit, together with the Sale Loan, at the total consideration of
HK$87,900,000 (subject to downward adjustment) (the “Acquisition”).

The Acquisition constitutes a connected transaction of the Company.
As at the date of the Agreement (i.e. 18 October 2022), Sino Profit
is wholly-owned by the Vendor, which in turn is indirectly wholly
and beneficially owned by Ms. Tin (an executive Director), therefore
the Vendor and Ms. Tin are connected persons of the Company
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. Accordingly, the Agreement
and the transactions contemplated thereunder are subject to the
reporting, announcement, circular and independent shareholders’

approval requirements under the Listing Rules.

As at 31 December 2022 and up to the date of this report, the
first and second refundable deposits in an aggregated amount of
HK$17,580,000 (equivalent to approximately RMB15,548,000) has
been settled. On 14 March 2023, the Parties have, by way of entering
into the supplemental agreement, agreed to extend the original
long stop date (i.e. 14 March 2023) under the Agreement from 14
March 2023 to 30 April 2023 since the Group is still in the course of
negotiation in the financing arrangements with banks for settlement

of the remaining consideration.

Details of the Acquisition are set out in the announcements of the
Company dated 18 October 2022, 13 December 2022 and 14 March
2023, and the circular of the Company dated 25 November 2022.

EVENT AFTER THE END OF THE REPORTING PERIOD

Save as disclosed in this report, the Group has no other significant
event taken place subsequent to 31 December 2022 and up to the
date of this report.
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EMPLOYEES

As at 31 December 2022, the total number of employees of the
Group was 306 (2021: 285). The breakdown of employees of the

Group as at 31 December 2022 and 2021 is as follows:

Manufacturing and technical engineering B R T2
Sales and marketing HERMSHERE
General and administration —REITH
Research and development kS

Total #5

Compensation policy of the Group is determined by evaluating
individual performance of the employees and has been reviewed
regularly.

OUTLOOK

Looking ahead, in order to seize further smart office software
solutions business opportunities, the Group will continue to expand
its market share, broaden its service offering and upgrade its smart
office software products. It will also allocate additional resources
to expand its research & development team and its centre in the
city of Xi'an in China to maintain its unique advantages. Against the
positive industry backdrop and given the Group’s extensive market
experience, it remains optimistic about the outlook for the smart
office software solutions business, which is a high-performing driver
of revenue. The Group expects its effort will be paid off, upon the
completion of current and growing projects in the years ahead.

As a leading provider of smart office solutions in China, the Group
will continue to establish solid partnerships with cloud service
and channel partners, especially in terms of strategic cooperation
agreements with technology giants, creating an industry solution
ecosystem for broad-based benefits. With years of development
experience, the Group has gained widespread recognition among
clients and in the market overall. In addition to maintaining long-
term, in-depth relationships with its existing customers, the Group
is also expanding its customer base. Following its successful
cooperation with Hong Kong government's Leisure and Cultural
Services Department, the Group will continue to participate in public
sector tenders and identify projects that will benefit the Group in the
long run.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

EESEE

DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. Chan Sek Keung, Ringo (“Mr. Chan”), aged 63, is the chairman
of the Board, an executive Director and the CEO of the Company.
Mr. Chan is also the chairman of the investment committee of the
Company (the “Investment Committee”). Mr. Chan is in charge of the
overall strategic planning, business planning and decision making in
all material matters of the Group. Mr. Chan was appointed as non-
executive Director on 23 December 2015 and was re-designated as
executive Director on 21 September 2016. Mr. Chan was appointed as
the chairman of the Board on 25 February 2016 and was appointed
as CEO of the Company on 21 September 2016.

Mr. Chan has obtained a degree of Bachelor of Science in
Engineering from The University of Hong Kong in November 1981.
Mr. Chan was previously a member of the Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference for Chengdu, Sichuan Province, the PRC,
for over ten years. Mr. Chan has over 30 years of experience in the
IT and network industry. Mr. Chan has previously worked for various
multi-national corporations such as General Electric Company, Case
Communications Limited and Infa Telecom Limited and served in

senior executive positions in the Asia Pacific region.

Mr. Chan also served as the sole director of Smoothly Global
Holdings Limited. He is currently the director of the following major
subsidiaries of the Company, namely Fortune Grace Management
Ltd., Wafer Systems Limited, Wafer Systems (China) Ltd., Beijing
Wafer New Century Information Technology Co., Ltd., Wafer Network
Systems (Shanghai) Co Ltd., Wafer (Xi'an) Software Co Ltd., and
Wafer Systems (Vietnam) Co., Ltd.

Ms. Tin Yat Yu, Carol (“Ms. Tin"), aged 57, is an executive Director
of the Company and a member of the Investment Committee of the
Company. Ms. Tin was appointed as an executive Director of the

Company on 11 April 2022.

Ms. Tin obtained a degree of doctor of business administration
honoris causa from the International American University in March
2009. Ms. Tin is an entrepreneur who operates money lending
business and fine dining business. Ms. Tin also has extensive
experience in trading business in Hong Kong and the People’s
Republic of China.
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Executive Directors (continued)

Ms. Tin was an executive director of Carnival Group International
Holdings Limited ("Carnival”) (formerly known as Oriental Ginza
Holding Limited and CASH Retail Management Group Limited) (stock
code: 996), a company whose shares are listed on the main board of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”),
for the period from September 2005 to August 2011. Ms. Tin also
served as the chairperson of Carnival from November 2006 to
August 2011 and was responsible for the overall strategic planning
and policy making. Ms. Tin served as a director of Yan Oi Tong
from 2017 to 2018. She has been (i) an executive director of Virtual
Mind Holding Company Limited (formerly known as CEFC Hong
Kong Financial Investment Company Limited) (stock code: 1520), a
company whose shares are listed on the main board of the Stock
Exchange, since October 2019 and its chairman from January 2021
to January 2022; and (ii) an executive director of Finsoft Financial
Investment Holdings Limited (stock code: 8018), a company whose
shares are listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange, since 5 May 2020
and its chairman since 19 May 2020. Ms. Tin is currently a director
of Delta Wealth Finance Limited and Delta Wealth Credit Limited.

Ms. Wang Fang (“Ms. Wang”), aged 55, is an executive Director and
a vice CEO of the Company. Ms. Wang was appointed as Director and

a vice CEO of the Company on 23 December 2015.

Ms. Wang graduated from Nanjing University of Posts and
Telecommunications (formerly known as Nanjing College of Posts
and Telecommunications) (Radio Engineering Section) in July 1988,
and obtained a degree of master of Business Administration from
the program jointly organised by the Beijing University and Fordham

University in May 2002.

Ms. Wang joined us in June 1995 and was promoted as the president
subsequently, wherein Ms. Wang was mainly responsible for daily
business operation, management and oversee of communication
system segment, including decision making in corporate strategy,
corporate policy review and internal control. Ms. Wang has over 20
years of experience in the area of network system integration.

Mr. Lu Chengye (“Mr. Lu”), aged 45, is an executive Director of the
Company. Mr. Lu was appointed as Director on 29 May 2013.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS
ExEE

Executive Directors (continued)

Mr. Lu has over 20 years of experience in the communication
industry gained in the Group and in his previous employment. Before
joining the Group, Mr. Lu worked as a director of the science and
research department of base station software development in a
renowned mobile communication equipment company in the PRC
from April 2002 to August 2008, mainly responsible for the design,
development and implementation of solution of communication base
station software. From August 2009 to May 2012, Mr. Lu had served
as the general manager of TD-SCDMA/TD-LTE production line of
another prestigious communication equipment and technology
firm, mainly in charge of the establishment and research and
development works for projects of wireless base station and
communication base station equipments. Mr. Lu obtained his master
degree of engineering from Xidian University (AL & F &K
£) majoring in information and communication engineering in
March 2002. As an expert from TD-LTE workgroup of the Ministry
of Industry and Information Technology of the People’s Republic of
China (FRE AR EME T #FEE1/030)  Mr. Lu was the inventor
of 7 patented technologies in the communication sector, and has
published several research papers on communication topics in

various journals.

Non-executive Director

Mr. Wong Tsu Wai, Derek (“Mr. Wong”), aged 53, is a non-executive
Director of the Company. Mr. Wong was appointed as Director on 1
August 2019.

Mr. Wong was educated in Canada. Mr. Wong has approximately 20
years of experience in management and operation of textile and
knitting, food and beverages business. Mr. Wong was a co-founder
and an executive director of Fornton Group Limited (renamed
as Momentum Financials Holdings Limited, stock code: 1152, a
company whose shares are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange) from October 2011 to June 2014.
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Non-executive Director (continued)

Ms. Chung, Elizabeth Ching Yee (“Ms. Chung”), aged 52, is a non-
executive Director of the Company. Ms. Chung was appointed as
Director on 3 January 2023.

Ms. Chung graduated at Rutgers University, she started her
professional career at General Electric Capital Corporation in the
United States of America and joined A.T. Kearney (Hong Kong)
Limited after returning Hong Kong. Ms. Chung has more than
20 years of experiences in banking, finance and investment, she
also has extensive experiences in strategic planning, business
development, corporate governance and corporate strategy. Ms.
Chung has been appointed as an executive director, and the chief
executive officer of China Brilliant Global Limited (stock code: 8026,
“CBG Limited”) on 18 May 2018, a company whose shares are listed
on GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”).

Ms. Chung has extensive professional experience in global brand
building and investment advisory. She was appointed as chief
executive officer and executive director of Paganini Milano (SG)
PTE Limited in early 2017,
strategic planning, and business development. She leads her

responsible for brand positioning,

team to develop retail business globally. Prior to that, Ms. Chung
was a director at BOCI Securities Limited and an assistant vice
president at HSBC Broking Securities (Asia) Limited responsible for
investment advisory for over 10 years, in charge of a department
that make recommendations and provide professional investment
advices on asset allocation and portfolio management. She was
mainly responsible for developing and maintaining strategic
asset management plans for the assigned portfolio and
managing relationships with various financial institutions like
hedge funds, private
that,

and recommending asset allocation, disposition and evaluating

equity firms and listing companies. Besides
she achieved portfolio investment targets by analyzing
alternative investment opportunities to clients.

Since 26 March 2021, Ms. Chung has been appointed as a director
of Brillink Bank Corporation Limited (subsidiary of CBG Limited,

“Brillink”) and she has been appointed as
officer of Brillink since 25 March 2022.

the senior executive
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Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. David Tsoi (“Mr. Tsoi”), aged 75, is an independent non-executive
Director, the chairman of the audit committee of the Company and a
member of each of the C&B Committee and nomination committee
of the Company. Mr. David Tsoi was appointed as Director on 14 May
2021,

Mr. David Tsoi obtained a master’s degree in business administration
from the University of East Asia, Macau (currently known as
University of Macau) in October 1986. Mr. Tsoi was admitted as (i)
an associate of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants
in September 1981; and (ii) an associate of the Taxation Institute of
Hong Kong in March 1984. Furthermore, Mr. Tsoi was admitted as
(i) a fellow member of CPA Australia in November 2009; (ii) a fellow
member of the Association of Hong Kong Accountants in July 2014;
(iii) a fellow of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England
and Wales in June 2015; (iv) a chartered professional accountant
member of the Chartered Professional Accountants of British
Columbia, Canada, in June 2015; and (v) a fellow member of the
Society of Chinese Accountants and Auditors in December 2015.

Mr. Tsoi has over 30 years of experience in the field of accounting,
auditing and financial management. He currently serves as a
director of Alliott, Tsoi CPA Limited, and he is a certified public
accountant (practicing) registered with the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Tsoi is currently an independent
nonexecutive director of (i) Universal Technologies Holdings Limited
(stock code: 1026) since June 2013; (ii) Guru Online (Holdings)
Limited (stock code: 8121) since May 2014; (iii) VPower Group
International Holdings Limited (stock code: 1608) since October
2016; (iv) Green International Holdings Limited (stock code: 2700)
since June 2017; (v) Tianli Holdings Group Limited (stock code:
117) since August 2017; and (vi) Everbright Grand China Assets
Limited (stock code: 3699) since January 2018. The shares of these
companies are listed on either GEM or the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange.
In the past, Mr. Tsoi had also served as an independent non-
executive director of (i) Loto Interactive Limited (stock code: 8198)
from October 2001 to July 2017; (ii) CRRC Corporation Limited (stock
code: 1766) from March 2008 to June 2014; and (iii) Enviro Energy
International Holdings Limited (stock code: 1102) from July 2008 to
June 2017. The shares of these companies are listed on either GEM
or the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.
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Independent Non-executive Directors (continued)

Mr. Hon Ming Sang (“Mr. Hon”), aged 44, is a Committee Member
of the 11th Luoding Committee of the Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference, an independent non-executive Director
of the Company, a member of each of the Audit Committee and
the Investment Committee, and the chairman of each of the
Compensation and Benefits Committee and the Nomination
Committee. Mr. Hon was appointed as the director of the Company
on 31 January 2023.

Mr. Hon graduated with an honour degree of Professional
Accountancy in the School of Accountancy from The Chinese
University of Hong Kong. He is a CFA charter holder, a member
of The Hong Kong Society of Financial Analysts, a member of
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, a fellow
member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants,
an associate member of The Hong Kong Chartered Governance
Institute and an associate member of The Chartered Governance
Institute. Mr. Hon has over 14 years of working experience in listed
companies and financial institutions. He has extensive experience in
corporate finance, merger and acquisition, investment and financial

management and compliance services.

Mr. Hon is currently an independent non-executive director of the
following companies listed on either GEM or the main board of the
Stock Exchange:

Name of the listed companies and stock code

LT AT EBRRD R

Virtual Mind Holdings Company Limited (a company listed on the main board of the

Stock Exchange with stock code: 1520)
KEERAERAR (—EARBRFIER EM2Aa  BROHAR:1520)

Finsoft Financial Investment Holdings Limited (a company listed on GEM of the

Stock Exchange with stock code: 8018)

EMERREZERARQE (—HRBRPAGEM T Z A8 - Ity 5% : 8018)

Asia Energy Logistics Group Limited (a company listed on the main board of the

Stock Exchange with stock code: 351)
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS
ExEE

Independent Non-executive Directors (continued)
Furthermore, Mr. Hon had been an independent non-executive
director of SFund International Holdings Limited (a company listed
on the main board of the Stock Exchange with stock code: 1367,
listing of which was cancelled on 20 September 2022) ("SFund”)
from November 2016 to February 2017 and was re-designated as
its executive director from February 2017 to August 2022. He had
also been appointed as SFund’'s company secretary, authorised
representative and process agent from July 2017 to August 2022.
Since 16 August 2022, Mr. Hon has been appointed as the chief
financial officer and Company Secretary of China Gas Industry
Investment Holdings Co. Ltd. (a company listed on the main board of
the Stock Exchange with stock code: 1940).

Mr. Yuen Shiu Wai (“Mr. Yuen”), aged 64, is an independent
nonexecutive Director and a member of each of the Audit
Committee, the C&B Committee, the Nomination Committee and
the Investment Committee. Mr. Yuen Shiu Wai was appointed as
Director on 7 April 2021.

Mr. Yuen obtained a Bachelor’s degree of Science in Engineering
from the University of Hong Kong in November 1981. Mr. Yuen was
also granted the Diploma in Business Management by the Chinese
University of Hong Kong in August 1987. Furthermore, he received a
degree of Master of Science (Finance) from the National University
of Ireland in October 1999. In April 2007, Mr. Yuen was certified as
a Financial Risk Manager (FRM®) by the Global Association of Risk
Professionals, and was qualified as a Chartered Financial Analyst
(CFA) of CFA Institute in September 2008. In September 2017, Mr.
Yuen was certified as a Chartered Valuer and Appraiser (CVA) by the

Singapore Accountancy Commission.

Mr. Yuen has had over 10 years of experience in the field of valuation.
From September 2013 to May 2017, Mr. Yuen served as one of the
independent non-executive directors of Finsoft Financial Investment
Holdings Limited, a company listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange
(Stock Code: 8018). Since July 2014, Mr. Yuen has been appointed as
the director of Ascent Partners Valuation Service Limited to oversee
its valuation business.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Directors recognise the importance of incorporating the

elements of good corporate governance into the management

structures and internal control procedures of the Group so as to

achieve effective accountability to the Shareholders as a whole.

The Board strives to uphold good corporate governance and adopt

sound corporate governance practices continuously in the interest

of Shareholders to enhance the overall performance of the Group.

The Company has adopted and complied with the principles and

applicable code provisions of the Corporate Governance Code
(the "CG Code") contained in the Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules
throughout the Year except for the following deviations.

(a)

Code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code states that the roles of
chairman and chief executive officer (the "CEO”) should be
separate and should not be performed by the same individual.
Being aware of the said deviation from code provision A.2.1,
but in view of the current rapid development of the Group,
the Board believes that with the support of the management,
vesting the roles of both chairman and CEO by Mr. Chan Sek
Keung, Ringo can facilitate execution of the Group’s business
strategies and boost effectiveness of its operation. In addition,
under the supervision by the Board which consists of three
independent non-executive Directors, the interests of the
Shareholders will be adequately and fairly represented. The
Company will seek to recomply with code provision A.2.1 by
identifying and appointing a suitable and qualified candidate to

the position of the CEO in future; and

Code provision A.6.7 of the CG Code provides that independent
non-executive directors and other non-executive directors
should attend general meetings and develop a balanced
understanding of the views of shareholders. Some Directors
were not able to attend the annual general meeting of the
Company held on 23 May 2022 due to their respective business
engagements. Other Board members who attend the aforesaid
annual general meeting were already of sufficient calibre and
number for answering questions raised by the Shareholders at

the relevant general meeting.
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MODEL CODE FOR DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the "Model Code”) as
set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules as its code of conduct
regarding securities transactions by the Directors. On specific
enquiries made, all Directors confirmed that they complied with the
required standards set out in the Model Code during the year ended
31 December 2022.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Composition of the Board

As at 31 December 2022 and at the date of this report, the Board
comprised four executive Directors, two non-executive Directors and
three independent non-executive Directors. The composition of the
Board as at 31 December 2022 and the date of this report are as
follows:

Executive Directors
Mr. Chan Sek Keung, Ringo

(Chairman and Chief Executive Officer ("CEQ"))
Ms. Tin Yat Yu, Carol (Appointed on 11 April 2022)
Ms. Wang Fang (Vice CEO)

Mr. Liu Chun Fai (Resigned on 6 April 2022)
Mr. Lu Chengye

Non-executive Directors
Mr. Wong Tsu Wai, Derek

(with his former name of Wong Tat Wai, Derek)
Ms. Chung, Elizabeth Ching Yee

(Appointed on 3 January 2023)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. David Tsoi

Mr. Hon Ming Sang (Appointed on 31 January 2023)

Mr. Yuen Shiu Wai

Mr. Lu, Brian Yong Chen (Resigned on 31 January 2023)

The biographical details of all Directors are set out in pages 26 to
32 of this report. Save as disclosed herein, to the best knowledge of
the Company, there is no other financial, business, family or other
material or relevant relationships among the members of the Board.
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The composition of the Board is well balanced with each Director
having sound industry knowledge, extensive corporate and strategic
planning experience and/or expertise relevant to the business of the
Group. The Board brings a variety of experiences and expertise to
the Company.

Functions of the Board

The Board takes overall responsibility to oversee all major matters
of the Group, including the formulation and approval of all policy
matters, considering and approving overall development strategies,
financial objectives, annual budget, investment proposals,
monitoring and controlling the operation and financial performance,
risk management and internal control systems of the Group and to
assume the responsibilities of corporate governance of the Group.

Board meetings and Board practices

During the Year, the Board held 12 meetings, including 4 regular
Board meetings. Apart from the Board meetings, the Board has
passed 7 written resolutions. The Directors can attend meetings
in person or through other means of electronic communication in
accordance with the New Bye-laws. The company secretary of the
Company (the “Company Secretary”) will assist the chairman of
the Board to prepare the agenda of the meeting and all Directors
have the opportunity to include matters in the agenda for the Board
meetings. Notices of at least 14 days for regular Board meetings are
given to the Directors and Board procedures in compliance with the
Articles of New Bye-laws, as well as relevant rules and regulations.
The Directors are provided with relevant materials relating to the
matters brought before the meetings. All Directors have separate
and independent access to the senior management and the
Company Secretary at all time and will be able to seek independent
professional advice at the Company’s expenses. The Company
Secretary is also responsible for ensuring the procedures of the
Board meetings are observed and providing the Board with opinions
on matters in relation to the compliance with the procedures of the
Board meetings. All minutes of Board meetings were recorded in
sufficient details of the matters considered by the Board and the
decisions reached.

During the Year, a meeting between the chairman of the Board and
the independent non-executive Directors without the presence of
executives or other representatives of the Group was held to discuss

issues that they wish to raise at the Board.
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(2)

36

Board Meetings

The numbers of the Board meetings held and the attendances

of each Director at the Board meetings for the Year have been

set out as follows:

No. of Board meetings held:
Name of the Directors

Executive Directors
Mr. Chan Sek Keung, Ringo (Chairman and CEO)
Ms. Tin Yat Yu, Carol (Appointed in 11 April 2022)

Ms. Wang Fang (Vice CEQ)
Mr. Lu Chengye
Mr. Liu Chun Fai (Resigned on é April 2022)

Non-executive Director
Mr. Wong Tsu Wai, Derek

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. David Tsoi

Mr. Lu, Brian Yong Chen

Mr. Yuen Shiu Wai

General Meeting

The number of general meeting held and the attendance of

each Director at the general meeting for the Year have been

set out as follows:

No. of general meeting held:
Name of the Directors

Executive Directors
Mr. Chan Sek Keung, Ringo (Chairman and CEO)
Ms. Tin Yat Yu, Carol (Appointed in 11 April 2022)

Ms. Wang Fang (Vice CEQ)
Mr. Lu Chengye
Mr. Liu Chun Fai (Resigned on é April 2022)

Non-executive Director
Mr. Wong Tsu Wai, Derek

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. David Tsoi

Mr. Lu, Brian Yong Chen

Mr. Yuen Shiu Wai
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Directors’ appointment, re-election and removal

Each of the executive Directors and the independent non-executive
Directors has entered into a service contract with the Company for a
term of three years, all are subject to termination in accordance with
the provisions of the service contract or by either party giving the

other not less than three months’ prior written notice.

By virtue of article 102(B) of the New Bye-laws, Directors shall
have the power from time to time and at any time to appoint any
person as a Director either to fill a casual vacancy of the Board or
as an addition to the existing Board. Any Director appointed by the
Board to fill a casual vacancy shall hold office until the first general
meeting of Shareholders after his appointment and be subject to re-
election at such meeting and any Director appointed by the Board as
an addition to the existing Board shall hold office only until the next
following annual general meeting of the Company and shall then be

eligible for re-election.

In compliance with the code provision A.4.2 of the CG Code, all
Directors are subject to retirement by rotation at least once every
three years. Furthermore, pursuant to article 99 of the New Bye-
laws, at each annual general meeting one-third of the Directors
for the time being (or, if their number is not a multiple of three (3),
the number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall retire from
office by rotation provided that every Director shall be subject to
retirement at an annual general meeting at least once every three

years.

Independent Non-executive Directors

Independent non-executive Directors have played a crucial role in
the Board by providing their independent judgment at the Board
meeting and scrutinising the Group’s performance. Their views
carry significant weight in the Board's decision, in particular, they
bring an impartial view to bear on issues of the Group's strategy,
performance and control. All independent non-executive Directors
possess extensive academic, professional and industry expertise
and management experience and have provided their professional
advices to the Board. The independent non-executive Directors
provide independent advice on the Group’s business strategy, results
and management so that all interests of the Shareholders will
be taken into account, and the interests of the Company and the
Shareholders can be protected.
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In compliance with Rules 3.10(1) and 3.10A of the Listing Rules,
the Board consists of three independent non-executive Directors,
representing not less than one-third of the Board, among the three
independent non-executive Directors, Mr. David Tsoi and Mr. Hon
Ming Sang, possessing appropriate professional qualification in
accounting or related financial management expertise as required
by Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules.

The Company has received the annual written confirmation of
independence from each of its independent non-executive Directors
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company, based
on such confirmations, considers that all the independent non-
executive Directors, namely, Mr. David Tsoi, Mr. Lu, Brian Yong
Chen and Mr. Yuen Shiu Wai, are independent and they all meet
the specific independence guidelines as set out in Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules.

Chairman and CEO

Code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code states that the roles of
chairman and CEO should be separate and should not be performed
by the same individual. Being aware of the said deviation from code
provision A.2.1, but in view of the current rapid development of the
Group, the Board believes that with the support of the management,
vesting the roles of both chairman and CEO by Mr. Chan Sek Keung,
Ringo can facilitate execution of the Group's business strategies
and boost effectiveness of its operation. In addition, under the
supervision by the Board which consists of three independent
non-executive Directors, the interests of the Shareholders will
be adequately and fairly represented. The Company will seek to
recomply with code provision A.2.1 by identifying and appointing a
suitable and qualified candidate to the position of the CEO in future.
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Delegation of powers

The Board delegates the authority and responsibility for
implementing day-to-day operations, administration and
management of the Group’s businesses to the CEO, executive
Directors, senior management and certain specific responsibilities
to the Board committees of the Company. It is the job of the Board
to determine the objectives of the Company and it is the job of the
executives and senior management to decide the means by which
those objectives are best achieved within rules of conduct and limits
of risk that are set by the Board. When the Board delegates aspects
of its management and administration functions to members of
the management team, it gives clear directions as to the powers
of management, in particular, with respect to the circumstances
where the management team needs to report back and obtain
prior approval from the Board before making decisions or entering
into any commitments on behalf of the Company. The delegated

functions and work tasks are regularly reviewed.

Continuous professional development

According to the code provision A.6.5 of the CG Code, all directors
should participate in a programme of continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills to
ensure that their contribution to the Board remains informed and
relevant. The Company should be responsible for arranging and
funding training, placing an appropriate emphasis on the roles,

functions and duties of the Directors.

During the Year, the Company had arranged to provide to all
Directors with the “Guidelines for Directors” and the “Guide for
Independent Non-executive Directors” issued by the Hong Kong

Institute of Directors.

The Company also updated the Directors and senior management
on the latest development regarding the Listing Rules and other
applicable regulatory requirements from time to time, to ensure
compliance and enhance their awareness of good corporate
governance practices. In particular, training sessions covering topics
including the CG Code and the information of anti-Corruption had
been held during the year ended 31 December 2022.
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According to the records provided by the Directors, a summary of
the training received by the Directors for the Year is as follows:

RIEEFRUNCE ESRNAFEMEINE
At an T -

Attending
Reading training/briefing
Name of Directors materials sessions
HiE
ZHRE
EEHR FEMR IGES4=4
Executive Directors BITES
Mr. Chan Sek Keung, Ringo (Chairman and CEQ) BREGIB K (F/EFAEH) v v
Ms. Tin Yat Yu, Carol (Appointed in 11 April 2022) H—fFxt (RZT=-= v 4
MA+—HEZT)
Ms. Wang Fang (Vice CEQ) TF L (Bl4EE) 4 v
Mr. Lu Chengye BBE R v v
Mr. Liu Chun Fai (Resigned on 6 April 2022) BEEEE (R v
/Y A 75 BHEHE)
Non-executive Director FHTES
Mr. Wong Tsu Wai, Derek TITHERE v v
Independent Non-executive Directors BYkHTES
Mr. David Tsoi BR#ERE 4 v
Mr. Lu, Brian Yong Chen BKERFE A v 4
Mr. Yuen Shiu Wai REBMEE v v
v: Completed VaE4
Liability insurance for directors EEEERRE

The Company has subscribed appropriate and sufficient insurance
coverage on directors’ liabilities in respect of legal actions taken
against Directors arising out of corporate activities since 31 March
2015.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established (i) the audit committee of the Company
(the "Audit Committee”);
committee of the Company (the "C&B Committee”); and (iii)

(i) the compensation and benefits

the nomination committee of the Company (the "Nomination
Committee”), with defined terms of reference. The latest versions of
the terms of reference of the Board committees which explain their
respective role and the authority delegated to them by the Board are
available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and of the Company.
The Board committees are provided with sufficient resources to
discharge their duties and, upon reasonable request, are able
to seek independent professional advice and other assistance in
appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s expenses.
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Audit Committee

Composition

The Company established the Audit Committee pursuant to a
resolution of Directors passed on 25 October 2010 in compliance
with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules. The Audit Committee has set
up the written terms of reference which was revised on 22 March
2012 and further revised on 26 November 2015 and 1 January 2019.
The primary responsibilities of the Audit Committee are to make
recommendation to the Board on the appointment and removal
of external auditors, review the financial statements and material
advice in respect of financial reporting at least at half-year intervals,
and oversee the risk management policies and internal control
procedures of the Group constantly. The Audit Committee currently
consists of three members, namely, Mr. David Tsoi, Mr. Hon Ming
Sang and Mr. Yuen Shiu Wai, all of whom are independent non-
executive Directors. Mr. David Tsoi currently serves as the chairman
of the Audit Committee. Mr. Lu, Brian Yong Chen resigned on 31
January 2023 and Mr. Hon Ming Sang was appointed as a member
on 31 January 2023. The Audit Committee has adopted the terms of
reference which are in line with the applicable code provisions in the
CG Code.

The Audit Committee has reviewed the Group's annual results
for the year ended 31 December 2022, the consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2022 and this report.

During the Year, the Audit Committee held 2 meetings and passed 1
written resolution to make recommendation on the re-appointment
of external auditors, review financial statements, financial reporting
system, risk management and internal control systems of the
Company. And the attendances of each Audit Committee member

for the Year have been set out as follows:
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EHVEREMBAYERENEZER UK
TEEBEAEENEREEBUR R NIPEIERR -
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MBHmEA MBHRERR BEREENRAPEE
HIE  NREEZBEZZBERBHFE ZERMT

No. of Audit Committee meetings held: EEHBERZESEERXNE: 2
Name of the Audit Committee members EREZEEREHRR

Mr. David Tsoi BERMELEE 2/2
Mr. Lu, Brian Yong Chen BB E 2/2
Mr. Yuen Shiu Wai RBREE 2/2
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C&B Committee

Composition

The Company established the C&B Committee pursuant to a
resolution of Directors passed on 25 October 2010 in compliance
with Rule 3.25 of the Listing Rules. The C&B Committee has set up
with written terms of reference which was revised on 22 March 2012
and 23 December 2022. The primary duties of the C&B Committee
are to review and make recommendations to the Board on the
overall remuneration policy and structure relating to all Directors
and senior management of the Company. The compensation and
remuneration of all Directors and senior management of the
Company are subject to regular review by the C&B Committee to
ensure that the levels of their compensation and remuneration
are appropriate and none of the Directors determine their own
remuneration. The C&B Committee currently consists of three
members, namely, Mr. Hon Ming Sang, Mr. David Tsoi and Mr. Yuen
Shiu Wai (all are independent non-executive directors). Mr. Hon
Ming Sang currently serves as the chairman of the C&B Committee.
Mr. Hon Ming Sang was appointed as a chairman and member on
31 January 2023. Mr. Liu Chun Fai and Mr. Lu, Brian Yong Chen
resigned on 11 April 2022 and 31 January 2023 respectively.

During the Year, the C&B Committee held 2 meetings to review and
make recommendation on the remuneration policy and structure
relating to Directors and senior management of the Company. And
the attendances of each C&B Committee member for the Year have

been set out as follows:

FHREINEES

AH A

RARMEFHERBENZEE HRBEEENR -5 —
TETAZTHBABRBAAZERILER ERA
E325GmMAK Y FIRENEZEEREEEK
EHE (R -_T——F=ZA-_+-BER-_ZT—-—
FT_AZ+=BEF) - FHRENEZEEGHK
FTERERREUANRRESENANEERE
LERTMBEREERNESSRERZ 28
BEERARAERERENOME R E NG B H M
MEMEEeTE B UHERESHIE M
MirRIFEE KT EREUEREEETEETED
HEM-HM R ENEZE S E AR =R/K B4 -
PREGEHRESE BEREXERTBREE (B
BBYUIFNTES) BBEXEBAETEHI
MENEZEEEXF - BHELENR T =F—
A=t HEZEREERKE -BEBLER
EAREESIRZZE__FOA+—ARRZ
E-_=F—A=1+—HEfE-

RAFE FHEENEZESARMAREH M
ERARREERSRETEE N HMEE M IRE
YRR EZE - N FEEFHRENREEK
BHEZBRIT

No. of C&B Committee meetings held: CERFMRENZEESEXRE: 2

Name of C&B Committee members FHRENEEERERSR

Mr. Lu, Brian Yong Chen KBRS A 2/2

Mr. Liu Chun Fai (Resigned on 11 April 2022) BEEAE (R _FWOA+—H 71
BHT)

Mr. Yuen Shiu Wai RAMTE 2/2

Mr. David Tsoi BRMESLE 2/2
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Remuneration policy for Directors and senior management
The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is determined

on the basis of their merit, qualifications and competence.

The emoluments of the Directors are recommended by the C&B
Committee, having regard to the Company’s operating results,
individual performance, experience, responsibility, workload and
time devoted to the Company and comparable market statistics.
Each of the executive Directors is entitled to a basic salary which is
reviewed annually. In addition, each of the executive Directors may
receive a discretionary bonus as the Board may recommend. Such

amount has to be approved by the C&B Committee.

In addition, the Company maintained share option schemes. The
purposes of the share option schemes are to enable the Company
to grant options to selected eligible participants as incentives or
rewards for their contribution to the Group and/or to enable the
Group to recruit and retain high caliber employees and attract
human resources that are valuable to the Group and any invested
entity. One of the share option scheme expired in October 2020 and

followed by a new share option scheme adopted on 23 June 2021.

Nomination Committee

Composition

The Company established a nominating and corporate governance
committee pursuant to a resolution of Directors passed on
25 October 2010 (which was renamed as Nomination Committee on
22 March 2012). The Nomination Committee has set up the written
terms of reference which was revised on 22 March 2012, and was
further revised on 28 August 2013 and 1 January 2019. The primary
duties of the Nomination Committee are to review the structure, size
and composition of the Board on a regular basis and to recommend
to the Board the suitable candidates for Directors after consideration
of the nominees’ independence and quality in order to ensure
fairness and transparency of all nominations. The Nomination
Committee currently consists of three members, namely Mr. Hon
Ming Sang, Mr. David Tsoi and Mr. Yuen Shiu Wai (all are independent
non-executive Directors). Mr. Hon Ming Sang currently serves as the
chairman of the Nomination Committee. Mr. Lu, Brian Yong Chen
resigned on 31 January 2023 and Mr. Hon Ming Sang was appointed
as a chairman and member on 31 January 2023.
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The Nomination Committee adopted the board diversity policy in
August 2013. The Company recognises and embraces the benefits
of having a diverse Board to enhance the quality of its performance.
Pursuant to the board diversity policy, selection of candidates will be
based on a range of diversity perspectives, including but not limited
to gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service. The
ultimate decision will be based on merit and contribution that the

selected candidates will bring to the Board.

In assessing the suitability of a proposed candidate as a member of
the Board, the Nomination Committee would follow the nomination

policy and consider factors including:
(@)  Reputation;

(b)  Skills, knowledge, experience, cultural and educational
background, gender, age and other qualities required, with due

regard for the benefits of diversity of the Board;

(c) The extent to which the proposed candidate is likely to
contribute to the overall effectiveness of the Board and work
constructively with the existing Directors;

(d)  The skills and experience that the proposed candidate brings
to the role and how he/she will enhance the efficiency and
performance of the Board as a whole;

(e) The nature of existing positions served by the proposed
candidate including directorships or other relationship with the
Company and/or its Directors and impact they may have on

his/her ability to exercise independent judgment; and

(f)  Factors which may affect the proposed candidate’s time
commitment to the Company.

These factors are for reference only, and not meant to be exhaustive
and decisive. The Nomination Committee has the discretion to

nominate any person, as it considers appropriate.
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During the Year, the Nomination Committee held 2 meetings
and passed 1 written resolution to review the structure, size and
composition of the Board. And the attendances of each Nomination

Committee member for the Year have been set out as follows:

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
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No. of Nomination Committee meetings held: EEHREZEEESTERE: 2
Name of the Nomination Committee members REZEEREHSE

Mr. Lu, Brian Yong Chen 2 KRS A4 2/2
Mr. Yuen Shiu Wai RIAMRTAE 2/2
Mr. David Tsoi E PN 2/2
Corporate governance functions EERBAE

The Company’'s corporate governance functions are carried out by
the Board pursuant to a set of written terms of reference adopted by
the Board in compliance with code provision D.3.1 of the CG Code,
which include (a) to develop and review the Company’s policies and
practices on corporate governance and make recommendations to
the Board; (b) to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of the Directors and senior management
of the Group; (c) to review and monitor the Company’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements; (d)
to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and compliance
manual (if any) applicable to employees of the Group and the
Directors; and (e) to review the Company’s compliance with the
applicable CG Code and disclosure in the Corporate Governance

Report.
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FINANCIAL REPORTING

The Board, supported by the finance department, is responsible
for the preparation of the Group's financial statements for each
financial year which shall give a true and fair view of the financial
position, performance and cash flows of the Group for that year. In
preparing the financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2022, the Board has selected suitable accounting policies and
applied them consistently, made judgments and estimates that are
prudent, fair and reasonable and prepared the financial statements
on a going concern basis. The Directors are responsible for taking
all reasonable and necessary steps to safeguard the assets of the
Group and to prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities. The
Board is not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the Group's ability
to continue as a going concern.

The responsibilities of the Company's external auditors, BDO
Limited, on the financial statements are set out in the section
headed “Independent Auditors’ Report” in this report.

External auditors’ remuneration

During the Year, the fees paid or payable to the Company’s external
auditors in respect of their audit and non-audit services were as
follows:

B2

HREFEMNTBERER ZEWBEREZEERALE
HMRMAEERZFENT B REAKES
ME HBEBE-ZT__F+A=1+—HLHF
EMFEHRER EESCERERSERY
ERGEA WHEIE QD ma R e 6 R
U RRFERERERRUMBRE-EFH
B —ABEMBENT R REAEEN
BE VEAMEREEHFREMEREBER -E
EEVTABEAEATEEAEBIRSEEE
BERENENEBEREARBNEZHFRBERNT
fAE R TBABAREZE -

ARBHINEZ BB B L ERRG A EHHN
BERARMIBRRZETERARE [BL%
BIEDIRE | — & o

SRR BT S
RAEJE - B R JE R B B A s 4 A5 A
TSN BRI BRI T

RMB’000
Type of Services B 75 28 Bl AREFx
Audit services ZE AR TS 1,200
Non-audit services* IEZE RS 349
Total At 1,549
* including the fees for tax compliance services. * BREREEHARBER-
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COMPANY SECRETARY

During the Year, the Company engaged an external professional
company secretarial services provider, Link Corporate Services
Limited (the “Link”), to provide compliance and full range of
company secretarial services to the Company in order to assist the
Company to cope with the changing regulatory environment and
to suit different commercial needs. Mr. Fung Siu Kei ("Mr. Fung”),
the representative of Link, was appointed as the named Company
Secretary since 1 October 2019 and resigned on 31 January 2023.
Mr. Chow Kit Ting ("Mr. Chow") was appointed as the named
Company Secretary on the on 31 January 2023.

Mr. Fung and Mr. Chow are the member of Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants.

The financial controller of the Company is the primary point of

contact at the Company with the Company Secretary.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Board has access
to the advice and services of Mr. Fung at all time in accordance
with Code Provision F.1.4 of Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing
the Listing Securities on the Stock Exchange (“the Listing Rules”).
Mr. Fung has taken no less than 15 hours of professional training
during the Year under review pursuant to the Rule 3.29 of the Listing
Rules.
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SHAREHOLDERS'’ RIGHTS

In accordance with the Listing Rules, any vote of Shareholders at a
general meeting must be taken by poll except where the chairman,
in good faith, decides to allow a resolution which relates purely to
a procedural or administrative matter to be voted on by a show of
hands. Therefore, all votes of the Shareholders at general meetings
shall be taken by poll. The results of voting by poll will be published
on the websites of the Stock Exchange and of the Company

respectively.

How Shareholders can convene a special general meeting
and put forward proposals at Shareholders’ meetings
Pursuant to article 62 of the New Bye-laws, any one or more
Shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not
less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying
the right of voting at general meetings of the Company shall at
all times have the right, by written requisition to the Board or the
Company Secretary by mail at 706, 7th Floor, Capital Centre, No.
151 Gloucester Road, Wan Chai, Hong Kong, to require a special
general meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction of
any business specified in such requisition and such meeting shall
be held within two months after the deposit of such requisition. If
within 21 days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene
such meeting the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do
so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by
the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be

reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Procedures by which enquiries may be put to the Board
Shareholders may put forward their proposals or inquiries to
the Board by sending their written request to the Company’s

correspondence address in Hong Kong.
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INVESTORS AND SHAREHOLDERS RELATIONS
Since the change of domicile with effect from 7 July 2021, the
changes in the Company’s constitutional documents have been

available on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

The Board recognises the importance of maintaining clear, timely
and effective communication with Shareholders and investors
of the Company. The Board also recognises that effective
communication with investors is the key to establish investor
confidence and to attract new investors. Therefore, the Group
is committed to maintaining a high degree of transparency to
ensure that the investors and the Shareholders receiving accurate,
clear, comprehensive and timely information of the Group by the
publication of annual reports, interim reports, announcements and
circulars. The Company also publishes all corporate correspondence
on the Company's website at http://www.investech-holdings.com.
The Board continues to maintain regular dialogues with institutional
investors and analysts from time to time to keep them informed
of the Group's strategy, operations, management and plans. The
Directors and the members of the Board committees would attend
and are available to answer questions at general meetings of the
Company. Separate resolutions would be proposed at general
meetings of the Company on each substantially separate issue.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

During the Year, the Board complied with the code provisions on
risk management and internal control as set out in the CG Code.
The Board has overall responsibility for evaluating and determining
the nature and extent of the risks it is willing to take in achieving
the Group’s strategic objectives, and maintaining appropriate and
effective risk management and internal control systems for the
Group. The systems are designed to manage the risk of failure to
achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not

absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.
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The procedures and feature of the Group’s risk management and

internal control systems are as follows:

For risk management

o Identification: Identify ownership of risks, business objectives
and risks that could affect the achievement of objectives.

o Evaluation: Analyze the likelihood and impact of risks and
evaluate the risk portfolio accordingly.

° Management: Consider the risk responses, ensure effective
communication to the Board and on-going monitor the

residual risks.

For internal control

o Control Environment: A set of standards, processes and
structures that provide the basis for carrying out internal
control across the Group.

o Risk Assessment: A dynamic and iterative process for
identifying and analysing risks to achieve the Group’s
objectives, forming a basis for determining how risks should
be managed.

o Control Activities: Action established by policies and
procedures to help ensure that management directives to
mitigate risks to the achievement of objectives are carried out.

. Information and Communication: Internal and external
communication to provide the Group with the information
needed to carry out day-to-day controls.

. Monitoring: Ongoing and separate evaluations to ascertain
whether each components of internal control is present and

functioning.

The management of the Company has established a set of
comprehensive policies, standards and procedures in areas of
operational, financial and risk controls for safeguarding assets
against unauthorised use or disposition; for maintaining proper
accounting records; and for ensuring the reliability of financial
information to achieve a satisfactory level of assurance against the

likelihood of the occurrence of fraud and errors.
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The Board has overseen the Company’'s risk management and
internal control systems on an ongoing basis. A year end review
of the effectiveness of the Company's and its subsidiaries’ risk
management and internal control systems has been conducted
annually and the systems are considered to be effective and
adequate. The Company also has an internal audit function to carry
out the analysis and independent appraisal of the adequacy and
effectiveness of the systems, and has procedures in place to keep
information confidential and manage actual or potential conflicts of
interest. Stringent internal structures have been designed to prevent
the misuse of inside information and avoid conflicts of interest.

The Group has established systems and procedures for
disseminating inside information as defined under the Securities and
Future Ordinance (the "SFQ”) so as to ensure inside information is
promptly identified and escalated. Directors and management of the
Group have received relevant trainings to ensure inside information
remains confidential until the disclosure of such information is
appropriately approved, and the dissemination of such information is

efficiently and consistently made.
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The Directors are pleased to submit herewith this annual report
together with the audited consolidated financial statements for the
year ended 31 December 2022 (the “Year”).

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

The Company is a limited liability company incorporated in the
Cayman Islands and continued in Bermuda with limited liability and
its principal place of business in Hong Kong is 706, 7th Floor, Capital
Centre, No. 151 Gloucester Road, Wan Chai, Hong Kong.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

During the Year, the Group was mainly engaged in the provision
of network system integration including the provision of network
infrastructure solutions, network professional services and smart
office software solutions, and the network equipment rental
business.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for the Year is included in
the sections of Chairman’s Statement, Financial Summary and
Management Discussion and Analysis which are set out in pages 5

to 25 of this report and the paragraphs below.

The Group complies with the requirements under the Companies
Ordinance, the Listing Rules and the SFO for the disclosure of
information and corporate governance. The Group also complies with
the requirements of Employment Ordinance and ordinances relating
to occupational safety for the interest of employees of the Group. No
important business event affecting the Group has occurred since the

end of the financial year under review up to the date of this report.
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Group promotes environmental protection by raising the
employees’ awareness of resources saving and efficient use of
energy. In recent years, the Group has implemented several policies
to encourage employees for saving energy and paper. All these
policies aim at reducing resources and saving costs which are
beneficial to the environment and meet the commercial goals of the
Group.

For further information about the environment policies and
performance of the Company during the Year, please refer to
the Environmental, Social and Governance Report prepared in
accordance with Appendix 27 to the Listing Rules to be published
by the end of April 2023 and will be available on the websites of the
Stock Exchange and of the Company accordingly.

KEY RISK FACTORS
The following lists out the key risks and uncertainties facing the
Group:

Impact of Local and International Regulations

The business operation of the Group is subject to government
policies, relevant regulations and guidelines established by the
regulatory authorities. Failure to comply with applicable rules and
requirements may lead to penalties, amendments or suspension
of the business operation by the authorities. The Group closely
monitors changes in government policies, regulations and markets

as well as conducting studies to assess the impact of such changes.

Third-Party Risks

The Group has been relying on third-party service providers in
parts of business to improve performance and efficiency of the
Group. While gaining the benefits from external service providers,
management realises that such operational dependency may
pose a threat of vulnerability to unexpected poor or lapses in
service including reputation damage, business disruption and
monetary losses. To address such uncertainties, the Group only
engages reputable third party providers and closely monitors their

performance.
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KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES, CUSTOMERS
AND SUPPLIERS

The Group recognises the accomplishment of the employees by
providing comprehensive benefit package, career development
opportunities and internal training appropriate to individual needs.
The Group provides a healthy and safe workplace for all employees.
No strikes and cases of fatality due to workplace accidents are found

in the year under review.

The Group encompasses working relationships with suppliers to
meet our customers’ needs in an effective and efficient manner.
Each department works closely to make sure the tendering
and procurement process is conducted in an open, fair and
just manner. The Group’s requirements and standards are also
well-communicated to suppliers before the commencement of a

project.

The Group values the views and opinions of all customers through
various means and channels, including usage of business
intelligence to understand customer trends and needs and
regular analysis on customer feedback. The Group also conducts
comprehensive tests and checks to ensure that only quality products

and services are offered to the customers.

SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the principal subsidiaries of the Company are set out in
note 1 to the consolidated financial statements.

DIVIDEND

The Directors consider that the declaration, payment and amount
of the dividend shall be subject to the status of the Group’s future
development. The Board does not recommend any final dividend for
the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: Nil).
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CONVERTIBLE BOND

Details of movements in the Company’s convertible bond are set out
in note 36 to the consolidated financial statements. Details of the
convertible bond agreement entered into during the Year are set out
below:

On 26 November 2021, the Company issued a convertible bond
with principal amount of HK$30,000,000 (the “Convertible Bond")
to Smoothly Global Holdings Limited, a company incorporated
in the British Virgin Islands (the "BVI") with limited liability
and is 70% and 20% owned by Mr. Chan Sek Keung, Ringo and
Ms. Wang Fang respectively, for settlement and discharge of
the consideration in accordance with the sale and purchase
agreement dated 23 September 2021 in respect of the acquisition
of 25% equity interest in Fortune Grace Management Limited,
a company incorporated in BVl with limited liability. Details of
the Convertible Bonds are set out in the announcements of the
Company dated 23 September 2021, 18 October 2021, 29 October
2021 and 19 November 2021, and the circular of the Company dated
2 November 2021.

The Convertible Bond has an initial conversion price of HK$1.50
per conversion share. The Convertible Bond bears interest on the
outstanding principal amount at the rate of 1.5% per annum, payable
on a semi-annual basis in arrears, and will mature on the three

years from the date of issue.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company will declare and/or recommend the payment of
dividends to Shareholders after considering the Company's ability
to pay dividends, which will depend upon, among other things,
its actual and expected financial performance, its current and
future business operation, level of liquidity, capital requirements,
contractual and regulatory restrictions and so on. The Board
has complete discretion on whether to pay a dividend, subject to
Shareholders” approval, where applicable. Even if the Board decides
to recommend and pay dividends, the form, frequency and amount
will depend upon its actual financial performance, its current and
future business operation, level of liquidity, capital requirements,
contractual and regulatory restrictions of and affecting the Group.
The Board may also consider declaring special dividends from
time to time, in addition to the interim and/or final dividends. The
Company would review and reassess the dividend policy and its

effectiveness on a regular basis or as required.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVE

The Company’s reserves available for distribution, calculated in
accordance with the Companies Act of Bermuda, amounted to
approximately RMB186.1 million as at 31 December 2022. Such
amount includes the Company’s share premium, contributed surplus
and capital reserve accounts of approximately RMB965.7 million and
accumulated losses of approximately RMB779.6 million in aggregate
as at 31 December 2022.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The transfer books and register of members of the Company will to
be closed from 25 May 2023 (Thursday) to 31 May 2023 (Wednesday)
(both dates inclusive) during which period no transfer of shares will
be registered. The holders of shares whose name appears on the
register of members of the Company on 31 May 2023 (Wednesday)
will be entitled to attend and vote at the annual general meeting of
the Company (the "Annual General Meeting”). In order to qualify for
attending and voting at the Annual General Meeting, all transfers
of shares accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be
lodged with the Company’'s branch share registrar in Hong Kong,
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, at Shops
1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’'s Road East,
Wanchai, Hong Kong for registration no later than 4:30 p.m. on
24 May 2023 (Wednesday).

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed herein, no contracts concerning the management
and administration of the whole or any substantial part of the
business of the Company or its subsidiaries were entered into or
existed during the Year.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the aggregate sales
attributable to the Group’s top five largest customers comprised
approximately 30.4% (2021: 21.7%) of the Group's sales and the sales
attributable to the Group's largest customer were approximately
9.0% of the Group's sales. The aggregate purchases attributable
to the Group’s top five largest suppliers comprised approximately
62.3% (2021: 46.2%) of the Group’'s purchases for the year and
the purchases attributable to the Group's largest supplier were
approximately 26.8% of the Group’s purchases for the year.

So far as is known to the Directors, none of the Directors, their close
associates or any Shareholders owning more than 5% of the Company’'s
issued shares capital had any interest in the share capital of any of the
top five largest customers and suppliers of the Group.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022
and the Group’s financial position as at that date are set out in the

consolidated financial statements on pages 83 to 236 of this report.

The Group's loss attributable to owners of the parent for the year
ended 31 December 2022 was approximately RMB35.9 million.

MATERIAL ACQUISITION
On 18 October 2022, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
(the "Purchaser”), Delta Wealth Credit Limited (the “"Vendor”), Ms.
Tin and Sino Profit Trading Limited ("Sino Profit”), entered into the
sale and purchase agreement, pursuant to which the Purchaser has
conditionally agreed to acquire, and the Vendor has conditionally
agreed to sell the entire equity interest of Sino Profit together with
the sale of the loans, at the total consideration of HK$87,900,000
(subject to downward adjustment). Please refer to the paragraph of
in the section of

“Material Acquisition” “Management Discussion

and Analysis” in this report for details.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of the movements in the investment properties of the Group
during the year ended 31 December 2022 are set out in note 13 to
the consolidated financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Details of the movements in the property, plant and equipment of
the Group during the year ended 31 December 2022 are set out in

note 14 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the share capital of the Company during
the year ended 31 December 2022 are set out in note 31 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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DIRECTORS
The Directors during the financial year ended 31 December 2022 and
up to the date of this report include:

Executive Directors
Mr. Chan Sek Keung, Ringo

(Chairman and Chief Executive Officer ("CEQ"))
Ms. Tin Yat Yu, Carol (Appointed on 11 April 2022)
Ms. Wang Fang (Vice CEQ)
Mr. Liu Chun Fai (Resigned on 6 April 2022)
Mr. Lu Chengye

Non-executive Directors
Mr. Wong Tsu Wai, Derek

(with his former name of Wong Tat Wai, Derek)
Ms. Chung, Elizabeth Ching Yee

(Appointed on 3 January 2023)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. David Tsoi

Mr. Hon Ming Sang (Appointed on 31 January 2023)

Mr. Yuen Shiu Wai

Mr. Lu, Brian Yong Chen (Resigned on 31 January 2023)

The Company has received, from each of the independent
non-executive Directors, an annual confirmation of independence
in accordance with Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company
considers all of the independent non-executive Directors are
independent in accordance with the Listing Rules.

Pursuant to article 102(B) of the Existing Bye-laws, Ms. Chung,
Elizabeth Ching Yee (non-executive Director and Mr. Hon Ming Sang
(independent non-executive Director) shall retire and, being eligible,
will offer herself for re-election at the forthcoming AGM.

Pursuant to article 99 of the New Bye-laws, at each annual general
meeting one-third of the Directors for the time being shall retire
from office by rotation, provided that every Director shall be subject
to retirement at an annual, general meeting at least once every three
years. Mr. Lu Chengye (executive Director), Mr. Wong Tsu Wai, Derek
(non-executive Director) and Mr. Yuen Shiu Wai (independent non-
executive Director) are the Directors, whom, since their last election,
serve the longest in office, or the Directors otherwise agree between
themselves, shall retire from office by rotation at the forthcoming
Annual General Meeting and are eligible to offer themselves for re-
election.
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DIRECTORS (continued)

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming Annual
General Meeting has an unexpired service contract which is not
determinable by the Company or any of its subsidiaries within
one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory

compensation.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of executive Directors has entered into a service contract with
the Company for a term of three years. Each of Mr. Chan Sek Keung,
Ringo and Ms. Wang Fang’s current service contract was renewed
on 23 December 2021, Mr. Lu Chengye’s current service contract
commenced on 28 May 2022, and Ms. Tin Yat Yu, Carols current
service contract commenced on 11 April 2022.

Mr. Wong Tsu Wai, Derek and Ms. Chung Elizabeth Ching Yee (non-
executive Director) have entered into a service contract with the
Company for a term of three years, and their current service contract
commenced on 31 July 2022 and 3 January 2023, respectively.

Each of Mr. David Tsoi, Mr. Hon Ming Sang and Mr. Yuen Shiu Wai
(all are independent non-executive Directors) has entered into
a service contract with the Company for a term of three years.
The service contract of Mr. David Tsoi commenced on 14 May
2021. Mr. Hon Ming Sang’s current service contract commenced
on 31 January 2023. The service contract of Mr. Yuen Shiu Wai
commenced on 7 April 2021.

All service contracts with Directors are subject to termination,

among others, by giving not less than three month’s written notice.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The C&B Committee considers and recommends to the Board
the remuneration and other benefits paid by the Company to the
Directors. The remuneration of all Directors is subject to regular
monitoring by the C&B Committee to ensure that the levels of
their remuneration and compensation are appropriate. Details of
Directors’ remuneration are set out in note 8 to the consolidated

financial statements.
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DIRECTORS’ BIOGRAPHIES
Biographical details of the Directors are set out on pages 26 to 32 of

this report.

DISCLOSURE OF CHANGE IN INFORMATION ON
DIRECTORS

Pursuant to rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, the change of
information on Directors is as follows:

Mr. Liu Chun Fai resigned as an executive Director of the Company
with effect from 6 April 2022.

Ms. Tin Yat Yu, Carol was appointed as an executive Director of the

Company with effect from 11 April 2022.

Ms. Chung, Elizabeth Ching Yee was appointed as a non-executive
Director of the Company with effect from 3 January 2023.

Mr. Hon Ming San was appointed and Mr. Lu, Brian Yong Chen
resigned as an independent non-executive Director of the Company
with effect from 31 January 2023.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Company has maintained appropriate directors and officers
liability insurance and such permitted indemnity provision for
the benefit of the Directors is currently in force and was in force
throughout the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

No transaction, arrangement or contract of significance to which
the Company, or any of its holding company, subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries was a party, and in which a Director and a connected
entity of a Director had a material interest, subsisted at the end of
the year or at any time during the Year.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES
AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2022, the interests or short positions of the
Directors and chief executives of the Company in the Shares
underlying Shares and debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO)
which were notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests or short positions which they were taken or deemed to
have under such provision of the SFO) or which were required to
be recorded in the register required to be kept under Section 352
of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (the "Model Code”) as follows:

Interest in Shares and underlying shares of the Company

Name of Director

Capacity

Mr. Chan Sek Keung, Ringo
("Mr. Chan")"®
MR s ([ s]) 00

Interest of controlled corporation

REEEEs

Interest of controlled corporation

REAEER

Beneficial owner

EREAA

Beneficial owner

EREAA

Ms. Tin Yat Yu Carol("Ms. Tin")®
-zt ([BxLt])o

Beneficial owner

5 2 UN

Beneficial owner

EREBA

Ms. Wang Fang ("Ms. Wang")®
I+ ([Fit]) oo

Interest of controlled corporation

REEEER

Interest of controlled corporation™

FEEEN

Beneficial owner

EREAA

Mr. Wong Tsu Wai, Derek ("Mr. Wong")®
i ([EREDO

Beneficial owner

EaBEAN

(L): Long position
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EERRSTRAERKR®D HBERH
REEIZNEZRAR

KRB —_F+_A=1+—H EFREARA&®
SITBRABRARBSEMEMBEEZE (TER
:E'%&Hﬂfﬂm{ﬁ'%XV“B)HX@‘*EE@HX@&E%

qﬂﬁﬂ?ﬁﬁ*ﬂ% %}&Hﬂ MW%XV*B%WS%
*BE%D@ZIK TR FOAR (BIER

Tﬁxaﬁﬁﬂ;ﬁfﬂﬂﬁ‘JZ%ﬁm%ﬁMf’E‘JZTEF%%EEI’J
BmIORR)  HACTHENRER f’ff&ﬁﬂ = {5 Bl
EINHEREFEZECMOERIORR  HIRE
EHERTABEFETESFX %EI’HT 7 A (TR
FESTRID EME AR MR SOXR N
T

AT R ARG S

Percentage
Number of Number of of the issued
issued ordinary underlying shares share capital
Shares held/ of the Company of the Company
interested in held/interested in (approximate)

FiE/ EE/
BERERZ BEEZZ RN
2#T ARNEHEE ERITRAE
EERYE RGEE b (#49)
17,006,141 (L) - 14.51%
- 20,000,000 (L) 17.06%
3,741,650 (L) - 3.19%
- 106,200 (L) 0.09%
18,167,400(L) - 15.50%
- 70,200 (L) 0.06%
15,505,941 (L) - 13.23%
- 20,000,000 (L) 17.06%
- 430,200 (L) 0.37%
- 702,000 (L) 0.60%

L) :tFE
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES

AND

DEBENTURES (continued)

Interest in Shares and underlying shares of the Company

(continued)

Notes:

M

Save

Mr. Chan was deemed to be interested in 37,006,141 Shares,
comprising of (i) 35,505,941 Shares held by Smoothly Global Holdings
Limited by virtue of it being owned as to 70% by Mr. Chan and (ii)
1,500,200 Shares held by Woodstock Management Limited by virtue of
it being owned as to 100% by Mr. Chan.

Ms. Wang was deemed to be interested in 35,505,941 Shares held by
Smoothly Global Holdings Limited by virtue of it being owned as to
20% by Ms. Wang.

These Shares are the share options granted to Mr. Chan, Ms. Tin,
Ms. Wang and Mr. Wong under the share option schemes of the

Company.

These 20,000,000 Shares represented the total number of Shares
which may be allotted and issued to Smoothly Global upon the
exercise of the conversion rights attaching to the Convertible Bond
for the aggregate principal amount of HK$30,000,000 at the initial
conversion price of HK$1.5 per Share. The exercise of the conversion
rights attaching to the Convertible Bond is subject to the terms and
conditions thereof, including the restriction against conversion which
would cause the Company to be in breach of the minimum public float

requirement under the Listing Rules.

The total number of the issued shares of the Company as at
31 December 2022 (i.e. 117,240,000 shares) had been used for the
calculation of the approximate percentage shareholdings in the

Company.

as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2022, none of the

Directors or chief executives of the Company had or was deemed

to have any interests or short positions in the Shares, underlying

Shares or debentures of the Company or any of its associated

corpo
been

rations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO), which had
recorded in the register maintained by the Company pursuant

to section 352 of the SFO or which had been notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.
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EERESITHRAEBRKRS  HERKRG
REEZENEZRAR (B
ARARGREBRO PR (&)

Bt
(1) EPABRSTAEHEA Smoothly Global Holdings Limited
2 70%#E 2% &2 Woodstock Management Limited,Z
100%#E 21 + #R R 5t 4 448 /R 7037,006,1418% A% 7
FREA RS BFE() Smoothly Global Holdings

Limited FiT#% 4 #935,505,94 1A% A% 19 K (i) Woodstock
Management Limited FT#% & #91,500,200/% A% 17 ©

A7 F Z2 % Smoothly Global Holdings Limited
2 20%ME 5 - B F 2 4 4R & 7 Smoothly Global
Holdings LimitedFT#435,505,9410% B 1  # &
g o

ZERD RBBEARRBERETEWEREE B
L EFRERERERHDNERE-

% 520,000,000 ABITERSBLER
30,000,000 7T 4 AT 44 A& 15 5 B 5 1 #2 0% 4 1%
AR PR R E RGO 1.58 TR REITT
Smoothly Globalt) i 7 488 17 {5 ] AR (F 25 T
B0 HA IR 7 3 ST H G R G - B EE D LR HRAR
SIHAA ﬂﬁé&im%ﬁﬂwﬂiﬁ@f’i%ﬁxiﬁmﬁ'ﬂ
BE 1] o

ARARR—ZE-_—F+=-A=+—HEBTKRH
422 (BN117,240,0008% B& 1) A LAGT B AR RQ &I HY
BAFRE D -

R EXFREEIN R __F+-_A=+—
B BMEARAEFARSTRAERARA R
EREREEE (& LFF B EGIEXVER)
Bein HEARNKERETAELRLSEREC
BRI IRIRRE I R EE 1R I F352F R E B AR A

FEZECMOEDRIORE  AREFELETAE
MEARREI LI ERIORE -



ARRANGEMENT FOR DIRECTORS TO PURCHASE
SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed herein, at no time during the Year were rights
to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of Shares in or
debentures of the Company granted to any Director of the Company
or their respective spouses or minor children, or were such rights
exercised by them, or was the Company, its holding company or
any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable the
Directors of the Company to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of Shares in, or debt securities (including debentures) of

the Company or any other body corporate.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENT

Details of the equity-linked agreement are set out in the paragraph
headed "CONVERTIBLE BOND" above and paragraph headed “Share
Option Schemes” below:

Share Option Schemes

The Company adopted a share option scheme on 25 October 2010
(the “Old Share Option Scheme”) for the purpose of enabling the
Company to grant options to selected eligible participants as
incentives or rewards for their contribution to the Group and/or to
enable the Group to recruit and retain high caliber employees and
attract human resources that are valuable to the Group and any
invested entity. The Old Share Option Scheme was valid and effective
for a period of 10 years from 15 November 2010 after which no
further options would be granted or offered. The Old Share Option
Scheme expired on 24 October 2020.

On 3 May 2021, the Board proposed to adopt a new share option
scheme (the "New Share Option Scheme”) upon the approval by the
shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”) at the Company's
extraordinary general meeting held on 23 June 2021 (the "EGM").

On 23 June 2021, the Board announced that the New Share Option
Scheme were duly passed by the Shareholders by poll at the EGM.

The summary of the New Share Option Scheme's principal terms
was set out in Appendix Il of the circular of the Company dated
31 May 2021.
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENT (continued)

Share Option Schemes (continued)

Eligible participants include the Directors, any employee (whether
full-time or part-time) of the Company, any supplier of goods or
services to, any customer of, and any advisors, consultants, agents

and distributors of any member of the Group.

As at 31 December 2022, 7,020,000 Shares may be issued upon the
exercise of all share options to be granted under the New Share
Option Scheme, representing 10% of the total of 70,200,000 Shares
in issue on the adoption date (i.e. 23 June 2021). On 13 September
2021, options carrying the rights to subscribe for 6,528,600 Shares
under the New Share Option Scheme have been granted, of which
no share options were exercised and no share options were forfeited
or lapsed and 6,528,600 share options were outstanding (entitling
holders thereof to subscribe for up to a total of 6,528,600 Shares,
representing approximately 5.57% of the total number of issued
Shares as at 31 December 2022). No option may be granted to any
eligible participant of the New Share Option Scheme such that
the total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise
of the options granted and to be granted to that person in any
12-month period up to the date of the latest grant exceeds 1% of the
Company’s issued share capital from time to time.

Apart from the New Share Option Scheme, the Company also
granted share options under the Old Share Option Scheme which
expired on 24 October 2020. As at 31 December 2022, 396,000
Shares may be issued pursuant to the Old Share Option Scheme,
representing approximately 0.34% of the total number of issued
Shares as at 31 December 2022.

As at the date of this report, the total number of Shares available for
issue under the Old Share Option Scheme and the New Share Option
Scheme are 6,924,600, representing approximately 5.91% of the total
number of issued Shares as at 31 December 2022.
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SRR (@)
BT E ()
SERSBRALOEES AHAQAER (T
WEBUER)  ARBAKEERMKE DA
pE R ARG O EAHRER FEOEAESR
EAAA B RERD -

R-ZE-_—F+-_A=+—0 BEHNEKRE
B TROEMNATAEREETEMm T
7,020,000/ B0 - ERERM B HA (B =2 = — %
NAZ+T=H)B %7  # %70,200,0000% &
0% - RZEZ—FHLA+=H EREFMER
RE T B35 B A5 4 7 °] SR P#6,528,600A% AR 17 K 8
A4 Ep W M AR R ITE A R ERE AR
REM R W R B RITHF B IRAE BB 56,528,600
M (EEFE ABEREB56,5286000 &7
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENT (continued)

Share Option Schemes (continued)

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the New
Share Option Scheme at any time during a period as determined by
the Board and not exceeding 10 years from the date of the grant.
There is no minimum period for which an option must be held before

it can be exercised.

Participants of the New Share Option Scheme are required to pay
the Company HK$1.00 upon acceptance of the grant on the offer
date. The exercise price of the options is determined by the Board
in its absolute discretion and shall not be less than whichever is the

highest of:

(@) the closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotation sheet on the date of the grant,

which must be a trading day;

(b)  the average closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotation sheet for the five (5) trading days
immediately preceding the date of the grant; and

(c)  the par value of a Share on the date of grant.
The New Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a

period of 10 years from 23 June 2021 after which no further options

will be granted or offered.
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENT (continued)
Share Option Schemes (continued)
Movements of the Old Share Option Scheme during the Year

SH M= (8
BT & (&)
REFEEBKESEEE

Balance Granted Exercised Lapsed Cancelled Balance
as at during during during during as at Exercise
1January thereporting thereporting the reporting the reporting 31 December Price Exercise
List of Grantees 2022 period period period period 2022 HK$  Date of grant Period
R=F=-=%F
K== REBEHRA RARERR RESHER RAREER +=A I8
ARAEZE —R—B#&# R oK :d P ##H =t-B&H BT RHBH
Directors
=
Chan Sek Keung, Ringo 36,000 - - - - 36,000 340 25/10/2016 25/10/2016-
K55 (Note 3) 25/10/2026
(K1:#3) (Note 2)
(Hritz)
Wang Fang 360,000 - - - - 360,000 34.0 25/10/2016 25/10/2016-
ESz) (Note 3) 25/10/2026
(Hi5t3) (Note 2)
(Biit2)
Total 396,000 - - - - 396,000
@t
Notes: BaE -
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The closing price of the shares of the Company immediately before the

date on which the options were granted was HK$1.73.

Up to 40% of the options granted (the “First Options”) are exercisable
during the period from 25 October 2016 to 25 October 2026 (both days
inclusive) (the “First Period”); up to 30% of the options granted (the
“Second Options”) (together with the First Options to the extent the
same has not been exercised during the First Period, as the case
may be) are exercisable during the period from 25 October 2017 to
25 October 2026 (both days inclusive) (the “Second Period”); up to
30% of the options granted (the "Third Options”) (together with the
First Options and the Second Options to the extent they have not been
exercised during the First Period and the Second Period, as the case
may be) are exercisable during the period from 25 October 2018 to
25 October 2026 (both days inclusive) (the “Third Period”).

Due to the Share Consolidation in 2021, the exercise price of the share
options granted on 25 October 2016 was adjusted from HK$1.7 to
HK$34.0.

The share options continue to be capable of exercise during the
prescribed period in accordance with the Old Share Option Scheme

and the terms during the time of granting such share options.
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENT (continued) ERNmE (&)
Share Option Schemes (continued) IBIRAETE (B)

Movements of the New Share Option Scheme during the Year X7 & 5 8 IR & 51 2/ 8 Bf

Balance Balance
as at Granted Exercised Lapsed Cancelled as at Exercise
1 January during during during during 31 December Price
List of Grantees 2022 the year the year the year the year 2022 HK$  Dateofgrant Exercise Period
R-B-Zf
R=%== REFE REAEE REAEE REAEE +=h ke
ARARE —B—-R#& i Citid S ##  =t-HEH B R AH T8
Directors
=
Chan Sek Keung, Ringo 70,200 - - - - 70,200 1.486 13/9/2021 13/9/2021-
3L (Note 1) 12/9/2025
(Hizt1) (Note 2)
(H2)
Tin Yat Yu, Carol (appointed on 70,200 - - - - 70,200 1.486 13/9/2021 13/9/2021-
11 April 2022) (Note 1) 12/9/2025
B-f(R-F-—FMWA+-A (Hyzt1) (Note 2)
BZE) (Ha22)
Wang Fang 70,200 - - - - 70,200 1.486 13/9/2021 13/9/2021-
5 (Note 1) 12/9/2025
(Hrat1) (Note 2)
(Hs22)
Liu Chun Fai (resigned on 6 April 2022) 702,000 - - - - 702,000 1.486 13/9/2021 13/9/2021-
BER (W -Z--EMAXAERHE) (Note 1) 12/9/2025
(K1) (Note 2)
(He2)
Wong Tsu Wai, Derek 702,000 - - - - 702,000 1.486 13/9/2021 13/9/2021-
Tl (Note 1) 12/9/2025
(Hrzt1) (Note 2)
(Ha22)
Other participants (Note 3) 4,914,000 - - - - 4,914,000 1.486 13/9/2021 13/9/2021-
H2EAL (H23) (Note 1) 12/9/2025
(Hat1) (Note 2)
(Hs22)
Total 6,528,600 - - - - 6,528,600
it
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENT (continued)

Share Option Schemes (continued)

Movements of the New Share Option Scheme during the Year
(continued)

Notes:

1. The closing price of the shares of the Company immediately before the

date on which the options were granted was HK$1.40.

2. 50% of the share options are exercisable from 13 September 2021
to the end of the validity period (i.e. 12 September 2025) (both
dates inclusive); and 50% of the share options are exercisable from
13 September 2022 to the end of the validity period (i.e. 12 September
2025) (both dates inclusive).

3. Other participants refer to one supplier of services and six consultants
of the Group who have contributed to the Group in different aspects.
These participants possess extensive experiences, business network
and market connections in their particular sectors which, through
cooperation with these participants, the Group will be able to utilise
their expertise, network and connections to accomplish the long-term

growth and profitability of the Group.

During the Year, no share options were exercised, lapsed or

cancelled under the New Share Option Scheme.
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E=gHE
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND EERRR R K AD B IR 4 B R i B0
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING 2
SHARES
So far as is known to any Directors or chief executives of the FERIEFHAQNAGZEITHRABNA R
Company, as at 31 December 2022, the persons or corporations ——&F+=A=+—H8 RAQGKMD ZHEERK

(other than Directors or chief executives of the Company) who had A ERSA R MBERIEFFH K BHEKDIZE
interest or short positions in the Shares and underlying Shares of ~ XVEFZE2&3D WX AA QDR HE - LB LR
the Company which were required to be disclosed to the Company  1RIEFE H M HAE GO F336(6 BT E « Bt/
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, AL EB (EEXAR R ZEITERAERIN)
or which were recorded in the register required to be kept under  #ZAF:

section 336 of the SFO were as follows:

Number of Number of Percentage of
issued ordinary underlying the issued
shares of the shares of the  share capital of
Company held/  Company held/ the Company
Name of Substantial Shareholders Capacity interested in interested in (approximate)
s/ B®E e BE ERANE
EEHNARATE NN 2ETRA
FTERRER 54 BOEEREE HERGEE Bo b (84)
Smoothly Global Holdings Limited Beneficial owner® 15,505,941 (L) - 13.23%
("Smoothly Global") BEDBEAAO
Beneficial owner® - 20,000,000 (L) 17.06%
EnEAAY
Woodstock Management Limited Beneficial owner? 1,500,200 (L) - 1.28%
("Woodstock Management”) EnEAA?
(L): Long position L :7FE
Notes: Kiat -

(1) These 15,505,941 Shares are held by Smoothly Global, a company (1)  #%%515,505,9418% %15 B3 Smoothly GlobaliFH ' 7%

incorporated in the British Virgin Islands with limited liability and is NRAARABHARESHEMKINER AR
70% and 20% owned by Mr. Chan Sek Keung, Ringo and Ms. Wang I B R 8558 55 4 ) £ 55 £ 99 Bl HE B 70% 5% 20%
Fang respectively. s o

(2)  These 1,500,200 Shares are held by Woodstock Management, a  (2)  #%%1,500,2008% }% {5 B Woodstock Managementi¥
company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands with limited liability B ZARANABHERRESEMA I ER
and is 100% owned by Mr. Chan Sek Keung, Ringo. DR WHREEREEEB100%E R
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(3) These 20,000,000 Shares represented the total number of Shares
which may be allotted and issued to Smoothly Global upon the
exercise of the conversion rights attaching to the Convertible Bond
for the aggregate principal amount of HK$30,000,000 at the initial
conversion price of HK$1.5 per Share. The exercise of the conversion
rights attaching to the Convertible Bond is subject to the terms and
conditions thereof, including the restriction against conversion which
would cause the Company to be in breach of the minimum public float

requirement under the Listing Rules.

(4) The total number of the issued shares of the Company as at
31 December 2022 (i.e. 117,240,000 shares) had been used for the
calculation of the approximate percentage shareholdings in the

Company.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2022, the Directors are
not aware of any other person or corporation (other than Directors
or chief executives of the Company) having an interest or short
position in the Shares and underlying Shares which would require
to be recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
under section 336 of the SFO.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors as at the date of this
Report, the Company has maintained the prescribed public float of
not less than 25% of the Company’s issued shares as required under
the Listing Rules during the year ended 31 December 2022.

CONTRACTS WITH CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS
Save as disclosed in this report, no contract of significance has been
entered into between the Company or any of its subsidiaries and the
then controlling Shareholders or any of their subsidiaries, at any
time during the year ended 31 December 2022.

70

InvesTech Holdings Limited B ZRER A

FERRAROREBERONERRK
-3¢ )

Hrat - (48)

(3) % 20,000,000l ATEASEES
30,000,0005% 7T &9 A] 32 i% f& 2 KT 75 & 2 AR 72 18
AR ESRRMI B TRERETT
Smoothly Global#J A& {7 42k - 77188 AT 2 AR (& Y
5 0 ¥R IR 7838 ST IR AR I G - B AER IE R AR
SIBARRER EMASKEAREREHRTH
PR 1) o

(4) ARRRZZE_—_F+-_A=+—HBBITRH
4 (BP117,240,0008% % 5 ) B LAGT E AR R A
BAOERED L

BRENFIEEEN RZFE_—F+=A=1+—
B EFHIMNBTMWEMALIORE (EFK
ARFEREITHABERIN BB & AR R A 7
BEARERARAIZE S MG &P E336{5F
FEZECMANERIIXER

PNBEFERENZRZE

BIBAR AR ARBRTHSNER KHESAHTA
REABEBE ARAFREBE_T__F+=A4
=+t BLEFECKBEMHRARTEHIFTH
HNARFERE B TLRARFE ETROD D
25% o

RERBRRITINEH
BAREMBEBEN BE-T-_—F+=A4
=+— B L& E R ERER - AR A T %A
B 2% R 4 R O 1 R R PR SR S AE () L 2 )
AT MAEEREH



DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN COMPETING BUSINESS

None of the Directors is or was interested in any business apart
from the Group's business, that competes or competed or is or
was likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the Group’s
business at any time during the year ended 31 December 2022 and
up to and including the date of this report.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

All related party transactions disclosed in note 39 to the consolidated
financial statements did not constitute connected transaction or
continuing connected transaction of the Company subject to, among
other things, reporting, announcement or independent shareholders’
approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
The related party transactions under the paragraph headed
“Compensation of key management personnel of the Group” in note
39(d) to the consolidated financial statements were exempted from
reporting, announcement and independent shareholders™ approval
requirements pursuant to Rule 14A.73(6) of the Listing Rules.
The Company has complied with the disclosure requirements in
accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2022, cash and bank balances (excluding pledged
deposits) of the Group amounted to approximately RMB59.4 million
(2021: approximately RMB54.9 million). Details of such are set out in
note 26 to the consolidated financial statements.

As at 31 December 2022, the total interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings of the Group amounted to approximately RMB69.9 million
(2021: approximately RMB49.3 million), among which approximately
RMB50.6 million (2021: approximately RMB29.3 million) was
unsecured and guaranteed by a director of the Company. As at
31 December 2022, the interest-bearing bank and other borrowings
of RMB19.3 million (2021: approximately RMB24.9 million) carried
at fixed interest rates and approximately RMB50.6 million (2021:
approximately RMB24.4 million) carried at floating interest rates.
Details of such are set out in note 30 to the consolidated financial

statements.
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EVENT AFTER THE END OF THE REPORTING PERIOD
Save as disclosed in this report, there was no other significant
subsequent event undertaken by the Group subsequent to 31

December 2022 and up to the date of this report.

HUMAN RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2022, the Group employed 306 employees
(2021: 285). The emolument policy of the employees of the Group
is determined on the basis of their merit, qualifications and
competence. The Company adopted the New Share Option Scheme
to provide incentive to its senior management and employees.
Please refer to the paragraphs headed “Share Option Scheme” in

this report for details of such scheme.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the total staff costs
(including directors’ remuneration) amounted to approximately
RMB78.9 million (2021: approximately RMB68.8 million). The
Company maintains a New Share Option Scheme for the purpose of
providing incentives and rewards to the eligible participants for their

contributions to the Group.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY
A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the past five financial years is set out in the section of

Financial Summary on pages 8 to 13 of this report.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the New
Bye-Laws or the laws of the Bermuda, being the jurisdiction in
which the Company was continued, which would oblige the Company

to offer new Shares to existing Shareholders on a pro-rata basis.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company's listed securities during the year
ended 31 December 2022.
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ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The Annual General Meeting will be held on 31 May 2023
(Wednesday) and the notice of Annual General Meeting will be
published and despatched to Shareholders in due course in
accordance with the Listing Rules.

AUDITORS

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2022 have been audited by BDO Limited.

BDO Limited will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for
reappointment. A resolution for the re-appointment of BDO Limited
as auditors of the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming
Annual General Meeting.

By order of the Board
Chan Sek Keung, Ringo
Chairman and CEO

Hong Kong
31 March 2023
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B 2B RS

IBDO

EEE - +852 2218 8288
{85 : +852 2815 2239
www.bdo.com.hk

To the Shareholders of InvesTech Holdings Limited
BLUEAERL A IR A 7

(incorporated in the Cayman Islands and continued in Bermuda with
limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of InvesTech
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”)
set out on pages 83 to 236, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2022, and the
consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes
in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly,
in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 December 2022, and its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended
in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
("IFRSs”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with the

disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants ("HKICPA"). Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the “Auditor's Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements” section of
our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA's “Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants” (the “Code”),
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained

is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we

do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Impairment assessment of goodwill
Refer to notes 3 and 16 to the consolidated financial statements and

the accounting policies on pages 106 to 108.

As at 31 December 2022, the net carrying amount of the Group's
goodwill amounted to RMB135.0 million.

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least on an
annual basis. This requires an estimation of the value in use of the
cash-generating unit ("CGU") to which the goodwill is allocated.
Estimating the value in use requires the Group to make an estimate
of the expected future cash flows from the CGU and also a suitable

discount rate to calculate the present value of those cash flows.

We identified impairment assessment of goodwill as a key audit
matter because of the management’s significant judgement and
high level of estimation uncertainty involved in the determination of
the recoverable amount, and the net carrying amount of goodwill is
significant to the Group's consolidated financial statements.

Our response:

° Evaluated the reasonableness of key inputs and assumptions
used in the cash flow projections, which include budgeted
revenue growth rates, long term growth rate, budgeted gross
margins and discount rate, with assistance from our valuation

specialists;

o Checked the arithmetic accuracy of the cash flow projections

used in the value in use calculation;

o Evaluated the reasonableness of disclosures related to
goodwill impairment assessment in the consolidated financial

statements; and

° Evaluated the competence, capabilities and objectivity of the

independent professional valuer used by management.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B BEHE

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)
Fair value measurement of an unlisted equity investment
Refer to notes 3, 19 and 41 to the consolidated financial statements

and the accounting policies on page 120.

The Group held an unlisted equity investment as at 31 December
2022, the fair value of which was estimated by management to be
RMB18.4 million. Such unlisted equity investment was classified as
a financial asset at fair value through other comprehensive income.

Management engaged an independent professional valuer to
assess the fair value of the above unlisted equity investment as at
31 December 2022. As the fair value of unlisted equity investment
cannot be derived from active markets, it is determined using
valuation techniques. The inputs used in the valuation are taken
from observable markets where possible, but where this is not
feasible, a degree of judgement is required in establishing fair
value. This valuation requires the Group to make estimates about
expected factors which may have impact on the fair value of the
equity investment and the discount for lack of marketability, liquidity
and control and hence they are subject to uncertainty. Changes in
assumptions about these factors could affect the reported fair value
of the equity investments.

We identified fair value measurement of an unlisted equity
investment as a key audit matter because of the significant
judgement and high level of estimation uncertainty involved in the
determination of fair value, and the carrying amount and fair value
change during the year of such investment are significant to the
Group's consolidated financial statements.

Our response:

° Evaluated the reasonableness of selection of valuation
techniques, as well as those key assumptions and data used
in the fair value determination of the investment, with the

assistance of our valuation specialist;

U Evaluated the reasonableness of disclosures related to the fair
value measurement of the unlisted equity investment in the

consolidated financial statements; and
. Evaluated the competence, capabilities and objectivity of the

independent professional valuer used by management and our

valuation specialist.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)
Impairment assessment of trade receivables
Refer to notes 3, 22 and 42 to the consolidated financial statements

and the accounting policies on pages 122 to 124.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had trade receivables, net of loss
allowance for impairment, of RMB254.5 million, which represented
34.1% of the total assets of the Group. Net impairment of these
financial assets amounted to RMB5.0 million for the year ended 31
December 2022.

The estimation of expected credit losses ("ECLs") for trade
receivables requires management’s significant judgement and

involves high level of estimation uncertainty.

The assessment of the correlation among historical observed
default rates, forecast economic conditions and ECLs is a
significant estimate. The amount of ECLs is sensitive to changes
in circumstances and forecast economic conditions. The Group's
historical credit loss experience and forecast of economic conditions
may also not be representative of a customer’s actual default in the
future. Management engaged an independent professional valuer to

assist with the estimation of ECLs.

We identified impairment assessment of trade receivables as a key
audit matter because of the significant judgement and high level of
estimation uncertainty involved, and the aggregate carrying amount
of the trade receivables is significant to the Group's consolidated

financial statements.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)
Impairment assessment of trade receivables (continued)

Our response:

° Evaluated the appropriateness of estimation techniques used,
as well as the reasonableness of inputs and assumptions
used, to determine the ECLs. This includes assessment on the
groupings of customer categories under the provision matrix
used to estimate the ECL for trade receivables, accuracy
and relevancy of the historical loss rates and whether they
are reasonably adjusted based on recent loss experience
and forward-looking factors specific to the debtors, and the

realisable value of collaterals where appropriate;
o Checked the arithmetic accuracy of the calculation of ECLs;

. Evaluated the reasonableness of disclosures related to the

ECL estimation in the consolidated financial statements; and

o Evaluated the competence, capabilities and objectivity of the

independent professional valuer used by management.

OTHER INFORMATION IN THE ANNUAL REPORT

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises the information included in the Company’'s
annual report, but does not include the consolidated financial

statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance

conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent
with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge
obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially
misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude
that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this

regard.

78 InvesTech Holdings Limited B ZRER A

FHREXEE (5)

8 5 BWHRRER M (58)
BEEHEE:
. ﬁﬁ”*ﬁ%ﬁ%%%%ﬁ%%ﬁﬁﬁ%
B ARFAERBABEBERER S
ﬁ& HEREYARGAESRKRIEZE
HEEBRNBEERBRTEPEN A
FELEERNERENMBRERRERS
REBOCHBRELCRIEB AR OATE L
AEELAEAE URERGROZRE
B (HEA ) MeFS

o RZEHBERHEEBBRNIEMERNE:

o FEGAUBmRERTEBENEHEER
E&%%éﬁﬁyﬁ

o FHMEEEEMEMRBUEXGEMNER -
BEAREBIML-

FHRHHMER

EXAUEMESREE - AMEEREH EX
AFERMES ETEREaMBERREEEN

REED R o

B HRELNBRATREEMIE
SR EREAEANEF SR -

BEEFHEE
8
[En}

BET

RESHGEAMBHREANERMNS EFNEL
%%EEMED*ﬁﬁ%ﬁEMEDEEﬁf

MBRERRESNERRAEENERFEEXN
$ﬁﬁM?ﬁEiK%%ﬁu&%:%%E%ﬁ

MR HEFRBHEMESFEERHERR
A EEZEREEEEE - B BFXWEEMR

’f:lto



DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation and fair
presentation of these consolidated financial statements in
accordance with IFRSs and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control
as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have

no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are also responsible for overseeing the Group's
financial reporting process. The Audit Committee assists the

directors in discharging their responsibility in this regard.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an
auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This report is made solely
to you, as a body, in accordance with section 90 of the Bermuda
Companies Act 1981, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the

contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these consolidated financial statements.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise

professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also

80

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,

or the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors” use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may

cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that

achieves fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal

control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate

threats or safeguards applied.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B HE RS

BRBMRESREMBHRRZEE (B

s FHERAVBHBRNBREI®R EBLA
B BEREE URGAVWHHREREE AE
HHPE2FNTAE2REEAIZ REM-

e i EEETERIXKIINTKEH
MERD FBENEZERE LB R W
BREXBR-BFAERE EBRUT
SERZ BEHERERAEENAL

FREMEREIN BEFEBEZZE S ENES
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BT R AR BT ERER IR HETTE
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BERBIIENERERE R WREBEABARES
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B BEHE

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such

communication.

BDO Limited

Certified Public Accountants
Tang Tak Wah

Practising Certificate no. P06262

Hong Kong, 31 March 2023
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
GEREER

For the year ended 31 December 2022
R CEC—F AT —HIFFE

2022 AVAl
—==-= —E—F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T AREF T
CONTINUING OPERATION HEREER
REVENUE PN 5 556,679 484,598
Cost of sales $HE A (471,308) (427,490)
Gross profit EF 85,371 57,108
Other income and gains E A A R bz 5 6,717 5,252
Selling and distribution expenses 46 K ) $H B < (28,709) (25,806)
Administrative expenses TEFES (68,508) (54,359)
Other expenses HAh B X (14,406) (100)
Impairment losses of financial assets, net TREERERBEFE (5,025) (1.136)
Finance costs BhE KA 7 (4,249) (3,007)
LOSS BEFORE TAX RR %1 Al 5 18 6 (28,809) (22,048)
Income tax expense Frsfim 10 (4,210) (281)
Loss for the year from continuing operation REFELEEEBEHN
FEFE (33,019) (22,329)
DISCONTINUED OPERATION BRIEREER
Profit for the year from discontinued KEERIEEEEET
operation F 2% A 35 = 1,329
LOSS FOR THE YEAR FEEFSR (33,019) (21,000)
(Loss)/profit for the year attributable to: LNT&HEGFE
(BE),HF -
Owners of the parent BRAREAA
- From continuing operation —REHEREER (35,882) (18,176)
- From discontinued operation —RE DRI EER = 1,329
(35,882) (16,847)
Non-controlling interests IE I =
- From continuing operation —REBERLLER 2,863 (4,153)
(33,019) (21,000)
(LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE BARBEEAREER
ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS (E8]) BR
OF THE PARENT 12
From continuing and discontinued operations REZFER AR I KB XK
- Basic and diluted —EARREE (RMB32.09 cents)  (RMB21.03 cents)
(AR¥32.09%) (AE¥21.03%)
From continuing operation REBFESEEK
- Basic and diluted —EARREE (RMB32.09 cents) (RMB22.69 cents)
(AR¥32.09%) (ARE269%)
From discontinued operation RECKRIEEEET
- Basic and diluted —BERREE N/A RMB1.66 cents
3B A ARE1.669
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
mEEHERER

For the year ended 31 December 2027
B2 —F-——F+—A=F—HIFE

2022 2021
—EFE_— — T —4F

RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARBFTT

LOSS FOR THE YEAR FEBR (33,019) (21,000)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS)  Hfti2mE Kz~ (HE)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) that AREBBAEERSE
may be reclassified to profit or loss Z%Tﬁﬁﬁ’\]ﬁfﬂiﬁ
in subsequent periods: W, (&)
Exchange differences on translation of BMEIEEE
foreign operations M H ZRE 1,359 26,064
Recycle of exchange differences upon o & SN SE RS B
disposal of foreign operations 5] i P 54, Z= 58 - (657)
1,359 25,407
Other comprehensive income/(loss) that REZBRETTENHE
will not be reclassified to profit or loss Z%Té!ﬁﬁﬁ'ﬂﬁfﬂiﬁ
in subsequent periods: Wiz, (E18)
Exchange differences on translation of BREARRRFHERER
the Company’s financial statements 2 EE 2 EKERE
into presentation currency 2,965 (27,083)
Changes in fair value of financial asset BRARBETAEM
at fair value through other comprehensive FHBENEREER
income ARBEZE (21,718) (70,992)
(18,753) (98,075)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS FEHMZEEBR
FOR THE YEAR (17,394) (72,668)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE LOSS FEXEBRARE
FOR THE YEAR (50,413) (93,668)
Total comprehensive (loss)/income UWT&FEEFEE2E
for the year attributable to: (E18) Wammess:
Owners of the parent ISY/NCIEZ ZS PN (53,924) (89,437)
Non-controlling interests FERE S 3,511 (4,231)
(50,413) (93,668)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
A B AR &R

NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Investment properties

Property, plant and equipment

Right-of-use assets

Goodwill

Other intangible assets

Deferred tax assets

Financial asset at fair value through
other comprehensive income

Deposits

Total non-current assets

CURRENT ASSETS

Inventories

Trade and bills receivables
Loan receivables

Prepayments, other receivables

and other assets

Equity investments at fair value through

profit or loss

Debt investment at fair value through
profit or loss

Pledged deposits

Cash and cash equivalents

Total current assets

FRBEE
REWE

E RN G S
EREEE
Bk
Hip Y B E
ELETRAEE

BARBERARMEE

Wan e REE
BrE

FRBEERE

RBEE

e

EE VST e
JE U & 3R

TE IR ~ H b UK IR
KMEMEE

BRnBEFABRED
AR E
mAfEER ABED
BEHRE
[REERUEED N

ReMREEEBEY

MEEERE

19
23

21
22
20

23

24

25

26
26

Q
N

RMB’000
AR®T T

As at 31 December 2022
—E - —Ff—A=1—H

2022 2021
T —4F

RMB'000
ARBEF T

5,528 -
1,821 1,995
12,840 17,824
134,952 134,952
58,203 78,448
3,501 3,718
18,368 40,086
15,548 -
250,761 277,023
20,336 17,320
318,138 208,047
- 1,749
57,470 55,195
13,452 2,880
1,270 12,530
25,549 25,765
59,436 54,920
495,651 378,406
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e MR R

As at 31 December 2022
R—E——Ff—HA=1—H

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Trade payables

Contract liabilities

Other payables and accruals
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings
Tax payable

Total current liabilities
NET CURRENT ASSETS
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

Contract liabilities

Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings
Convertible bond

Deferred tax liabilities

Total non-current liabilities

Net assets

EQUITY

Equity attributable to owners of the parent
Issued capital

Reserves

Non-controlling interests

Total equity

On behalf of the board

Chan Sek Keung, Ringo
PR 8578
Director

EF
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REBEE
= N 27
AHAEaE 28
HEMENRIERESER 29
FTEIRITREMER 30
FERTHIE

R B EAE

RBEEFE
BEHMERABEE
kRBEE

EHaE 28
T ESRITREMER 30
Al E A 36
RIEFRIEEE 18
nBaELR

BEFE

xR

BRAEAE ARGER

BT 31
e 33

REREFS

2022

RMB’000
AR®T

2021
—E-—F
RMB'000
ARET T

215,230 174,832
48,409 25,833
38,420 25,047
59,574 36,347
20,987 14,877

382,620 276,936

113,031 101,470

363,792 378,493

- 2,831
10,345 12,921
24,624 21,672

8,730 11,768
43,699 49,192
320,093 329,301
7,553 5,464

301,683 317,286

309,236 322,750
10,857 6,551

320,093 329,301

Tin Yat Yu, Carol
H—1F
Director
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
REERBEBR

For the year ended 31 December 2022
R CEC—F AT —HIFFE

Attributable to owners of the parent

BAREAARL
Foreign
Share Share Convertible ~ Statutory Fair currency Non-
Issued Share ~ Contributed option Special award Other  bond equity surplus value translation  Accumulated controlling Total
capital premium  surplus(e) reserve(f)  reserve(a) reserve  reserve(h)  reserve(d)  reserve(c)  reserve(g)  reserve(h) losses interests equity
oEf #A BRE % RE%E it TEREZ  iERR  AARE
Rk REEE Bl 1 U] @) 1 L) ERREQ) @) BE0Q EXAREN  RHEE FRUEE  EEAT
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETr ARBTR ARMTR ARMTR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETT  ARETR
At 1 January 2022 RZZZZ§-F-8 5,464 13,070 809,164 9,067 61,064 2,013 6,783 10,113 31,062 (559,914) (1,413) (53,763) 322,150 6,551 329,301
Loss for the year FEFR - - - - - - - - - - - (35,882) (35,882) 2,063 (33,019)
Other comprehensiveincome ~ FEEH2ENE/
Iloss) for the year: (E8):
Exchange differences on 5
translation of foreign operations - - - - - - - - - - 1,359 - 1,359 - 1,359
Exchange differences on
translation of the financial
statements into presentation
currency - - - - - - - - - - 237 - 2,317 648 2,965
Change in fair value of a financial 1727t
asset at fai value through 2EK
other comprehensive income, 92/ EERE
netof tax MERE - - - - - - - - - @m) - - (am - @m
Total comprehensive loss FE2E ]
for the year - - - - - - - - - (21,118) 3,676 (35,882) (63,924) 351 (50,413)
Issue of share (note 31(c) RiyET (3100 2,089 37966 - - - - - - - - - - 40,055 - 40,055
Share issue expenses (note 31(c))  RIVEFTRR
(W3E31(0) - (1,207) - - - - - - - - - - (1,20) - (1,207)
Equity-settled share option EGEEL
arrangement BlERH - - - 1562 - - - - - - - - 1,562 - 1,562
Transfer &% o - - - - - - - 3017 - - (3,017) - - -
Contribution from non-controlling R & 3R R AT E
interests - - - - - - - - - - - - - 795 795
At 31 December 2022 g S
t-A=+-8 7,553 49,829% 809,164* 10,609 61,064 2,073 6,783¢ 10,113 36,079%  (581,632)* (1737)¢ (92,662 309,236 10,857 320,093
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
mERRBEBXR

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE—F_—F+_A=1—HIIFE

Statutory

At1 January 2021 R-%2=-%-A-8 188,710 625012 - 6,304 61,084 2013 (1473) - 31,082 (488,922) (9.815) (36.916) 371,09 19,465 420,564
Loss for the year EEFE - - - - - - - - - - - (18847)  (16847) (6153 (21000
Other comprehensiveincome ~ FEEH2ENE/

loss) for the year: (EB):
Exchange differences on RENEEHL

{ranslation of foreign operations ~ E % £% - - - - - - - - - - 26,142 - 2,162 (78) 26064
Exchange diflrences on BERHARA

translation of the financial 2542

statements into presentation  EX £

arenty - - - - - - - - - ) - o - o
Recycle of exchange diferences (1 & SMEIE EEI

upon disposal of foreign ERZE

operations - - - - - - - - - - (657) - (637) - (657)

Change in fair value of a financial 12/t BEFT AL
asset at fai value through 2EK ;
other comprehensive income, )2/ EERE)

net of tax ke - - - - - - - - - (10992) - - (10992) - (10992)
Total comprehensive loss FE2EFEEE
for the year - - - - - - - - - (10992) (1.59) (16,847) (89.437) (6,231) (93,668)

Cancellation of share premium &8 - (625,012) 625012 - - - - - - - - - - _ _

Capital reorganisation (note 31(a)) B4 &4 (H

(184,152) - 184,152 - - - - - - - - - - R R
[ssue of shares (note 31(b) TRG%T (H35310)) 906 13549 - - - - - - - - - - 14,45 - 14,45
Share issue expenses (note 31(b)  RIVEFTRE
(H&E316)) - () - - - - - - - - - - (@) - ()
Equity-settled share option NEREEZ
arrangement BREZH - - - ALK - - - - - - - - 2743 - 23
Contribution from non-controlling 7% & 3R i A0 11
interests - - - - - - - - - - - - - 7378 7378
Acquisition of non-controlling MBS ER
interest - - - - - - 16,25 10,113 - - - - 24369 (46,041) (21672)
At 31 December 2021 i3
tZA=t-8 5464 13,070 809,164* 9,047 61,064 2073* 6,783 10,113 30620 (GRS (141 (33783 302750 8,551 39301

* These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of  * ZEREREBEGESMBRAANRANKS R
RMB301,683,000 (2021: RMB317,286,000) in the consolidated HAR®301,683,000c (- —F: AR
statement of financial position. 317,286,0007T) °
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Notes:

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Special reserve

The balances as at 31 December 2022 and 2021 mainly represent:

(i) the difference between the nominal amount of the shares issued
by the parent and the aggregate amount of paid-in capital of the
subsidiaries acquired pursuant to the group reorganisation of

the Company in 2008; and

(i) the excess, amounting to RMB13,330,000, of the consideration
paid by the parent for the acquisition of a subsidiary over the
consideration paid by Mr. Chi Shaolin, the then controlling
shareholder of the Company, for the acquisition of the

subsidiary from a third party.

Other reserve

Other reserve arose from acquisitions of non-controlling interests in
subsidiaries or disposals of interests in subsidiaries and represents
the difference between the amount by which the non-controlling
interests are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or
received on transactions with equity owners in the capacity as equity
holders that result in changes in ownership interests while retaining

control.

Statutory surplus reserve

As stipulated by the relevant laws and regulations for enterprises
in the People’s Republic of China (the "PRC"), the Company's PRC
subsidiaries are required to maintain a statutory surplus reserve fund
which is non-distributable. The appropriations to such reserve are
made out of net profit after tax of the statutory financial statements
of the relevant PRC subsidiaries. The statutory surplus reserve fund
can be used to make up prior year losses, if any, and can be applied in

conversion into capital by means of capitalisation issue.

Convertible bond equity reserve
Convertible bond equity reserve represents amount of the equity

component of convertible bond issued by the Company.

Contributed surplus

The Company cancelled the entire amount standing to the credit of
the share premium and to transfer the credits arising from such
cancellation to an account designated as the contributed surplus
account of the Company before the change of domicile from the

Cayman Islands to Bermuda becoming effective, i.e. 7 July 2021.

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

REERSEX

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BEr—F - —F - H=F—HIFFE

SRl EE
N_EB- —ER-_TB_—F+_A=+—RH2#&
BEBE:

()  BRFAETRNOEESERERRFR
TET N \FETEEEAMKERBAR
BRERNBESHENER N

(i)  BRFAKE-HEBERRMMTHRESRK
REABERFNERBREOMEERE=TT
WENBARRANTREZEZ2BAR
#13,330,0007T

Htofk 5

H At R B B A B A SR i aa ok
EMBARED WIREHB ZIFHEREDEER
SRR B AN S D BREMEEETZ S
MENKERREARBEZRAZEZE 25X
HiEmAEER AR I

EEEBREE

PEARAME ([FE])EENOBBEERRE
RRTE  ARA BB LR EARE NI D KA
AEBBREEES ZFRENEFTREHEM
BB R AAE M B IHMERMBRBIRAN A ER
HREBESTARBHATFERR (WE) I
AJREAME BT RBRAER -

ARRESERREE
AR ESERFEEARRBETHRRERES
MR AR

BABER
ARARAFEREEMARELM (BT
“FEAER)AEERNDEEZ2HERS
BOUKEREHMEEC ERBAEBEEIETEE
RARPBEHBHRER-
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
mERRBEBXR

For the year ended 31 December 2022

EE=—

FE_ A=+ —HIFEE

Notes: (continued)

U]

(9)

(h)

90

Share option reserve

Share option reserve comprises the fair value of the share
options granted which are yet to be exercised, as further
explained in the accounting policy for share-based payments in
note 2.4 to the consolidated financial statements. The amount
will either be transferred to share capital when the related
options are exercised, or be transferred to retained profits/
accumulated losses should the related options expire or be
forfeited.

Fair value reserve
Fair value reserve represents cumulative net change in fair value of
financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income that

are held the end of at the reporting period.

Foreign currency translation reserve

Foreign currency translation reserve represents cumulative foreign
exchange differences arising from translation of the financial
statements of foreign operations into the presentation currency
and translation of financial statements of other group entities from
functional currency into the presentation currency. The reserve is
dealt with in accordance with the accounting policies set out in note 2.4

to the consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
GERTRER

For the year ended 31 December 2022
R CEC—F AT —HIFFE

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

RELEZHRERE

2022

RMB’000
AR®T

2021
—E-—F
RMB'000
ARETF T

Loss before tax: bR T B ES 18
From continuing operation REFELCEEK (28,809) (22,048)
From a discontinued operation REEKIEEET - 1,329
Adjustments for: MTIEIE AR
Finance costs B E P A 7 4,249 3,007
Bank interest income SRITH BUA 5 (249) (239)
Finance income on the net investment HEREFEELED
in a lease BhE U A 5 (76) (225)
Depreciation of property, plant and mE - -HWELRBITE
equipment 6 1,048 876
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ERREETE 6 5,830 5,775
Fair value (gain)/losses, net: AREE (W),
i8R 5
Equity investments at fair value through BAnBEFABRZ
profit or loss RA®RE 5 (5,096) (1,948)
Debt investment at fair value through BRAREBHEFABRZ
profit or loss BEBRE 25 10,943 (1,364)
Investment properties KEWME 13 3,244 -
Amortisation of other intangible assets Hih R &g 6 20,245 20,243
Impairment losses of trade receivables, net & 5 [EUWFIBB(EE 18
HER 6 5,025 1,136
Reversal of write-down of provision MR EFERER
for inventories to net realisable value A &35 A 6 (335) (2,608)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEKB QAR 35 - (1,296)
Cumulative loss on foreign currency HE BT B A B A E 3
translation reserve upon disposal RTS8
of subsidiaries 35 - 657
Share-based payments LARR 17 7 B RE AN 51 32 1,203 925
17,222 4,220
Increase in inventories FEEm (2,681) (2,064)
Increase in trade and bills receivables B 5K EE EI GG M (109,242) (9,608)
Decrease/(increase) in prepayments, TENTFRIE ~ B e WO IR &
other receivables and other assets HiEERD, () 286 (10,469)
Decrease in loan receivables JE U B SR D - 2,497
Increase in interest receivables JE WA B3 AN - (46)
Increase in trade payables B 5 e RRIAE N 36,650 13,123
Increase in contract liabilities EHaEEm 19,655 2,036
Increase/(decrease) in other payables Hih 508 L EETE A
and accruals #m, CRd) 6,580 (3,675)
Cash used in operations KEMARS (31,530) (3,986)
Interest paid EXNRAESS (2,791) (3,007)
Income taxes paid BTFT1EHR (921) (1,714)
Net cash flows used in operating activities KEZHFAATeREFHE (35,242) (8,707)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
RELRERER

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE—F_—F+_A=1—HIIFE

2022 2021
— =2 —EF - —4F

=

RMB’000
ARBTTT

Notes RMB’000
k=4 AR¥T R

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Interest received
Purchases of items of property, plant
and equipment
Acquisition of investment properties
Deposit paid for investment
Acquisition of equity investments
at fair value through profit or loss

Proceeds from disposal of equity investments

at fair value through profit or loss
Proceeds from repayment of loan receivable
Proceeds from disposal of subsidiaries,
net of cash
Interest from debt investment at fair value
through profit or loss
Proceeds from release of pledged deposit
Increase in pledged deposits

Net cash flows used in investing activities

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

New bank and other borrowings

Repayments of bank and other borrowings

Repayments of lease payments

Proceeds from issue of shares

Share issue expenses

Capital contribution from non-controlling
interest

Proceeds from loans from a director

Repayments of loans from a director

Net cash flows from/(used in)
financing activities

NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents at
beginning of year
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
AT END OF YEAR

ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH AND
CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents as stated
in the consolidated statement of
financial position
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REREEDRERE
B A E
BEYE BENMERFEEER

s =L ES
BREES
WER A R EBEFA
BEMRARE
PERAREBETA
BEMRAEE
BErRKRERMEHIE
HEM B AR ATERIE
(FABRACAS) 35
BEAREBEFABRN
EBERENFE
fEBR B ERATERIE

EEAFFE
BRERDIAREREFE
REMEZDRERE
FIBIRTT R B AB AR
BERITREMER
EEMEMNK

Bt EATRTISFRIA
Pt B 1TRI X

REFERESEHOHE
KE—REENERFAE

R
BERE—REENER
BMEEBME (FA)

RanEFHE
RERRSEEY

2,/ i) B8
FONRERREEED

SNEEERBYEFE
FXRAERBSEED

RERBLZENBHA N
Bt A BITER 5 511 8.2

RekReFEY
26

249 239
(798) (1,846)
(8,602) -
(15,548) -
(21,736) -
16,821 -
1,825 -
- 13,354
1,007 1,472
2,491 22,161
(614) (2,486)
(24,905) (6,456)
63,475 42,073
(37,699) (53,975)
(7,119) (7,636)
40,055 14,455
(1,207) (479)
- 7,378
5,651 -
- (6,683)
63,156 (4,867)
3,009 (20,030)
54,920 76,128
1,507 (1,178)
59,436 54,920
59,436 54,920




NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

InvesTech Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated
in the Cayman Islands on 16 November 2007 as an exempted
company with limited liability and continued in Bermuda with
effect from 7 July 2021 (Bermuda time). The Company’s shares
are listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The address of the
registered office of the Company is located at Canon’s Court,
22 Victoria Street, Hamilton, HM 12, Bermuda. The Company’s
principal place of business in Hong Kong during the year
ended 31 December 2022 was located at Room 1201, 12/F, C
C Wu Building, 302-308 Hennessy Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong,
and has been changed to Unit 706, 7th Floor, Capital Centre,
No. 151 Gloucester Road, Wan Chai, Hong Kong with effect
from 31 January 2023.

The Company is an investment holding company. The Company
and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”)
are principally engaged in the provision of network system
integration including the provision of network infrastructure
solutions, network professional services and smart office
software solutions, and the network equipment rental
business.
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AEREEER (8)
i) P
FAARNEEMBAR ZFHBAT

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (continued) 1.
Information about subsidiaries

Particulars of the Company’'s principal subsidiaries are as

follows:

Percentage of equity interest
attributable to the Company

ARTEMGRER DL
Issued ordinary/
Place of incorporation/ registered share
registration and business capital Direct Indirect Principal activities
BRER/
FER AL/ R R A ot A J=E Mg FEXK
Fortune Grace Management BVI Us$100 100 - Investment holding
Limited” (“Fortune Grace”) EBERAEE 100%7T REER
(Note)
Fortune Grace Management
Limited” ([ Fortune Grace |)
(hit)
Wafer Systems Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong dollars - 100 Investment holding
BEZHERAF BE ("HK$") 67,269,905 RERB
67,269,905 7T
(FBx))
Wafer Systems (China) Limited Hong Kong HK$30,000,000 - 100 Investment holding and
REZRG (FE)AERRA B 30,000,000/ 7t network system integration
REZREBEZRGES
Beijing Wafer New Century PRC/Mainland China US$15,000,000 - 100 Investment holding and
Information Technology Co., /R AR 15,000,000 7T network system integration
Ltd. *** ("Beijing Wafer") BREBRRBEZRES
IRBEENE L ESRABRAR
(MEREE])
Wafer Network Systems (Shanghai) PRC/Mainland China RMBS,580,000 - 100 Network system integration
Co, Ltd. ** /AR AR#6,580,0007 BEFRES
TERRBERRBRAF
Wafer (Xi'an) Software Co., Ltd.*"* PRC/Mainland China US$700,000 - 100 Research and development
("Xi'an Wafer") W/ B AR 700,000% 7T fHE
BE (AR) BEERAF
(MAZFE])
Wafer Systems (Asia) Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 100 Network system integration
HEZS (EM) BRAR 5% 10,0007 7 BREGES
Wafer iMusic Joint Venture Hong Kong N/A - 70 Network system integration
Wafer iMusic Joint Venture S ok BEREGEL
Wafer Systems (Vietnam) Co., Ltd." Vietnam US$400,000 - 100 Network system integration
("Vietnam Wafer") i 400,000 7T BIEZHEL
BERG (HE)BRAR"
([HREE])
Synergy UniNet Investment Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - 100 Property investment
BAREERAA BB BT MERE
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1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (continued) 1. ATRIREEER (&)
Information about subsidiaries (continued) MiB A RIS (8)

Percentage of equity interest
attributable to the Company

ARTAEMEREES L
Issued ordinary/
Place of incorporation/ registered share
registration and business capital Direct Indirect Principal activities
BRTEA/
KL/ R E # it RE BE A& LTEEH
Chunlin Group Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - 100 Investment holding, provision
EREEER A B BT of administrative support of
the Group and property
investment
REZR REAZEDN
TERXERDERE
Chunlin Technology Development PRC/Mainland China RMB833,000,000¢ - 100 Technology Development
(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. *** hE/EAE AR ¥833,000,0007C° BEBE

(“Chunlin Technology Development”)
ERBEER ORI BROA

([ERHEEER])

" Subsidiaries whose statutory financial statements were not " EXEMBRERIIFABTE L EERER
audited by BDO Limited or another member firm of the BDO MEBARAFN I EERERAEE
global network fopk B A R FZ BT E A =]

# Wholly-foreign-owned limited liability enterprises # SNEEEBRAR

* The English name is for identification purpose only * X ZTEE M

e The registered share capital of Chunlin Technology Development e WRZB-ZZF+ZA=+—B FHHEK
amounted to RMB833,000,000, among which RMB594,732,000 =R MR A B A R %833,000,0005T K
was unpaid as at 31 December 2022. R AR #594,732,0007T 1A AR 804+ o

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, FREJNEERAREIETEFEEEN

in the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results HARAEEEEFEEZZSD>OARQAM

for the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets BAR -BEFRR/EHAMMBARERS
of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in BEYERBRIIE-

the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive

length.
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2.1

926

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
("IFRSs”) (which include all International Financial Reporting
Standards, International Accounting Standards ("IASs”)
and Interpretations) issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board ("IASB”) and the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. They have been
prepared under the historical cost convention, except for
investment properties, a financial asset at fair value through
other comprehensive income, equity investments at fair value
through profit or loss and a debt investment at fair value
through profit or loss which have been measured at fair value
as explained in the accounting policies set out in Note 2.4
below. These consolidated financial statements are presented
in Renminbi ("RMB”) and all values are rounded to the nearest

thousand except when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022.
A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity), directly
or indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is achieved
when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns
from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to
affect those returns through its power over the investee (i.e.,
existing rights that give the Group the current ability to direct
the relevant activities of the investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a
majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the
Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in

assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:

(@)  the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders

of the investee;
(b)  rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

(c)  the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.
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2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared
for the same reporting period as the Company, using
consistent accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries are
consolidated from the date on which the Group obtains control,
and continue to be consolidated until the date that such

control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the parent of the Group
and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. All intra-
group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash
flows relating to transactions between members of the Group

are eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee
if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to
one or more of the three elements of control described above.
A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a

loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i)
the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary,
(i) the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest and
(ili) the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity;
and recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration received,
(i) the fair value of any investment retained and (iii) any
resulting surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share
of components previously recognised in other comprehensive
income is reclassified to profit or loss or retained earnings,
as appropriate, on the same basis as would be required if the

Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND 22 B BXREHREE

DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following amendments to IFRSs REBEERAFEZEAMBHRERE XK

for the first time for the current year's consolidated financial AT B & ER 2 Ea]

statements.

Amendments to IAS 37 Onerous Contract - Cost of RaEtERIEITN BESL—ETELN
Fulfilling a Contract BIHERT 2%

Amendments to IAS 16 Property, Plant and BB @s ERIE 165, V% BEREE:
Equipment: Proceeds HMEE] TEREE FH 25 FTHY
before Intended Use Vg2

Amendments to IFRS 1, IFRS 9, Annual Improvements to BRI TEMEER B IR EER

IFRS 16 and IAS 41 IFRS Standards 2018- E15% - BRI —EF-JFE
2020 s LR 5% —E_FFY

BRM B REEN  FRAE
F165 R ER &5
R BLRAERT

Amendments to IFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual BRI SR HE R AER IR
Framework EIRMIEE]

The amendments to IFRSs that are effective from 1 January HE-ZE - —F— A —HEAMOBEERTB

2022 did not have significant financial effect on these ERANZETHZS RV BRRIE

consolidated financial statements. Impact on the applications BERUGHE - EAZSENST BRI 7

of these amended IFRSs are summarised below. HERAFZEBMMT o
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND

DISCLOSURES (continued)

Amendments to IAS 37: Onerous Contracts - Cost of
Fulfilling a Contract

IAS 37 defines an onerous contract as a contract in which
the unavoidable costs (costs that the Group has committed to
pursuant to the contract) of meeting the obligations under the
contract exceed the economic benefits expected to be received

under it.

The amendments to IAS 37.68A clarify, that the costs relating

directly to the contract consist of both:

o The incremental costs of fulfilling that contract - e.g.
direct labour and material; and

o An allocation of other costs that relate directly to
fulfilling contracts: e.g. Allocation of depreciation charge
on property, plant and equipment used in fulfilling the

contract.

The application of the amendments did not have any significant

impact on the consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment:
Proceeds before Intended Use

The amendment to IAS 16 prohibits an entity from deducting
from the cost of an item of property, plant and equipment any
proceeds received from selling items produced while the entity
is preparing the asset for its intended use (for example, the
proceeds from selling samples produced during the testing
phase of a manufacturing facility after it is being constructed
but before start of commercial production). The proceeds from
selling such samples, together with the costs of producing
them, are now recognised in profit or loss.

These amendments had no impact on the year-end
consolidated financial statements of the Group as there
were no sales of such items produced by property, plant and
equipment made available for use on or after the beginning of

the earliest period presented.
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (continued)
Amendments to IFRS 1, IFRS 9, IFRS 16 & IAS 41:
Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2018-2020

o IFRS 1: Subsidiary as a First-time Adopter (FTA)

J IFRS 9: Fees in the 10 per cent” Test for Derecognition of

Financial liabilities

o IAS 41: Taxation in Fair Value Measurements

The application of the amendments did not have any significant

impact on the consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to IFRS 3: Reference to the Conceptual
Framework

In May 2020, the IASB issued amendments to IFRS 3, which
update a reference to the Conceptual Framework for Financial
Reporting without changing the accounting requirements for
business combinations.
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2.3

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

There are a number of standards and amendments to

standards which have been issued by the IASB that are

effective in future accounting periods that the Group has

decided not to adopt early.

Amendments to IAS 1

Amendments to IAS 1

Amendments to IAS 1 and

|IFRS Practice Statement 2

Amendments to IAS 8

Amendments to IAS 12

Amendments to IFRS 10

and IAS 28

Amendments to IFRS 16

IFRS 17

Amendments to IFRS 17

Amendment to IFRS 17

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current?

Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants?

Disclosure of Accounting

Policies’

Definition of Accounting
Estimates’

Deferred Tax related to Assets
and Liabilities arising from
a Single Transaction’

Sale or Contribution of
Assets between an Investor
and its Associate or
Joint Venture?®

Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback?

Insurance Contracts’
Insurance Contracts’
Initial Application of IFRS 17

and IFRS 9 - Comparative

Information’

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023.

? Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024.
s Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be
determined.
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2.3

102

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)
Amendments to IAS 1 - Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current

The amendments clarify that the classification of liabilities as
current or non-current is based on rights that are in existence
at the end of the reporting period, specify that classification
is unaffected by expectations about whether an entity will
exercise its right to defer settlement of a liability and explain
that rights are in existence if covenants are complied with
at the end of the reporting period. The amendments also
introduce a definition of ‘settlement’ to make clear that
settlement refers to the transfer to the counterparty of cash,

equity instruments, other assets or services.

Amendments to IAS 1 - Non-current liabilities with
Covenants

The amendments clarify that only covenants with which an
entity must comply on or before the reporting date will affect
a liability’s classification as current or non-current. The
amendments do not require an entity to present separately
non-current liabilities for which the entity’'s right to defer
settlement is subject to compliance with future covenants
within twelve months. Instead, the amendments require
entities to disclose information about such covenants and
related liabilities in the notes.

Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2 -
Disclosure of Accounting Policies

The IASB amended IAS 1 to require entities to disclose their
material rather than their significant accounting policies.
The amendments define what is ‘material accounting policy
information” and explain how to identify when accounting policy
information is material. They further clarify that immaterial
accounting policy information does not need to be disclosed.
If it is disclosed, it should not obscure material accounting

information.

To support this amendment, the IASB also amended IFRS
Practice Statement 2 Making Materiality Judgements to
provide guidance on how to apply the concept of materiality to

accounting policy disclosures.
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2.3

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)
Amendments to IAS 8 - Definition of Accounting
Estimates

The amendments to IAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in
Accounting Estimates and Errors clarify how companies should
distinguish changes in accounting policies from changes in
accounting estimates. The distinction is important, because
changes in accounting estimates are applied prospectively to
future transactions and other future events, but changes in
accounting policies are generally applied retrospectively to
past transactions and other past events as well as the current

period.

Amendments to IAS 12 - Deferred Tax related to
Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction
The amendments to IAS 12 Income Taxes require companies
to recognise deferred tax on transactions that, on initial
recognition, give rise to equal amounts of taxable and
deductible temporary differences. They will typically apply to
transactions such as leases of lessees and decommissioning
obligations and will require the recognition of additional
deferred tax assets and liabilities.

The amendment should be applied to transactions that occur
on or after the beginning of the earliest comparative period
presented. In addition, entities should recognise deferred
tax assets (to the extent that it is probable that they can be
utilised) and deferred tax liabilities at the beginning of the
earliest comparative period for all deductible and taxable

temporary differences associated with:
. right-of-use assets and lease liabilities, and
. decommissioning, restoration and similar liabilities, and

the corresponding amounts recognised as part of the
cost of the related assets.
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2.3

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)
Amendments to IAS 12 - Deferred Tax related to
Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction
(continued)

The cumulative effect of recognising these adjustments is
recognised in retained earnings, or another component of

equity, as appropriate.

IAS 12 did not previously address how to account for the tax
effects of on-balance sheet leases and similar transactions
and various approaches were considered acceptable. Some
entities may have already accounted for such transactions
consistent with the new requirements. These entities will not

be affected by the amendments.

Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 - Contribution of
Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint
Venture

The amendments clarify with situations where there is a sale
or contribution of assets between an investor and its associate
or joint venture. When the transaction with an associate or
joint venture that is accounted for using the equity method,
any gains or losses resulting from the loss of control of a
subsidiary that does not contain a business are recognised
in the profit or loss only to the extent of the unrelated
investors’ interests in that associate or joint venture. Similarly,
any gains or losses resulting from the remeasurement of
retained interest in any former subsidiary (that has become
an associate or a joint venture) to fair value are recognised in
the profit or loss only to the extent of the unrelated investors’
interests in the new associate or joint venture.
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2.3

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)
Amendments to IFRS 16 - Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback

Amendments to IFRS 16 specify the requirements that a
seller-lessee uses in measuring the lease liability arising in
a sale and leaseback transaction, to ensure the seller-lessee
does not recognise any amount of the gain or loss that relates

to right of use it retains.

IFRS 17 - Insurance Contracts

The new standard establishes the principles for the
recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure
of insurance contracts and supersedes IFRS 4, Insurance
Contracts. The standard outlines a ‘General Model’, which
is modified for insurance contracts with direct participation
features, described as the Variable Fee Approach’. The
General Model is simplified if certain criteria are met by
measuring the liability for remaining coverage using the
Premium Allocation Approach.

The directors of the Company do not anticipate that the
application of the new standard and the amendments and
revision in the future will have an impact on the consolidated

financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
51 7% 3 7 Bt &
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred is measured at the
acquisition date fair value which is the sum of the acquisition
date fair values of assets transferred by the Group, liabilities
assumed by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree
and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for
control of the acquiree. For each business combination, the
Group elects whether to measure the non-controlling interests
in the acquiree that are present ownership interests and entitle
their holders to a proportionate share of net assets in the
event of liquidation at fair value or at the proportionate share
of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other components
of non-controlling interests are measured at fair value.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial
assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification
and designation in accordance with the contractual terms,
economic circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the
acquisition date. This includes the separation of embedded

derivatives in host contracts of the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
previously held equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition
date fair value and any resulting gain or loss is recognised in
profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer
is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent
consideration classified as an asset or liability is measured
at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or
loss. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is
not remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted for
within equity.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (continued)

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of
the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount
recognised for non-controlling interests and any fair value of
the Group's previously held equity interests in the acquiree over
the identifiable net assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If
the sum of this consideration and other items is lower than
the fair value of the net assets acquired, the difference is, after
reassessment, recognised in profit or loss as a gain on bargain

purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less
any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for
impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be
impaired. The Group performs its annual impairment test of
goodwill as at 31 December. For the purpose of impairment
testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from
the acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group's cash-
generating units, or groups of cash-generating units, that are
expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination,
irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the Group
are assigned to those units or groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating
units) to which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating
units) is less than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is
recognised. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not

reversed in a subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit
(or group of cash-generating units) and part of the operation
within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the
operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the
operation when determining the gain or loss on the disposal.
Goodwill disposed of in these circumstances is measured
based on the relative value of the operation disposed of and

the portion of the cash-generating unit retained.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
51 7% 3 7 Bt &
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (continued)

Changes in the Group’s interests in a subsidiary that do not
result in a loss of control of the subsidiary are accounted for
as equity transactions. The carrying amount of the Group’s
interests and the non-controlling interests are adjusted
to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the
subsidiaries. Any difference between the amount by which the
non-controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value of the
consideration paid or received is recognised directly in equity

and attributed to the owners of the Company.

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its equity investments and debt
investments at fair value at the end of each reporting period.
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date. The
fair value measurement is based on the presumption that the
transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place
either in the principal market for the asset or liability, or in
the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous
market for the asset or liability. The principal or the most
advantageous market must be accessible by the Group. The
fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the
assumptions that market participants would use when pricing
the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in

their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the
asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in
the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to
measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable

inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Fair value measurement (continued)

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or
disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within the
fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as

a whole:

Level T - based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level2 - based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is observable, either directly
or indirectly

Level3 - based on valuation techniques for which the

lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines
whether transfers have occurred between levels in the
hierarchy by reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as

a whole) at the end of each reporting period.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than
inventories, financial assets, deferred tax assets and goodwill),
the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s
recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s or cash-
generating unit's value in use and its fair value less costs of
disposal, and is determined for an individual asset, unless
the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely
independent of those from other assets or groups of assets,
in which case the recoverable amount is determined for the

cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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2.4

110

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets (continued)

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount
of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value
in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to
their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money and
the risks specific to the asset. An impairment loss is charged
to the statement of profit or loss in the period in which it arises
in those expense categories consistent with the function of the

impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period
as to whether there is an indication that previously recognised
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have
decreased. If such an indication exists, the recoverable amount
is estimated. A previously recognised impairment loss of an
asset other than goodwill is reversed only if there has been
a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable
amount of that asset, but not to an amount higher than the
carrying amount that would have been determined (net of
any depreciation/amortisation) had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of such an
impairment loss is credited to the statement of profit or loss in

the period in which it arises.

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@) the party is a person or a close member of that person’s
family and that person
0) has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management personnel of

the Group or of a parent of the Group;
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
Related parties (continued)

or

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following

conditions applies:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

the entity and the Group are members of the same

group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow
subsidiary of the other entity);

the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the

same third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or an
entity related to the Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent
of the entity); and

the entity, or any member of a group of which it
is a part, provides key management personnel

services to the Group or to the parent of the Group.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses. The
cost of an item of property, plant and equipment comprises its
purchase price and any directly attributable costs of bringing
the asset to its working condition and location for its intended

use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs and
maintenance, is normally charged to the statement of profit or
loss in the period in which it is incurred. In situations where
the recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a
major inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount of the
asset as a replacement. Where significant parts of property,
plant and equipment are required to be replaced at intervals,
the Group recognises such parts as individual assets with

specific useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write
off the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to
its residual value over its estimated useful life. The principal

annual rates used for this purpose are as follows:

shorter of 33.3% or

the lease term

Leasehold improvements

Equipment 33.3%
Motor vehicles 33.3%
Others 33.3%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a
reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated
separately. Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation
method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at

each financial year end.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(continued)

An item of property, plant and equipment, including any
significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or
retirement recognised in the statement of profit or loss in the
year the asset is derecognised is the difference between the
net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant

asset.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial
recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired
in a business combination is the fair value at the date of
acquisition. The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed
to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite
lives are subsequently amortised over the useful economic life
and assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication
that the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation
period and the amortisation method for an intangible asset
with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at each financial

year end.

Technology know-how

Technology know-how is stated at cost less any impairment
losses and is amortised on the straight-line basis over its
estimated useful life of 10 years.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill) (continued)
Research and development costs

All research costs are charged to the statement of profit or

loss as incurred.

Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new products is
capitalised and deferred only when the Group can demonstrate
the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so
that it will be available for use or sale, its intention to complete
and its ability to use or sell the asset, how the asset will
generate future economic benefits, the availability of resources
to complete the project and the ability to measure reliably the
expenditure during the development. Product development
expenditure which does not meet these criteria is expensed
when incurred.

Investment property

Investment property is property held either to earn rentals or
for capital appreciation or for both, but not held for sale in the
ordinary course of business, use in the production or supply of
goods or services or for administrative purposes. Investment
property is measured at cost on initial recognition and
subsequently at fair value with any change therein recognised

in profit or loss.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or
when the investment property is permanently withdrawn
from use and no future economic benefits are expected from
the disposal. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of
the property, calculated as the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset is
included in profit or loss in the period in which the property is

derecognised.

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract
is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the
contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified

asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
Leases (continued)
Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement

approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and

leases of low-value assets. The Group recognises lease

liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use assets

representing the right to use the underlying assets.

(a)

Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the
commencement date of the lease (that is the date the
underlying asset is available for use). Right-of-use
assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses, and adjusted
for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost
of right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease
liabilities recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and
lease payments made at or before the commencement
date less any lease incentives received. Right-of-use
assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the
shorter of the lease terms and the estimated useful lives
of the assets as follows:
Buildings 1 to 4 years
If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group
by the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the
exercise of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated

using the estimated useful life of the asset.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
Leases (continued)
Group as a lessee (continued)
(b) Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease at the present value of lease payments
to be made over the lease term. The lease payments
include fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments) less any lease incentives receivable, variable
lease payments that depend on an index or a rate,
and amounts expected to be paid under residual value
guarantees. The lease payments also include the
exercise price of a purchase option reasonably certain
to be exercised by the Group and payments of penalties
for termination of a lease, if the lease term reflects the
Group exercising the option to terminate. The variable
lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate
are recognised as an expense in the period in which the

event or condition that triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments,
the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the
lease commencement date because the interest rate
implicit in the lease is not readily determinable. After the
commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is
increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced
for the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying
amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a
modification, a change in the lease term, a change in
lease payments (e.g., a change to future lease payments
resulting from a change in an index or rate) or a change

in assessment of an option to purchase the underlying

asset.

The Group's lease liabilities are included in interest-

bearing bank and other borrowings.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Leases (continued)

Group as a lessee (continued)

(c)  Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets
The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to its short-term leases of machinery and
equipment (that is those leases that have a lease term
of 12 months or less from the commencement date and
do not contain a purchase option). It also applies the
recognition exemption for leases of low-value assets to
leases of office equipment and laptop computers that
are considered to be of low value. Lease payments on
short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are
recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over
the lease term.

The Group as a lessor

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms
of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the leased assets to the lessee. All other leases

are classified as operating leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit
or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant
lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging
an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the
leased asset and recognised as an expense on the straight-

line basis over the lease term.

Any changes in the scope of the consideration for a lease that
was not part of the original terms and conditions of the lease
are accounted for as lease modifications. The Group accounts
for a modification to an operating lease as a new lease
from the effective date of the modification, recognising the
remaining lease payments as income on a either a straight-
line basis or another systematic basis over the remaining

lease term.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value through
other comprehensive income, and fair value through profit or

loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset's contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group’s business model for managing
them. With the exception of trade receivables that do not
contain a significant financing component or for which the
Group has applied the practical expedient of not adjusting
the effect of a significant financing component, the Group
initially measures a financial asset at its fair value, plus in
the case of a financial asset not at fair value through profit or
loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables that do not contain
a significant financing component or for which the Group
has applied the practical expedient are measured at the
transaction price determined under IFRS 15 in accordance

with the policies set out for “"Revenue recognition” below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured
at amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive
income, it needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest ("SPPI”) on the principal
amount outstanding. Financial assets with cash flows that are
not SPPI are classified and measured at fair value through

profit or loss, irrespective of the business model.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Initial recognition and measurement (continued)

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets
refers to how it manages its financial assets in order to
generate cash flows. The business model determines whether
cash flows will result from collecting contractual cash flows,
selling the financial assets, or both. Financial assets classified
and measured at amortised cost are held within a business
model with the objective to hold financial assets in order to
collect contractual cash flows, while financial assets classified
and measured at fair value through other comprehensive
income are held within a business model with the objective
of both holding to collect contractual cash flows and selling.
Financial assets which are not held within the aforementioned
business models are classified and measured at fair value

through profit or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases
or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the period generally established by
regulation or convention in the marketplace.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on

their classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently
measured using the effective interest method and are subject
to impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss when the asset is

derecognised, modified or impaired.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Financial asset designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income (equity investment)

Upon initial recognition, the Group can elect to classify
irrevocably its equity investment as equity investment
designated at fair value through other comprehensive income
when they meet the definition of equity under IAS 32 Financial
Instruments: Presentation and are not held for trading. The
classification is determined on an instrument-by-instrument

basis.

Gains and losses on these financial assets are never recycled
to the consolidated statement of profit or loss. Dividends are
recognised as other income in the statement of profit or loss
when the right of payment has been established, it is probable
that the economic benefits associated with the dividend will
flow to the Group and the amount of the dividend can be
measured reliably, except when the Group benefits from such
proceeds as a recovery of part of the cost of the financial asset,
in which case, such gains are recorded in other comprehensive
income. Equity investments designated at fair value through
other comprehensive income are not subject to impairment

assessment.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried
in the consolidated statement of financial position at fair value
with net changes in fair value recognised in the consolidated

statement of profit or loss.

This category includes equity investments which the Group
had not irrevocably elected to classify at fair value through
other comprehensive income. Dividends on equity investments
classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss are also recognised as other income in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss when the right of payment has
been established, it is probable that the economic benefits
associated with the dividend will flow to the Group and the

amount of the dividend can be measured reliably.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily
derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’'s consolidated

statement of financial position) when:

o the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have

expired; or

o the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation to
pay the received cash flows in full without material delay
to a third party under a “pass-through” arrangement;
and either (a) the Group has transferred substantially
all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group
has neither transferred nor retained substantially all
the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred

control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through
arrangement, it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has retained
the risk and rewards of ownership of the asset. When it has
neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset,
the Group continues to recognise the transferred asset to the
extent of the Group’s continuing involvement. In that case, the
Group also recognises an associated liability. The transferred
asset and the associated liability are measured on a basis that

reflects the rights and obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over
the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original
carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of
consideration that the Group could be required to repay.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses
("ECLs") for all debt instruments not held at fair value through
profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the
contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract and
all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted
at an approximation of the original effective interest rate. The
expected cash flows will include cash flows from the sale of
collateral held or other credit enhancements that are integral

to the contractual terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for
which there has not been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses
that result from default events that are possible within the next
12 months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for
which there has been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit losses
expected over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective
of the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit
risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly
since initial recognition. When making the assessment,
the Group compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a
default occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of
initial recognition and considers reasonable and supportable
information that is available without undue cost or effort,

including historical and forward-looking information.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

General approach (continued)

The Group considers a financial asset in default when
contractual payments are 90 days past due. However, in
certain cases, the Group may also consider a financial
asset to be in default when internal or external information
indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding
contractual amounts in full before taking into account any
credit enhancements held by the Group. A financial asset
is written off when there is no reasonable expectation of

recovering the contractual cash flows.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to impairment
under the general approach and they are classified within the
following stages for measurement of ECLs except for trade
receivables which apply the simplified approach as detailed
below.

Stage 1 - Financial instruments for which credit
risk has not increased significantly since
initial recognition and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal
to 12-month ECLs

Stage 2 - Financial instruments for which credit risk
has increased significantly since initial
recognition but that are not credit-impaired
financial assets and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal
to lifetime ECLs

Stage 3 - Financial assets that are credit-impaired
at the reporting date (but that are not
purchased or originated credit-impaired) and
for which the loss allowance is measured at
an amount equal to lifetime ECLs
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Simplified approach

For trade receivables and contract assets that do not contain a
significant financing component or when the Group applies the
practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant
financing component, the Group applies the simplified
approach in calculating ECLs. Under the simplified approach,
the Group does not track changes in credit risk, but instead
recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each
reporting date. The Group has established a provision matrix
that is based on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted
for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the

economic environment.

For trade receivables that contain a significant financing
component, the Group chooses as its accounting policy to
adopt the simplified approach in calculating ECLs with policies
as described above.

Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as
loans and borrowings, and payables.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value
and, in the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of
directly attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade payables,
financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals,
the debt element of convertible bond issued by the Group and

interest-bearing bank and other borrowings.

1 24 InvesTech Holdings Limited B ZRER A

24 EXEFHBERE (%)

SREERME (&)

L%
RTEEEABMEMAKIT D HNE S EKRK
BEREHNEE NEASEERERHET
AREARMEBOZENBERNS  ~5E
EEEEPEEHEBRBEE - RIEE
b AEBVEEREERRNES M
RS WE BRI A Al 5 A HIR &) 78 27
EEBEEBREERE AEECREEB
TEEBBERE R EHBEE  WRKRER
AN ERBNE AR AR

HEEEAREBHNESHKHETE
R R B LA TR B 13 B
kB RE

ERAE
CRHABEVNIHARAIDBRERLE
& K R -

FrEERABERTZERE LA A EER
8 mER R ER RN RAERG R E
B BRKA

AEBzeRABREEZERNIE FA
HEMNRELETERZERAE KK
BMETHARRESNEB LD ARG E
RITREAMER-



2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Financial liabilities (continued)

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends

on their classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

After initial recognition, financial liabilities at amortised cost
are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest rate method unless the effect of discounting
would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.
Gains and losses are recognised in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well

as through the effective interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that
are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The effective
interest rate amortisation is included in finance costs in the

consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial liabilities
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under
the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the
terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such
an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of
the original liability and a recognition of a new liability, and
the difference between the respective carrying amounts is

recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net
amount is reported in the consolidated statement of financial
position if there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset
the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on
a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously.
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2.4

126

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Financial liabilities (continued)

Convertible bond

Convertible bond issued by the Group that contain both
the debt and conversion option components are classified
separately into their respective items on initial recognition.
Conversion option that will be settled by the exchange of a
fixed amount of cash or another financial asset for a fixed
number of the Company's own equity instruments is classified

as an equity instrument.

On initial recognition, the fair value of the debt component is
determined using the prevailing market interest rate of similar
non-convertible debts. The difference between the proceeds
of the issue of the convertible loan and the fair value assigned
to the debt component, representing the conversion option for
the holder to convert the bond into equity, is included in equity

(convertible bond equity reserve).

In subsequent periods, the debt component of the convertible
bond is carried at amortised cost using the effective interest
method. The equity component, represented by the option
to convert the debt component into ordinary shares of the
Company, will remain in convertible bond equity reserve until
the embedded option is exercised (in which case the balance
stated in convertible bond equity reserve will be transferred
to share capital and share premium. Where the option
remains unexercised at the expiry dates, the balance stated in
convertible bond equity reserve will be released to the retained
earnings. No gain or loss is recognised upon conversion or

expiration of the option.

Transaction costs that relate to the issue of the convertible
bond are allocated to the debt and equity components in
proportion to the allocation of the proceeds. Transaction costs
relating to the equity component are charged directly to equity.
Transaction costs relating to the debt component are included
in the carrying amount of the liability portion and amortised
over the period of the convertible bond using the effective

interest method.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued
operations
0] Non-current assets (or disposal groups) are classified as

held for sale when:

they are available for immediate sale;

o management is committed to a plan to sell;

. it is unlikely that significant changes to the plan
will be made or that the plan will be withdrawn;

o an active programme to locate a buyer has been

initiated;

o the asset or disposal group is being marketed at

reasonable price in relation to its fair value; and

° a sale is expected to be completed within 12

months from the date of classification
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued
operations (continued)

0] (continued)

128

Non-current assets (or disposal groups) classified as

held for sale are measured at the lower of:

o their carrying amount immediately prior to being

classified as held for sale in accordance with the

Group’s accounting policy; and

. fair value less costs to sell.

Following their classification as held for sale, non-
current assets (including those in a disposal group) are

not depreciated.

The results of operations disposed of during the year are

included in profit or loss up to the date of disposal.

(i) Discontinued operations

A discontinued operation is a component of the Group's
business, the operations and cash flows of which can
be clearly distinguished from the rest of the Group and
which represents a separate major line of business or
geographical area of operations, or is a part of a single
co-ordinated plan to dispose of a separate major line
of business or geographical area of operations, or is a

subsidiary acquired exclusively with a view to resale.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued
operations (continued)

(i) Discontinued operations (continued)

Classification as a discontinued operation occurs upon
disposal or when the operation meets the criteria to be
classified as held for sale, if earlier. It also occurs if the

operation is abandoned.

Where an operation is classified as discontinued, a single
amount is presented on the face of the consolidated
statement of profit or loss, which comprises the post-tax
profit or loss of the discontinued operation and post-tax
gain or loss recognised on the measurement to fair value
less costs to sell, or on the disposal, of the assets or
disposal group constituting the discontinued operation.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined on the first-in, first-out basis and,
in the case of work in progress and finished goods, comprises
direct materials, direct labour and an appropriate proportion of
overheads. Net realisable value is based on estimated selling
prices less any estimated costs to be incurred to completion

and disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand
deposits, and short term highly liquid investments that are
readily convertible into known amounts of cash, are subject
to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a short
maturity of generally within three months when acquired, less
bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an
integral part of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial
position, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand
and at banks, including term deposits and assets similar in

nature to cash, which are not restricted as to use.
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2.4

130

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is
probable that a future outflow of resources will be required to
settle the obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be

made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the end of
the reporting period of the future expenditures expected to be
required to settle the obligation. The increase in the discounted
present value amount arising from the passage of time is

included in finance costs in the statement of profit or loss.

The Group provides for warranties in relation to the sale of
certain products for general repairs of defects occurring
during the warranty period. Provisions for these assurance-
type warranties granted by the Group are recognised based on
past experience of the level of repairs and returns, discounted

to their present values as appropriate.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax
relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised
outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation
authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period, taking into consideration interpretations and practices

prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.

InvesTech Holdings Limited B ZRER A

24 EXEFHBERE (%)

B

RBESEHELERKER OATH#ET) -
MAKAIGEREERR D AERES A%
BRSPS S RRE A SEfaT iy RIRERB A -

TR EER M HINBERBR®
EHRBEHNEEEHABHORKIHIR
B-BERREIRAME NN RRESERE
mR AR EE KA -

AEBE L REMA LR OREND —RIER
EHANEES TEMMNREFELERE -
7R B PR A 7% F R R BUAR B T F th B9
Bim DB ENEE M RERLER X
HEENBER T IREHRE.

R

PSR B 1R AV MO IR - BRAE 1R a5 A
SMNERREVIA B M FT IS BE D Eo Al 2 i as
K E E N AR

B EEERABRBHEMEHAR
(2] 3% 1) 752 765 14 B S A< 9 8RR - L ARAR IR 3R
HIREBMAERBEMOFRE (RBX)
B UREBEASELEMEERNRE
RER -



2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
Income tax (continued)
Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary

differences, except:

o when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and, at the
time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting

profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

o in respect of taxable temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, when the timing of the
reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled
and it is probable that the temporary differences will not

reverse in the foreseeable future.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, and the carryforward of unused tax credits and
any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to
the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available
against which the deductible temporary differences, the
carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can
be utilised, except:

o when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition
of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a
business combination and, at the time of the transaction,
affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or
loss; and

J in respect of deductible temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, deferred tax assets are
only recognised to the extent that it is probable that the
temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable
future and taxable profit will be available against which

the temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be
available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be
utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at
the end of each reporting period and are recognised to the
extent that it has become probable that sufficient taxable profit
will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to

be recovered.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset
is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax
laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if
and only if the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off
current tax assets and current tax liabilities and the deferred
tax assets and deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes
levied by the same taxation authority on either the same
taxable entity or different taxable entities which intend either
to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or to
realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously, in
each future period in which significant amounts of deferred tax

liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or recovered.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised where there is reasonable
assurance that the grant will be received and all attaching
conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates to
an expense item, it is recognised as income on a systematic
basis over the periods that the costs, which it is intended to
compensate, are expensed.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when
control of goods or services is transferred to the customers at
an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group

expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable
amount, the amount of consideration is estimated to which
the Group will be entitled in exchange for transferring the
goods or services to the customer. The variable consideration
is estimated at contract inception and constrained until it
is highly probable that significant revenue reversal in the
amount of cumulative revenue recognised will not occur when
the associated uncertainty with the variable consideration is

subsequently resolved.

When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the customer with a significant benefit of financing
the transfer of goods or services to the customer for more
than one year, revenue is measured at the present value of
the amount receivable, discounted using the discount rate
that would be reflected in a separate financing transaction
between the Group and the customer at contract inception.
When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the Group a significant financial benefit for more than
one year, revenue recognised under the contract includes the
interest expense accreted on the contract liability under the
effective interest method. For a contract where the period
between the payment by the customer and the transfer of the
promised goods or services is one year or less, the transaction
price is not adjusted for the effects of a significant financing
component, using the practical expedient in IFRS 15.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

(a)  Sale of goods
Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised at the
point in time when control of the asset is transferred
to the customer, generally on delivery of the goods by
customers. Invoices are usually payable within 30 to 90
days.

(b)  Rendering of services
() Installation services
The Group provides installation services that are
either sold separately or bundled together with
the sale of goods to a customer. The installation
services can be obtained from other providers and

do not significantly customise or modify the goods.

Contracts for bundled sales of goods and
installation services are comprised of two
performance obligations because the promises to
transfer the goods and provide installation services
are capable of being distinct and separately
identifiable. Accordingly, the transaction price is
allocated based on the relative stand-alone selling
prices of the goods and installation services.

Invoices are usually payable within 30 to 90 days.

Revenue from installation services is recognised
over time, using an input method to measure
progress towards complete satisfaction of the
service, because the Group's performance creates
or enhances an asset that the customer controls as
the asset is created or enhanced. The input method
recognises revenue based on the proportion of the
actual costs incurred relative to the estimated total

costs for satisfaction of the installation services.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
Revenue recognition (continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)
(b)  Rendering of services (continued)
(i)  Maintenance services
Revenue from the provision of maintenance
services is recognised over the scheduled period
on a straight-line basis because the customer
simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits
provided by the Group.

(i) Construction contracts for communication network
infrastructure
The Group provides design and build data network
infrastructure services to customers. Such contract
with a customer relates to work on infrastructure
under the control of the customer and therefore
the Group’'s construction activities create or
enhance an asset under the customer’s control.

Invoices are usually payable within 30 to 90 days.

The progress towards complete satisfaction of
a performance obligation is measured based on
output method, which is to recognise revenue on
the basis of direct measurements of the value of
the goods or services transferred to the customer
to date relative to the remaining goods or services
promised under the contract, that best depict the
Group’'s performance in transferring control of

goods or services for the related project.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
Revenue recognition (continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)
(b)  Rendering of services (continued)
(iv)  Construction contracts for smart city and smart IT-
related projects
The Group provides design and build smart city
and smart IT-related services to customers.
Such contract with a customer relates to work on
infrastructure under the control of the customer
and therefore the Group’s construction activities
create or enhance an asset under the customer’s

control. Invoices are usually payable within 14 days.

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a
performance obligation is measured based on input
method, which is to recognise revenue based on
the proportion of the actual costs incurred relative
to the estimated total costs for satisfaction of the
construction services, that best depict the Group's
performance in transferring control of goods or

services for the related project.

Income from other sources

Interest income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the
effective interest method by applying the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the expected
life of the financial instrument or a shorter period, when

appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Contract costs
The Group recognises an asset from the costs incurred to fulfil

a contract when those costs meet all of the following criteria:

(a)  the costs relate directly to a contract or to an anticipated

contract that the entity can specifically identify;

(b)  the costs generate or enhance resources of the entity
that will be used in satisfying (or in continuing to satisfy)

performance obligations in the future; and

(c)  the costs are expected to be recovered.

The asset recognised is subsequently amortised to profit or
loss on a systematic basis that is consistent with the transfer
to the customer of the goods or services to which the cost

relate. The asset is subject to impairment review.

Incremental costs of obtaining a contract are those costs that
the Group incurs to obtain a contract with a customer that it
would not have incurred if the contract had not been obtained
e.g. an incremental sales commission. Incremental costs of
obtaining a contract are capitalised when incurred if the costs
relate to revenue which will be recognised in a future reporting
period and the costs are expected to be recovered. Other costs
of obtaining a contract are expensed when incurred.

The Group applies the practical expedient in IFRS 15 and
recognises the incremental costs of obtaining contracts
relating to the sales of goods and services as an expense when
incurred if the amortisation period of the assets that the Group
otherwise would have recognised is within the same reporting
period as the date of entering into the contract.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Contract assets and liabilities

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to consideration
in exchange for services that the Group has transferred to a
customer that is not yet unconditional. In contrast, a receivable
represents the Group’s unconditional right to consideration,
i.e. only the passage of time is required before payment of that

consideration is due.

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received or
a payment is due (whichever is earlier) from a customer before
the Group transfers the related goods or services. Contract
liabilities are recognised as revenue when the Group performs
under the contract (i.e., transfers control of the related goods

or services to the customer).

Contract asset is recognised when the Group completes the
delivery under such services contracts but yet certified by
customers. Any amount previously recognised as a contract
asset is reclassified to trade receivables at the point at which
the delivery is certified by customer. If the considerations
(including advances received from customers) exceeds the
revenue recognised to date under the output method then the

Group recognises a contract liability for the difference.

Share-based payments

The Company operates share option schemes for the purpose
of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants
who contribute to the success of the Group's operations.
Employees (including directors) of the Group and the service
providers receive remuneration and fee in the form of share-
based payments, whereby employees and the service providers
render services as consideration for equity instruments

(“equity-settled transactions”).
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Share-based payments (continued)

The cost of equity-settled transactions is measured by
reference to the fair value at the date at which they are
granted. The fair value is determined by an external valuer
using a binomial model, further details of which are given in

note 32 to the consolidated financial statements.

The cost of equity-settled transactions to the employees and
service providers are recognised in employee benefit expense
and administrative expense, together with a corresponding
increase in equity, over the period in which the performance
and/or service conditions are fulfilled. The cumulative expense
recognised for equity-settled transactions at the end of each
reporting period until the vesting date reflects the extent
to which the vesting period has expired and the Group’s
best estimate of the number of equity instruments that will
ultimately vest. The charge or credit to the statement of profit
or loss for a period represents the movement in the cumulative

expense recognised as at the beginning and end of that period.

Service and non-market performance conditions are not
taken into account when determining the grant date fair
value of awards, but the likelihood of the conditions being
met is assessed as part of the Group's best estimate of the
number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. Market
performance conditions are reflected within the grant date fair
value. Any other conditions attached to an award, but without
an associated service requirement, are considered to be non-
vesting conditions. Non-vesting conditions are reflected in the
fair value of an award and lead to an immediate expensing of
an award unless there are also service and/or performance

conditions.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Share-based payments (continued)

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market
performance and/or service conditions have not been met,
no expense is recognised. Where awards include a market or
non-vesting condition, the transactions are treated as vesting
irrespective of whether the market or non-vesting condition is
satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or service
conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as
a minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not
been modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In
addition, an expense is recognised for any modification that
increases the total fair value of the share-based payments, or
is otherwise beneficial to the employee as measured at the

date of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as
if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense
not yet recognised for the award is recognised immediately.
This includes any award where non-vesting conditions within
the control of either the Group or the employee are not met.
However, if a new award is substituted for the cancelled award,
and is designated as a replacement award on the date that it
is granted, the cancelled and new awards are treated as if they
were a modification of the original award, as described in the
previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as
additional share dilution in the computation of earnings per
share.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Other employee benefits

Pension scheme

The employees of the Group's subsidiaries which operate in
Mainland China are required to participate in a central pension
scheme operated by the local municipal government. These
subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain percentage
of their payroll costs to the central pension scheme. The
contributions are charged to the statement of profit or loss
as they become payable in accordance with the rules of the

central pension scheme.

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “"MPF Scheme”)
under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for
all of its employees in Hong Kong. Contributions are made
based on a percentage of the employees basic salaries and
are charged to the consolidated statement of profit or loss as
they become payable in accordance with the rules of the MPF
Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately
from those of the Group in an independently administered
fund. The Group’'s employer contributions vest fully with the

employees when contributed into the MPF Scheme.

For the defined contribution schemes of the Group, the
forfeited contributions (by employers on behalf of employees
who leave the scheme prior to vesting fully in such
contributions) would not be used by the employer to reduce

the existing level of contribution.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready
for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the
cost of those assets. The capitalisation of such borrowing
costs ceases when the assets are substantially ready for
their intended use or sale. Investment income earned on
the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending
their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the
borrowing costs capitalised. All other borrowing costs are
expensed in the period in which they are incurred. Borrowing
costs consist of interest and other costs that an entity incurs in

connection with the borrowing of funds.

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are
approved by the shareholders in a general meeting. Proposed
final dividends are disclosed in the notes to the consolidated

financial statements.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared,
because the Company’'s Memorandum and Articles of
Association grant the directors the authority to declare interim
dividends. Consequently, interim dividends are recognised

immediately as a liability when they are proposed and declared.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in RMB, which is
the Company's presentation currency. The Company, which
was incorporated in the Cayman lIslands and continued in
Bermuda, determines the HK$ as its functional currency. As
the Group mainly operates in Mainland China, RMB is used
as the presentation currency of the Company. Each entity
in the Group determines its own functional currency and
items included in the financial statements of each entity are
measured using that functional currency. Foreign currency
transactions recorded by the entities in the Group are initially
recorded using their respective functional currency rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets
and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated
at the functional currency rates of exchange ruling at the end
of the reporting period. Differences arising on settlement or
translation of monetary items are recognised in the statement

of profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary
items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are
translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair
value was measured. The gain or loss arising on translation of
a non-monetary item measured at fair value is treated in line
with the recognition of the gain or loss on change in fair value
of the item (i.e., translation difference on the item whose fair
value gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive income
or profit or loss is also recognised in other comprehensive

income or profit or loss, respectively).
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currencies (continued)

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of the
related asset, expense or income on the derecognition of a
non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability relating to an
advance consideration, the date of initial transaction is the
date on which the Group initially recognises the non-monetary
asset or non-monetary liability arising from the advance
consideration. If there are multiple payments or receipts in
advance, the Group determines the transaction date for each

payment or receipt of the advance consideration.

The functional currencies of certain subsidiaries are
currencies other than RMB. As at the end of the reporting
period, the assets and liabilities of these entities are translated
into RMB at the exchange rates prevailing at the end of the
reporting period and their statements of profit or loss are
translated into RMB at the weighted average exchange rates
for the year.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the foreign
currency translation reserve. On disposal of a foreign
operation, the component of other comprehensive income
relating to that particular foreign operation is recognised in the

consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation
and any fair value adjustments to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities arising on acquisition are treated as
assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and translated at
the closing rate.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s consolidated financial
statements requires management to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts
of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and their
accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent
liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates
could result in outcomes that could require a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities

affected in the future.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group's accounting policies,
management has made the following judgements, apart from
those involving estimations, which have the most significant
effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial

statements:

Recognition of deferred tax liabilities for withholding taxes
Deferred tax liabilities should be recognised for withholding
tax levied on dividends declared to foreign investors from
the foreign investment enterprises established in Mainland
China. Significant management judgement is required to
determine the amount of deferred tax liabilities that can be
recognised, based upon the probability that dividends would
be declared. The Group is of the view that it is able to fully
control the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference
arising from dividend distribution of these subsidiaries and it
is not probable that these subsidiaries will make such profit
distribution in the foreseeable future. Therefore, the Group has
not recognised any deferred tax liability for withholding taxes
as at 31 December 2022 and 2021.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

Judgements (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group applied the following judgements that affect the
determination of the amount of revenue from contracts with

customers:

Measurement of value of construction works for
communication networks infrastructure

The management measure the value of completed
construction works for communication networks infrastructure
based on output method, which is to recognise revenue on
the basis of direct measurement of the value of construction
work transferred to the customer to date relative to the
remaining construction works promised to be completed
under the construction contract. The management’s estimate
of revenue and the completion status of construction works
requires significant judgement and has a significant impact
on the amount and timing of revenue recognised. The Group
has the qualified surveyors to periodically measure the value
of the construction work completed for each construction
projects and issue the internal construction progress reports.
The construction works performed by the Group would also
be certified by the independent quantity surveyors periodically
according to the construction contracts. The Group regularly
reviews and revises the estimation of contract revenue
prepared for each construction contract as the contract
progresses based on the internal construction progress
reports and the certification issued by the independent quantity

surveyors.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

Judgements (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)
Measurement of value of construction works for smart city and
smart IT-related services

The management measure the value of completed
construction works for smart city and smart IT-related
services based on input method, which is to recognise revenue
on the basis of the Group’s efforts or inputs to the satisfaction
of a performance obligation relative to the total expected
inputs to the satisfaction of that performance obligation, that
best depict the Group’s performance in transferring control of
goods or services for the related project. The management’s
estimate of revenue and the completion status of construction
works requires significant judgement and has a significant
impact on the amount and timing of revenue recognised. The
Group estimates total contract costs of construction works,
which mainly comprise costs for product cost, labour costs
and subcontracting fees, based on quotations from time to
time provided by the major subcontractors/suppliers/vendors
and the experience of the management of the Group, which
involve management’s best estimates and judgements. The
actual outcome of the contract in terms of its total revenue
and budget costs may be higher or lower than the estimates
and this would affect the revenue and profit recognised.
If the price of product cost or the wages of labour or the
subcontracting fees varies significantly in the coming months
from the budgets, the contract profit of the project will differ
significantly from the estimated contract profit. If estimated
costs exceed contract revenue, a contract loss will be

recognised.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities

within the next financial year, are described below.

Provision for expected credit losses on trade receivables

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for trade
receivables. The provision rates are based on days past due
for groupings of various customer categories that have similar
loss patterns (i.e., by geographical region, product type,
customer type and rating and coverage by letters of credit or

other forms of credit issuance).

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group's
historical payment profile of the trade receivables. The Group
will calibrate the matrix to adjust the historical credit loss
experience with forward-looking information. For instance, if
forecast economic conditions (i.e., gross domestic products)
are expected to deteriorate over the next year which can lead to
an increased number of defaults in the manufacturing sector,
the historical default rates are adjusted. At each reporting
date, the historical observed default rates are updated and

changes in the forward-looking estimates are analysed.

The assessment of the correlation among historical observed
default rates, forecast economic conditions and ECLs is
a significant estimate. The amount of ECLs is sensitive to
changes in circumstances and forecast economic conditions.
The Group’s historical credit loss experience and forecast
of economic conditions may also not be representative of a
customer’s actual default in the future. The information about
the ECLs on the Group’s trade receivables is disclosed in note

22 to the consolidated financial statements.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least
on an annual basis. This requires an estimation of the value
in use of the cash-generating unit to which the goodwill is
allocated. Estimating the value in use requires the Group to
make an estimate of the expected future cash flows from
the cash-generating unit and also a suitable discount rate to
calculate the present value of those cash flows. The carrying
amount of goodwill at 31 December 2022 was RMB134,952,000
(2021: 134,952,000). Further details are set out in note 16 to

the consolidated financial statements.

Impairment of non-financial assets (other than goodwill)

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of
impairment for all non-financial assets (including the right-
of-use assets) at the end of each reporting period. Non-
financial assets are tested for impairment when there are
indicators that the carrying amounts may not be recoverable.
An impairment exists when the carrying value of an asset or
a cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount, which
is the higher of its fair value less costs of disposal and its
value in use. The value-in-use calculation requires the Group
to estimate the future cash flows expected to arise from the
cash-generating unit and a suitable discount rate in order to
calculate the present value. Where the actual future cash flows
are less than expected, a material impairment loss may arise.

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences and unused tax losses to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profit will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses can
be utilised. Significant management’s judgement is required
to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be
recognised, based upon the likely timing and level of future
taxable profits together with future tax planning strategies.
Further details are set out in note 18 to the consolidated

financial statements.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Fair value measurement of debt and equity investments
Where fair value of debt and equity investments cannot be
derived from active markets, they are determined using
valuation techniques. The inputs used in the valuation are
taken from observable markets where possible, but where
this is not feasible, a degree of judgement is required in
establishing fair values. This valuation requires the Group
to make estimates about expected factors which may have
impact on the fair value of the debt and equity investments and
the discount for lack of marketability, liquidity and control and
hence they are subject to uncertainty. Changes in assumptions
about these factors could affect the reported fair value of
debt and equity investments. The Group's debt investment
at fair value through profit or loss at 31 December 2022 was
approximately RMB1,270,000 (2021: RMB12,530,000), equity
investment at fair value through profit or loss at 31 December
2022 was approximately RMB13,452,000 (2021: RMB2,880,000)
and the Group’s unlisted equity investment, which was
accounted for as a financial asset at fair value through
other comprehensive income as at 31 December 2022, was
approximately RMB19,037,000 (2021: RMB40,086,000). Further
details are included in notes 19, 24 and 25 to the consolidated

financial statements.

Fair value measurement of investment properties

As described in note 13, the investment properties were
revalued by independent professional valuers as at 31
December 2022. Such valuations were based on certain
assumptions, which are subject to uncertainty.

3.
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TESTH AR MG (@)
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— T HIEr o ST ER A EE R AT e (E
BREARE RN EERR TS RBME
MENME S RIEHIMITENTE AR Z#ET
et Bt He ST REREMFE-8
BZEREBENE e EEBER
AEENERARBE- RZE-__F+=
A=+—RAZAEBZ AR EEFAER
RMEBRELN B ARE1270,000T (=ZF
—— % AR®12530,0000T) R-FT - —
FrZA=1+—BZEAREBEIT AEBZ
AR E ) B AR 13,452,000 (= F
——F: AR#2880,00) MR- E - —
F+ZA=+—B2Z2AEEIERARE
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31 December 2022
—E-—fFf - A=+—H

152

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Leases - Estimating the incremental borrowing rate

The Group cannot readily determine the interest rate implicit
in a lease, and therefore, it uses an incremental borrowing
rate ("IBR") to measure lease liabilities. The IBR is the rate
of interest that the Group would have to pay to borrow over a
similar term, and with a similar security, the funds necessary
to obtain an asset of a similar value to the right-of-use
asset in a similar economic environment. The IBR therefore
reflects what the Group “would have to pay”, which requires
estimation when no observable rates are available (such as
for subsidiaries that do not enter into financing transactions)
or when it needs to be adjusted to reflect the terms and
conditions of the lease (for example, when leases are not in
the subsidiary’s functional currency). The Group estimates the
IBR using observable inputs (such as market interest rates)
when available and is required to make certain entity-specific

estimates (such as the subsidiary’s stand-alone credit rating).

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Management monitors the results of the Group's operating
segments separately for the purpose of making decisions
about resources allocation and performance assessment. After
the disposal of the Group’s money lending segment and during
the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group’s chief operating
decision makers, also being the directors, reorganised its
internal reporting structure which resulted in changes to the
composition of its reportable segment information reported,
for the purposes of resources allocation and assessment
focus on revenue analysis by products and services in the
communication system business. No other discrete financial
information is provided except for the Group's results and
financial position as a whole. Accordingly, only entity-wide
disclosures including geographic information are presented.
Prior year's segment disclosures have been re-presented to

conform with the current year’s presentation.

InvesTech Holdings Limited B ZRER A
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4.

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)
Geographical information
(a) Revenue from external customers

Mainland China

Vietnam

Hong Kong

United States of America

Other countries/regions

B A3

R

FE

ESE
HiBER, R

The revenue information above is based on the locations

of the customers.

(b) Non-current assets

Mainland China
Hong Kong
Vietnam

B A
B
i

The non-current asset information above is based on

the locations of the assets and excludes deferred tax

assets and financial asset at fair value through other

comprehensive income.

Information about major customers

No revenue from sales to a single external customer amounted

to over 10% of the total revenue of the Group for the years

ended 31 December 2022 and 2021.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2022
—E-—FEf - H=+—H

2EHER (#)
1 32 B K
(a) XRENHBEFZKRA

(b)

2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARBTT
493,736 461,574
4,992 20,052
53,952 2,379

683 3

3,316 590
556,679 484,598

Bt ANE R TS AR P PR B R K

55 o

HHEEE
2022 2021
—E—-— —E-—4F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T AREF T
205,183 229,550
23,708 3,665
1 4
228,892 233,219

LR EEERTIABEMAEL
HMRRBE ETPIEREECHEAEEE
RBEAABEFARCEZAKRENS

BhEE-
BREEREFZ2ER
BHE-_Z-_—_gRk=_ZEI=F+=A

=+ RLEFE BERE-IIBELIEL
MHE M ABBAKRE AR AI0% -
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31 December 2022
—E-—F+=H=+—H

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS

5. WA HAbw ARz

Revenue from contracts with customers REEFEHZWA
(i) Disaggregated revenue information () DHEKRAEH
Communication system segment HIE R E

2022 2021
—=E_-= —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T ARET T
Type of goods or services B RS ER
Continuing operation BELSEEK
Sales of goods HEE M 348,669 337,878
Rendering of services et AR 7 208,010 146,720
Total revenue from contracts with KEEFPELNZBKA
customers 556,679 484,598
Timing of revenue recognition A ONT G
Continuing operation BEgEEk
Goods transferred at a point in time RE—FEHEEER 348,669 337,878
Services transferred over time 48 B e 8 R AR T 208,010 146,720
Total revenue from contracts with RKEEFPELHZBKA
customers 556,679 484,598
The following table shows the amounts of revenue TRINTEFARGRERTNEOBE

MEERWAZREE:

recognised in the current reporting period that were

included in the contract liabilities at the beginning:

2022 2021
—E-= —EF — ==
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TR ARETTT
Revenue recognised that was included in BT AFREBVE L
contract liabilities at the beginning of BEMNEERLA
the reporting period:
Sales of goods HEE M 22,862 14,945
Rendering of services R 2,971 8,339
25,833 23,284

154
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REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS (continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)
(ij) Performance obligations

The amounts of transaction prices allocated to the

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2022
—E-—FEf - H=+—H

WA Hdg AR WS (8)

REEFEHZWA (&)

(i) BEHEMFE
RIEMRIETFHTRELHET (K

remaining performance obligations (unsatisfied or

partially unsatisfied) as at the end of the reporting period

are as follows:

Amounts expected to be recognised
as revenue:
Within one year
After one year

Other income and gains

ERBEDRER) X ZERMT

2022 2021
—E=-= —E -
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR TR ARBEF T

TEHRRER AW AR FRIE
—F R 226,769 248,011
—F1& 518,447 554,899
745,216 802,910

=N PN &

2022 2021
== —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARBTT
Continuing operation BELSEEK
Bank interest income HRITHEHA 249 239
Fair value gain on equity investments at BARBEFABRZ
fair value through profit or loss, net (note 24) RAEEZEN AR EE
Yas F R (MHaE24) 5,096 1,948
Fair value gain on a debt investment at RARBEFABRZ
fair value though profit or loss (note 25) BERRENAREE
Yeas (B FE25) - 1,364
Finance income on the net investment HEREFEEEN
in a lease EhE A 76 225
Government grants released* BB BT H AL 1,060 1,475
Rental income GEE I ON 61 =
Others Hth 175 1
6,717 5,252
* There are no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies relating to o A M IR R EZ F AL A R KRBT IRk

these grants.

HREM
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—E-—F+=H=+—H

6.

156

LOSS BEFORE TAX

The Group's loss before tax is arrived at after charging/
(crediting):

Continuing operation
Cost of inventories sold*
Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment
Depreciation of right-of-use assets
Amortisation of other intangible assets**
Impairment losses of trade
receivables, net
Lease payments not included in the
measurement of lease liabilities
- Short-term leases
Auditor’s remuneration
Research and development costs***
Foreign exchange differences, net
Employee benefit expenses (including
directors” and a chief executive’s
remuneration)
- Wages and salaries
- Pension scheme contributions
- Share-based payments

Reversal of write-down of inventories to
net realisable value*

Fair value gain on equity investments
at fair value through profit or loss, net

6.

RS ES
B &5 A
W B R R B E

EREEENE
H o B A B
B 5 UK IR (E
B 1R
AETAHERE
STEMHEENK
- EHHEE
ZEE B 2
B I B A B R AN+
DE 3 = HOFER
BERAMAX
(BRESEI %
TTHARENME)
—-ITER%E
—RIREF B
— DABAD B ER A K

BB E
AERFE"

22 1 S A B 28R
eSS UNTY L
TESE

Fair value loss/(gain) on a debt investment 32 A 7 BEF AIBZEHY

at fair value through profit or loss

BEHREAREE
R (W)

Fair value losses on investment properties &M% 2 AR BE

realisable value.
* %k

profit or loss.

statement of profit or loss.

InvesTech Holdings Limited B ZRER A

BB

Inclusive of reversal of write-down of inventories to net

Included in “Cost of sales” in the consolidated statement of

Included in “Administrative expenses” in the consolidated

BR B AT & 1R
AEBEBRBAEREME, (GTARTS

18 :

14

17

22

32

24

13

*

*k

*k ok

2022 2021
—E=-= —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥ET ARETIT
468,987 405,739
1,048 876

5,830 5,775
20,245 20,243
5,025 1,136

695 1,202

1,484 1,556
19,921 17,944

219 100

64,486 56,259
14,059 11,956

353 626

78,898 68,841
(335) (2,608)
(5,096) (1,948)
10,943 (1,364)
3,244 -

BEEERBRTEER 2R FE-

B AGEBEERBTHHERK] Ao

Bt AGRBEHERE TN [THHAS] A-



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2022
—E-—FEf - H=+—H

7. FINANCE COSTS 7. BERA
An analysis of finance costs is as follows: BERASITAT

2022 2021
—_EFE_— — T —4F

— =

RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T ARBTTT

Continuing operation HEREER
Interest on bank and other borrowings SRIT R HMERF A 1,880 2,018
Interest on convertible bond AR EHF B 1,458 -
Interest on lease liabilities HEAEE 911 989
4,249 3,007
8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 8. EERESITHRAEEHM
REMUNERATION
Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the year, B EmRAFB (REHER) 5383(1)
disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules, section 383(1)(a), (b), @ b)) OMMEAR AT (FEZEFF
(c) and (f) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 ER)ROIE2BTUNEBE 2 FRNEE L&
of the Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of SITHABEHMAOT

Directors) Regulation, are as follows:

2022 2021
B o

— =

RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T ARETIT

Fees: wE
Executive directors and a non-executive HITEE N —RBIENTT
director = 513 500
Independent non-executive directors WY IEHITES 371 338
884 838
Other emoluments of executive directors WITEER—RBIEWNTT
and a non-executive director: EEMEMNE:
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind Fre R NREMER 4,705 3,579
Pension scheme contributions BINE AR 73 68
Share-based payments (note 32) VAR 19 B BT AS 3R
(B 3E32) 254 626
5,032 4,273
5,916 SR
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31 December 2022
—E-—F+=H=+—H

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
REMUNERATION (continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2021, four directors
were granted share options, in respect of their services to the
Group, under the share option scheme of the Company. During
the year ended 31 December 2016, two directors were granted
share options, in respect of their services to the Group, under
the share option scheme of the Company. Further details
of which are set out in note 32 to the consolidated financial
statements. The fair value of such options, which had been
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss over

the vesting period, was determined as at the date of grant.

(@) Independent non-executive directors

The fees paid to independent non-executive directors of

the Company during the year were as follows:

Mr. David Tsoi® BEARMERE
Mr. Lu, Brian Yong Chen =K ERSE A
Mr. Yuen Shiu Wai' RBREE
Mr. Wong Chun Sek, Edmund? B SLA
Mr. Huang Liangkuai? e e

! This director was appointed as an independent non-

executive director of the Company on 7 April 2021.

2 This director resigned as an independent non-executive

director of the Company on 7 April 2021.

3 This director was appointed as an independent non-

executive director of the Company on 14 May 2021.

¢ This director retired as an independent non-executive

director of the Company on 14 May 2021.

There were no other emoluments payable to the
independent non-executive directors of the Company
during the year (2021: Nil).

1 58 InvesTech Holdings Limited 128 AR A 7

EERBSTBRAEHMH (49

HE-_Z-_—F+_A=+—8BI1t&EE"
MEEEREMAEBIRME 2 REMIRE
RARz BRIETZERBRE-HE=-Z
—ANEFE+-ZA=Z+—BLEFE MEESEHR
HRASEREZIREMBIEARNT 2B
MR T B IE AR - Hift — DB ER
BMBHRENEI - ZEEREZ AN EE
EREEHRAGEBERPER UHKE
HEEEE -

(@) BYFHITES
FANTARRBYIFAITESTHNE
E3 (N

2022 2021
—E_-= —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB000
AR®TR ARETTT
165 101

103 100

103 73

- 37

- 27

371 338

* REFR_T-_—FHALHAEE
ERARRREIUIFNTES-

2 ZEER_T-_—FNALABMT
RRREILIFNTES -

: ZEER_T_—FHATHAE
EERARBVBIULFATEE-

‘ ZEERN - E-_—FREA+MER
EARRBVBILIEANITES -

FRALEBENANRAREIIFNTES
WEMMES (—T - —F &)



8.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S

REMUNERATION (continued)

(b) Executive directors, non-executive director and

the chief executive

RMB’000

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2022
—E-—FEf - H=+—H

8. EENRBSITHRAEHM &)

(b) BITEE FUTESERZSTH
ABE

Salaries,
allowances Pension
and benefits scheme  Share-based Total
inkind  contributions payments remuneration

E2 A= 1 RS R %
RENERN TR ER AR HMaE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

2022

Executive directors:
Mr. Chan Sek Keung, Ringo
Mr. Lu Chengye
Ms. Wang Fang
Mr. Liu Chun Fai'
Ms. Tin Yat Yu Carol?

Non-executive director:
Mr. Wong Tsu Wai, Derek
(with his former name of
Mr. Wong Dak Wai)

—E-CE

WITE=S:
Rz EE
BRERE
Frat
BEELL
A—fFrt

FHTEE:
TrErs
(RERAaA
TEEELE)

AR®TR

ARBTRE AR®TR AR¥TR ARET:R

103 3,622 15 16 3,756
103 - - - 103
103 1,083 58 16 1,260

27 - - 61 88

74 - - - 74
410 4,705 73 93 5,281
103 - - 161 264
513 4,705 73 254 5,545
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31 December 2022
—E-—F+=H=+—H

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S

REMUNERATION (continued)

(b) Executive directors, non-executive director and
the chief executive (continued)

160

2021

Executive directors:
Mr. Chan Sek Keung, Ringo
Mr. Lu Chengye
Ms. Wang Fang
Mr. Liu Chun Fai'

Non-executive director:
Mr. Wong Tsu Wai, Derek
(with his former name of
Mr. Wong Dak Wai)

HITES:
C3oL: i
BRERE
Irzt
BEEEL

FEE:
IfrERLE
(RERAA/
TEEEE)

Fees

g
RMB'000
ARET T

8. EERERSTHRAEHMN &

(b) BITES FITEERHZSTH
AB (&)

Salaries,
allowances Pension
and benefits scheme Share-based Total

inkind  contributions payments  remuneration

VARR

Al = \ %ﬁgﬂﬁﬁt 7
RMB'00 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARETT ARETT ARETR

100 2,520 15 28 2,663
100 - - - 100
100 1,059 53 28 1,240
100 - - 285 385
400 3,579 68 341 4,388
100 - - 285 385
500 3,579 68 626 4,773

! This director resigned as an executive director of the
Company on 6 April 2022.

2 This director was appointed as an executive director of
the Company on 11 April 2022.
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9.

FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

The five highest paid employees during the year included
two (2021: two) executive directors of the Company, details of
whose remuneration are set out in note 8 above. Details of the
remuneration for the year of the remaining three (2021: three)
highest paid employees who are neither director nor chief

executive of the Company are as follows:

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 7% 3R 2R Bt o

31 December 2022
—E-—FEf - H=+—H

AURESHES
FAAUKSFEEEEARAMAMU (=
T —F WMU)ATES REDF M
BENEXHES - FANEB=ML(=F
T F M) WA RFEEFRES TR
ABMESHEENFMFELT

2022 2021
s

RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T ARBTTT

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind Fe EREYREF 2,896 2,311
Pension scheme contributions RN ET B 89 124
2,985 2,435

The number of non-director and non-chief executive highest
paid employees whose remuneration fell within the following

bands is as follows:

FMEATHENIFEEMIERSTERA
BHBRSHEEABNT:

Number of employees

BEAR

2022

Nil to HK$1,000,000 Z%1,000,000/%8 7T
(equivalent to RMB857,000) (FEE N AR¥S857,0007T) 2 2
HK$1,000,001 1,000,001 7T
(equivalent to RMB857,001) to (HERARES57,0017T) &
HK$2,000,000 (equivalent to 2,000,000 7T (1HE R AR
RMB1,715,000) 1,715,0007T ) 1 1
3 3
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31 December 2022
—E-—F+=H=+—H

10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

10.

The Group is subject to Hong Kong profits tax at the rate
of 16.5% (2021: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable profits
arising in Hong Kong during the year, except for one subsidiary

of the Company which is a qualifying entity under the two-
tiered profits tax rates regime. The first HK$2,000,000
(equivalent to RMB1,715,000) (2021: HK$2,000,000 (equivalent
to RMB1,779,000)) of assessable profits of this subsidiary is

taxed at 8.25% and the remaining assessable profits are taxed

at 16.5%. Taxes on profits assessable elsewhere have been

calculated at the rates of tax prevailing in the jurisdictions in

which the Group operates.

Continuing operation
Current—Mainland China
Charge for the year
Current—Hong Kong
Charge for the year
Deferred income tax (note 18)

Total tax charge for the year

EHAX

RNEBBEEI6SWME (T = —F:

16.5% ) 5k F MR B & B K (5 51 18 3R B 7
SHRBEANGHBE AR RN— MK B
NRIBRIN AR AT E MR FIS R R
HIE R E B - Z BB A A & £2,000,0008 7T
(FHERNARYE1715000T) (ZT-—4%:

2,000,000/ 7T (FHE A AR #1,779,0007T) )
B JRE BR T 8 M 128 25% 0 B R B - Hgp e
SRBLEF B 16 5% B R F - E b=
MERBTEFNNFEBEERASELCEER
TRl A RM SRR E -

2022 2021
—E=-= T —F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET ARET T
BFECEEK
BN ER — i B P 3
FARXH 5,139 3,386
BUER— &5
FRXH 1,892 -
BEFTSR (MI5E18) (2,821) (3,105)
FABIAZ HBE 4,210 281

Except for the following companies, the subsidiaries of the

Company established in Mainland China were subject to

corporate income tax ("CIT") at the statutory tax rate of 25% in

the following years:

Name of the subsidiaries

o) NI

BRAT ARG AR B B AR 2 M
B RRNIATFERIR2%EE R EHNE
EEH ([REMRER])

Beijing Wafer*
Xi‘an Wafer**
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LR
P92 a3

15.0% 15.0%
10.0% 10.0%




10.

1.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued) 10.

* The entity is qualified as High and New Technology Enterprises
and entitled to a preferential CIT rate of 15% for the years ended
31 December 2022 and 2021.

*x The entity is qualified as Small Low-Profit Enterprises and

entitled to a preferential CIT rate of 10% for the years ended
31 December 2022 and 2021.

The subsidiary which operates in Vietnam was subject to CIT
at a rate of 20% (2021: 14%) on taxable income for the year
ended 31 December 2022. This entity was entitled to enjoy
30% tax relief based on the condition that its revenue was less
than VND200 billion (equivalent to RMB65,552,000) for the year
ended 31 December 2021.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 7% 3R 2R Bt o

31 December 2022
—E-—FEf - H=+—H

BB (&)

* ZERFMASMAMCEER BERER
TR CFR-E—F+-A=+—8H
HEEZEEELEMBREIGYG -

v

> ZEBRFANEUACEER BREE
I FRZF—F+ZA=+—H
IHEEZEEECEMBHEEI0% -

oi

TFHEELENNERRZELRNS (ZT=—
FUR)NBERBE_T_Z_F+=A
S+ —RALEFERRBTBRABNCEMS
R-ERNZERBREBEZ_Z-_—F+_A
=+ —HIEFEMRZEEN2,000EMEE
(HHENAR65552,0007T) W IEH  HHB

Loss before tax from continuing operation

EZZ30%FIBR R

2022
S =

— i ——

2021
—E-—F
RMB’000
ARBTT

RMB’000
AR®T T

KERERERBTN

BB AT E 1B (28,809) (22,048)
Tax at the statutory tax rate of 16.5% 165% (ZFE - —4F:
(2021: 16.5%) 16.5% EER EFTEMN
FHIE (4,753) (3,638)
Different tax rates enacted by local authorities MR A 5 B AS B
in Mainland China B e R R (166) (582)
Different tax rates in different jurisdictions TR B ERE = ) T R X 24 (176)
Expenses not deductible for tax BT ) B 2 1,292 902
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised B ARER 2 BB EED
BT E 8,114 4,162
Income not subject to tax BARBZ WA = (387)
Utilisation of tax losses previously not ) o AR TR
recognised MIBER (301) =
Tax expense at the Group's effective rate BAEBEBERGXAEN
BB 4,210 281

DIVIDEND

No dividend has been paid or proposed by the Company during
the year ended 31 December 2022 and subsequent to the end

of the reporting period (2021: Nil).

1. RE
HE T o= el s+ s SRE
RIRE BRI AN AR ] s R R A
BE(ZZE=—F &)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
51 7% 3 7 Bt &

31 December 2022
—E-—F+=H=+—H

12. (LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLETO 12. B ARIEBEAELER (BE) &%

OWNERS OF THE PARENT #

The calculation of the basic (loss)/earnings per share amount BREN(BB) BFHDBRBERFESRQ
is based on the (loss)/profit for the year attributable to owners AEAAEMN (BR), &8 UERFARE
of the parent, and the weighted average number of ordinary BT LB INAEF9E0111,829,7358& (=&
shares of 111,829,735 (2021: 80,090,254) in issue during the — —4F:80,090,254R% ) 5+ & -

year.

The calculations of basic and diluted (loss)/earnings per share BREAREE (BER) HR2FdENLT
are based on: R TE R RIE

2022 AA
—E-= —E-—F

RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T ARETIT

(Loss)/earnings (B8),&A
(Loss)/profit attributable to owners of the parent, &2 &# A AL
used in the basic and diluted (loss)/earnings (B#8),wH
per share calculation: AR EERERK
e (B8) &7
- From continuing operation —REFELCEER (35,882) (18,176)
- From discontinued operation —REBRIEEEER = 1,329

(35,882) (16,847)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2022
—E-—FEf - H=+—H

12. (LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLETO 12. B ARIEBAELER (BE) &%
OWNERS OF THE PARENT (continued) (&)

Number of shares

RADEE

2022
===

—_———

Shares &V
ARFTEgRER L EE
(E18) /BFNER
BT TR INE T8

Weighted average number of ordinary
shares in issue during the year used in
the basic and diluted (loss)/earnings

111,829,735

per share calculation 80,090,254

(Loss)/earnings per share: Gk (B8B) &F:
Basic and diluted BEXR R
- From continuing operation —RERFBEEEET (RMB32.09 cents)  (RMB22.69 cents)
(AR™32.09%)  (AR¥22.697)
- From discontinued operation —REBEIEEEES N/A RMB1.66 cents
TiE R AREEL665

The weighted average number of ordinary shares for the
purpose of the calculation of basic (loss)/earnings per share
has been adjusted for the bonus element in the issue of shares
of the Company on é September 2021 and 11 March 2022 as if
effective since 1 January 2021.

The calculation of diluted loss per share for the years ended
31 December 2022 and 2021 had not taken into account the
effect of the potential ordinary shares on convertible bond as
the assumed conversion would result in a decrease in loss per

share.

No adjustment has been made to the basic (loss)/earnings per
share amounts presented for the years ended 31 December
2022 and 2021 in respect of a dilution as the impact of share
options outstanding had an anti-dilutive effect on the basic

loss per share amounts presented.

ARFTEERER (BR) /BRI @K
MEFHHEERARTR T Z—FNA
ANABRZE-—FZA+—HORMDET
RA R ER AR M T —F—
B—HRREM-

HE_Z_—_#R_ZT_—%+=_H
=t+—HLEFE SRREEREERER
EER L BREEBER AR LT RRE
FHETLBROTEmE -

ARHERTEZERESERCERER
FlECHARBEYE QUEHEEZE_ZF
I FERZIBZIFTZA=+T—HILHF
EE2ER2ERER (BB BAEEED

L8

g
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bt %

WK

31 December 2022
—E-—F+=H=+—H

13.

166

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Fair value AREE

At beginning of year RF )

Additions - Acquisitions WE W
AN

Change in fair value

RN
N
.

£

1=

[
o

Exchange realignment

At end of year

The investment properties as at 31 December 2022 are pledged
to secure a loan of the Group (note 30(e)).

The fair value of the Group’s investment properties at 31
December 2022 have been arrived at on market value basis
carried out by Vincorn Consulting and Appraisal Limited,
an independent valuer who holds a recognised and relevant
professional qualification and has recent experience in the

location and category of the investment property being valued.

The fair value of investment properties are classified as Level
2 recurring fair value measurement. During the year ended
31 December 2022, there were no transfers between Level 1
and Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy. The Group’s policy is to
recognise transfers between Levels of the fair value hierarchy

as at the end of the reporting period in which they occur.
The fair value is determined by applying the market approach

by reference to sales price of comparable properties based on

market data which is publicly available.

InvesTech Holdings Limited B ZRER A

BERE

13. REYXE

2022 2021
—E-—F

RMB’000
AR®T

RMB'000
ARBT T

8,602 -
(3,244) -
170 -

5,528 -

NR-BE-—FE+-_A=+—AKREYED
WP —RIRIT  1EAAREBERER (K
F30(e) ) °

WTE-—F+-A=+—0 KEEKRE
MEZ AR BEDIRBL(GEMLEEH
RFBBERAR (HERAKRIEHEEEE
1% W HEA R HAETIR B W 2 2t B R AR
EITHEZER) EMEREELETZHEE

o

BEMEZRAABEIEABE _RIEE
MARBEMFE-BHE_T_—_F+_A
=+—HRIEFE 2ABEERNSE —KH
BB ABMEER AKECBRENE
BEEZBEHARBERALBERL M
B -

ARBEVRBEATSL 2EEXTS
ERFRZBIBZ AL MENHEEBRETE



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2022
CEC = —H

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

14. NE - -BERKE

Leasehold Motor
improvements Equipment vehicles Others
HE
WEEE % RE Hity #ct
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR AR%ETR AR®ETR AR¥TR AR%ETR
2022 —EC-CE
At 1 January 2022 NRZE-_—_F—-F—H
Cost B%N 1,816 826 656 1,805 5,103
Accumulated depreciation ZitinE (741) (341) (656) (1,370) (3,108)
Net carrying amount REFE 1,075 485 - 435 1,995
At 1 January 2022, net of R_E-—F—F—8"
accumulated depreciation MR RTE 1,075 485 - 435 1,995
Additions RE 12 127 380 279 798
Depreciation provided FERFRZNE
during the year (330) (342) (55) (321) (1,048)
Exchange realignment Rk 58 - - 18 76
At 31 December 2022, net of i ——y
accumulated depreciation =t—B MRRHE 815 270 325 411 1,821
At 31 December 2022 RZZ-ZF+ZA=1+—H
Cost A 1,899 948 1,099 2,210 6,156
Accumulated depreciation ZitinE (1,084) (678) (774) (1,799) (4,335)
Net carrying amount REFE 815 270 325 ALl 1,821
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
51 7% 3 7 Bt &

31 December 2022
—E-—F+=-HA=1—H

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

14. Y% -BERRE (9

Leasehold Motor
improvements Equipment vehicles Others
HE
UESAC B TE Hity +
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARBTE ARETT ARETT  AR¥TR
2021 —E--F
At 1 January 2021 RZZ=Z—F5—H—H
Cost AR 1,160 2,029 728 1,564 5,481
Accumulated depreciation ZitHE (91¢) (1,536) (635) (1,350) (4,437)
Net carrying amount REFE 244 493 93 214 1,044
At 1 January 2021, net of RZE-_—%-A—H8"
accumulated depreciation MBRREHE 244 493 93 214 1,044
Additions "B 897 354 - 595 1,846
Depreciation provided ERFRZINE

during the year (52) (362) (93) (369) (876)

Exchange realignment i 5 % (14) - - (5) (19)
At 31 December 2021, net of RZE-—F+=A
accurnulated depreciation =+—RB MREHNE 1,075 485 - 435 1995
At 31 December 2021 RZEZ-F+=-A=1+—H
Cost BRA 1816 826 656 1,805 5,103
Accumulated depreciation ZiHiTE (741) (341) (856) (1,370) (3,108)
Net carrying amount REEE 1,075 485 - 435 1,995
At 31 December 2022 and 2021, no property, plant and RZEZZFR=ZF_—F+ZA=4—

B WEYE BB ME

equipment were pledged.

R

168
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15. LEASES

The Group as a lessee

The Group has lease contracts for various and buildings used
in its operations. Buildings in Mainland China generally have
lease terms between 2 and 4 years. Buildings in Hong Kong
generally have lease terms between 1 and 3 years. Certain
offices have lease terms of 12 months or less. There are no
lease contracts that include extension and termination options

and variable lease payments.

(a) Right-of-use assets

The carrying amounts of the Group's right-of-use assets

and the movements during the year are as follows:

15.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 7% 3R 2R Bt o

31 December 2022
—E-—FEf - H=+—H

HE

REBEREBEA
AEEAARERBZENSAEFTNHA
EAM-FEANMEFTHEMBEN F224
F-EEEFTHEABENTIE3F AT
MAENEARNBEAZAT -HELRES
HEREERRERERARATEEEN

N
N

(a) EFAREE
REBERNFERAEEENFERENME
ERUNE

Buildings

BF

RMB’000

ARET T

At 1 January 2021 R-_ZE-_—F—H—H 2,963
Additions NE 10,228
Lease modification MEEE] 10,453
Depreciation charge FrEMX (5,775)
Exchange realignment HE 5, 38 B (45)
At 31 December 2021 WZZE-_—F+-HA=+—8 17,824
Additions NE 662
Depreciation charge WERX (5,830)
Exchanges realignment M 5, 184
At 31 December 2022 R-E-_—_F+=-A=+—H 12,840
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
51 7% 3 7 Bt &

31 December 2022
—E-—F+=H=+—H

15. LEASES (continued) 15. HE (&)
The Group as a lessee (continued) AEEEREBEA (8)
(b) Lease liabilities (b)) HEERRE
The carrying amount of lease liabilities (included under FANHEBE (BT RRITREM
fEFRIETH) - MIE30) M BRE A R &

interest-bearing bank and other borrowings, note 30)

170

and the movements during the year are as follows:

LIS

2022 2021
— =2 - —F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR® TR ARETT
Carrying amount at 1 January R—A—RZEARE 19,961 6,966
New leases HEE 662 10,228
Lease modification HEER] - 10,453
Accretion of interest recognised FADERN SR
during the year (note 7) (H1£7) 911 989
Payments 3% (8,030) (8,625)
Exchange realignment PE SR 208 (50)
Carrying amount at 31 December W+—A=+—H82
fRmE{E 13,712 19,961
Analysed into: DA
Within one year —F N 5,843 7,040
Later than one year and not later —FRERMER
than two years 4,751 5,537
Later than two years and not later MEBRERAFA
than five years 3,118 7,384
13,712 19,961

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in

note 42 to the consolidated financial statements.
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15. LEASES (continued)
The Group as a lessee (continued)

(c) The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to

leases are as follows:

15.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2022
—E-—FEf - H=+—H

HE (#)
REBEREEA (B
() REBEDZTERNBEEMEBZENT

2022 2021

—E_-= —E-—F

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®T T ARET T

Interest on lease liabilities HEBEMNE 911 989
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets {FRAEEENEM L 5,830 5,775
Expense relating to short-term leases HEHEEAMNAX 695 1,367
Total amount recognised in profit or loss ~ RIBZE KR P ER K IBLATE 7,436 8,131

(d) The total cash outflows for leases are disclosed in note

37(c) to the consolidated financial statements.

The Group as a lessor

Property rental income earned from investment properties
during the year was RMB60,000 (2021: Nil). The properties
held have committed tenants for 1 year.

The minimum rent receivables under non-cancellable

operating leases are as follows:

Not later than one year

TER—4F

Later than one year and not later than two years

(d BREENRSRHARRBERNEAR
875 AR P ER7(c)

AEBFESHEA
FREREMERDODERSRABA
R¥6000T (ZF-_—F &) FIFAEY
EOAGEHEER—F-

BREFATHELLEEENRERKAES W
T

Later than two years and not later than three years B F B TEN = F = &

2022 2021

—ZE_— —E_-—14F

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR® TR ARETT

45 -

ER—FETERTAE : -
45 -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
51 7% 3 7 Bt &

31 December 2022
—E-—F+=H=+—H

16. GOODWILL 16. BHE

2022 2021
—E_— —EF - —F

— =

RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARBT T

Cost: MR
At 1 January and 31 December R—A—ARK
+=-—A=+—H 207,580 207,580
Accumulated impairment: ZitRE:
At 1 January and 31 December R—A—ARK
+ZA=+—8H (72,628) (72,628)
Net carrying amount: BREFE:
At 31 December RT=-—A=+t—H 134,952 134,952
Impairment testing of goodwill BEZBENR
Network system integration cash-generating unit WHEAARESESELEN
Goodwill related to the network system integration cash- HEBREARERCReELEEUAANEE
generating unit arose from the acquisition of Fortune RZE—RFUHEFortune GracefFE 4 < X
Grace in 2015. Details of the acquisition are set out in the BHBHEAARRARIBAR-E—HF+—
announcements of the Company dated 6 and 13 November ARBRT=ZAZAE -RHHEREET
2015. To support the management to determine the MRREGEARSEABMNMATRE &5
recoverable amount of the network system integration cash- (MReELSEUMATKREERE]) KEEH
generating unit (the "Recoverable Amount of CGU"), the Group ZRBEVHERMGEMBSBITEETG R
engaged an independent professional valuer, Jones Lane BHBRARETHE:.

LaSalle Corporate Appraisal and Advisory Limited, to perform

a valuation.
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16.

GOODWILL (continued)

Impairment testing of goodwill (continued)

Network system integration cash-generating unit (continued)
The Recoverable Amount of CGU has been determined based
on a value in use calculation using cash flow projections
based on financial budgets approved by senior management
covering a five-year period with budgeted revenue growth
rates, the budgeted gross margins, the discount rate and the
terminal growth rate applied in the cash flow projections.
As at 31 December 2022, based on the goodwill impairment
assessment results, the Recoverable Amount of CGU and
the carrying amount of the network system integration cash-
generating unit, comprising the goodwill, intangible assets,
property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets
of the Group that generate cash flows together with the
related goodwill in the respective cash generating unit for
the purpose of impairment assessment, is approximately
RMB228,331,000 (2021: RMB252,568,000) and RMB207,816,000
(2021: RMB233,219,000) respectively. No impairment loss
was recorded for the year ended 31 December 2022 as the
recoverable amount of CGU exceeds its carrying amount,
which includes the net carrying amount of the goodwill.

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the cash flow
projections have taken into account the recovery of economy
from the COVID-19 pandemic (the “COVID-19"), the Group
expects continuous growth for its network infrastructure
business by strengthening its core competitiveness and the
contribution from a sizeable government contract for the
provision of a smart library system, and the Group foresees
that the customers” awareness of and demand for the Group’s
software solutions increase as a result of the change of
customers’ demand and operating practice due to the economy
recovery from the COVID-19. In addition, the cooperation with
technology giants that will reinforce the Group’'s expansion
in the China's market share. The directors of the Company
considered that these reasons directly affected the parameters
applied in the assumptions used in the value-in-use
calculation for network system integration cash-generating
unit as at 31 December 2022 as mentioned below.

16.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 7% 3R 2R Bt o

31 December 2022
—E-—FEf - H=+—H

BE (|

BEZREANHR (&)
HREGBEHSELE N (&)
ReELBEMMAKESBEREERR
eRERAGFENEAEEETE  MABR
STER RIS AR E IR E it R E R F 8
BEWABERENGHEE BEERNEK.
WHRENEARESRERAMNKAER
EEREBE- R_E-_—_F+=A=+—8"
BREBERETGHEER ReELEENDN
AU Bl & B4 B A R 228,331,000 (=
——4F: AR¥252,568,0007T) * M AB 4R &
GEABESELEMN (BAEFEMEE
RASERE EFEE -WE BELK
BUAREERERENFERAEEEERR
ZERCEABNPHNEBERE)WEREE
B AREE207816000T (ZE=—F: AR
#233,219,0007T) cEH E T = —F + = A
“t+—HULEFETESSREERE AAR
CELEMMIKRESEBREERRE &
BRI FE-

ARREFERR R REBAC REE
B RERRESREE (HEERESR])
RIER AREEEBGERERELS
BBMRERLOBEF N RKBREEEE
ERRGHNAEBRTANNERMGARE
BR-AKEIEA R EE BTN
WERTERERFTPHRMLET AR
B BPHAREE IR RAREAMNE
K& E e s BERME ARG F N
BAKBREATETSNE - AATNEER
REZSRAEREZETXAEAR T ==
FT_A=T—"HBPBERESESEL
BUNEREESETMERANRR2E-
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
51 7% 3 7 Bt &

31 December 2022
—E-—fFf - A=+—H

16. GOODWILL (continued)

Impairment testing of goodwill (continued)

Network system integration cash-generating unit (continued)
Assumptions were used in the value-in-use calculation
for network system integration cash-generating unit for
31 December 2022 and 2021. The following describes each key
assumption on which management has based its cash flow
projections to undertake impairment testing of goodwill:

Budgeted revenue growth rates - The budgeted revenue
growth rates are based on the historical revenue growth
data and market outlook perceived by management. The
five-year period with estimated revenue growth rate applied at
31 December 2022 is 1.91% to 29.77% per annum (2021: 1.00%
to 23.28% per annum).

Budgeted gross margins - The basis used to determine the
value assigned to the budgeted gross margins is the average
gross margins achieved in the year immediately before the
budget year, increased for expected market development. The
gross margin applied in the cash flow projections ranges from
25.36% to 28.05% (2021: 25.43% to 30.18%).

Discount rate — The discount rates used are before tax and
reflect specific risks relating to the relevant unit. The discount
rate applied at 31 December 2022 is 26.29% (2021: 26.67%).

Long term growth rate - The long term growth rate is based
on market data and management’s expectation on the future
development of the technology industry. The long term growth
rate applied at 31 December 2022 is 3.00% (2021: 3.00%).

The values assigned to the key assumptions on market
development and discount rate are consistent with external

information sources.

The recoverable amount is significantly above the carrying
amount of Network System integration cash generating unit.
Management believes that any reasonable possible change in

any of these assumptions would not result in impairment.
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16. BE (&)

BEZREANR (&)
BEFGRBEHESELEN ()
ERAE TS FR-2FT=—F+=A
T+ AREBERBRERSELEENZE
AEBEEARE  TXHAEEEFERAER
RBRETEERENRMKEZ S
FERR:

BERABER-TBERABEERDR
ﬁﬁi%AﬁE%ﬁ&a@F%ﬁ%m
SREEF-ERANR-_ZT-_=_F+=A
=+ HOAFHEFRAEERERAST
1.91%%29.77% ( ZF — —4F : §4F1.00% %
23.28%) ©

HEMNE-BEEMNEZEBENREER
&ﬁ#$Em2¢WEEﬂZ$H%ﬂ$
(RBHMEBERREMER)ET-BAR
@M TE R A EF E N F25.36%%28.05%
(ZZE=—F:2543%%30.18%) °

WRE-FAFREAGRBAFTRE TR
BREIERAEM A S ERR -BANR-Z
ZZF+Z A=+ —HMIWEEAE2629%
(ZEZ—F12667%) °

R RER-REBERIRET S HIE
REBBEHBIMITERREENHLET -
ERAR-_E-_—_F+_A=+—HHKH
HWEXRA300% (ZFE=—%:3.00%) °

MmiGER T E2REEERITHKEIN
BRHIR—E -

AREESREAESRERERENRSE
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2022
—E - —FF - A=+—H

17. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS 17. EthBLEE
Technology
know-how
EREM
RMB’000
AR T 7T
Cost: B
At 1 January 2022 and 31 December 2022 RZEZZF—HA—AK
—E-—F#+-HA=+—H 202,446
Accumulated amortisation: ESE 1K
At 1 January 2022 RZFEZ=—F—H—H 123,998
Amortisation provided during the year FRNEIEREE 20,245
At 31 December 2022 R-_F-_—_F+-A=+—H 144,243
Net carrying amount: AREDEE
At 31 December 2022 RZE-_—_F+-HA=+—H 58,203
Technology
know-how
A &1l
RMB'000
ARET T
Cost: B
At 1 January 2021 and 31 December 2021 RZZEZ—F—HA—AK
—F-—F+t-A=1—H 202,446
Accumulated amortisation: Rt
At 1 January 2021 RZE_—F—H—H 103,755
Amortisation provided during the year FRNEIERE 20,243
At 31 December 2021 R-EBE-_—F+-_A=+—8H 123,998
Net carrying amount: BRIEH(E
At 31 December 2021 R-—ZF-_—F+-A=+—H 78,448
As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the Group's other MR- —_FR-_FB-_—F+-A=+—
intangible assets consist of technology know-how, which H AEENEMEVEERRERR
was arose from the acquisition of Fortune Grace in 2015. The i ZEARMK T — R F WHEFortune
Group has prepared impairment testing for other intangible CracelFEA - AEBE R A MBI EEE
assets together with goodwill related to the network system FEMERANEaR eESBELABNE
integration cash generating unit, and no impairment loss has ZETRENR BZE_T__F+=A
been recognised for the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: _‘f‘—ElJJ:iJ* I SRR EREREE (=
nil). TG E) e
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
51 7% 3 7 Bt &

31 December 2022
—E-—F+=H=+—H

18. DEFERRED TAX

18. IEFEFI 18

Deferred tax assets EEHEEE
Impairment
loss of
assets Others Total
BERE
E5# Hth #at
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETTT ARBTT AREFTT
At 1 January 2021 RZE=——F—H—H 3,265 385 3,650
Credited to profit or loss FARBRTA (MFE10)
during the year (note 10) 48 _ 48
At 31 December 2021 and N—_E=——
1 January 2022 +ZA=+—HK
- _F—AF—H 3,333 385 3,718
Charged to profit or loss FARERMER (FIEE10)
during the year (note 10) (217) - (217)
At 31 December 2022 W-ZETE -
+=-A= =i 3,116 385 3,501
Deferred tax liabilities EERIBEEE

At 1 January 2021
Credited to profit or loss during the year (note 10)

At 31 December 2021
Credited to profit or loss during the year (note 10)

At 31 December 2022

FARREZETA (HFE10)

RZEZ=F+=-A=+—H

Fair value
adjustment on
acquisition of
a subsidiary

e 8 —
MEATZ
ARBEERER
RMB'000
ARETIT

14,805
(3,037)

11,768

(3,038)

8,730
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18.

DEFERRED TAX (continued)

No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of
deductible temporary differences of RMB632,248,000 (2021:
RMB615,954,000) as the deductible temporary differences have
arisen in subsidiaries that have been loss-making for years
and it is not probable that taxable profits will be available
against which the deductible temporary differences can be
utilised. The unused tax losses of the PRC subsidiaries will

expire in five years.

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10%
withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to foreign
investors from the foreign investment enterprises established
in Mainland China. The requirement is effective from 1 January
2008 and applies to earnings after 31 December 2007. A lower
withholding tax rate may be applied if there is a tax treaty
between Mainland China and the jurisdiction of the foreign
investors. The Group is therefore liable for withholding taxes
on dividends distributed by those subsidiaries established
in Mainland China in respect of earnings generated from 1
January 2008.

At 31 December 2022, no deferred tax has been recognised
for withholding taxes that would be payable on the unremitted
earnings of the Group’s subsidiaries established in Mainland
China.

that these subsidiaries will distribute such earnings in the

In the opinion of the directors, it is not probable
foreseeable future. The aggregate amount of temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries in
Mainland China for which deferred tax liabilities have not been
recognised totalled RMB99,486,000 at 31 December 2022
(2021: RMB76,696,000).

18.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 7% 3R 2R Bt o

31 December 2022
—E-—FEf - H=+—H

EERIE (%)

T B AT R B = 2 A R 632,248,000
T (ZTZ—F: ARM615,954,0007T )
REEHRBEEE REABZEIHRERE
EEXYANSFRESEENHNBAR -
It 7T K A B8 78 FE SR B ) BT 4 0] H0 R B B
ZREAERS R EKMBR R KRB AR
BEBBRAFREI-

RIBHBELEMETE  EPBEAMRILA
SNERERINEREET KRR 'ﬁ@kg
IREMI0% R MAEE - R EB =

ﬂi*ﬂ*ﬁﬁﬁiﬁﬂ@%m_ggt
FH_A=Zt—BZEOHEN -HEFEA
WHEZEIIRIREE B RERERT AR
Yetgs e - BRI B R 2B P s - A
it AEEBEERETBEAMKINZE
MEBARE _—TTNF-A-BRELN
BP0 IR RS BAR RANRRR »

NRZE-_—_F+-_A=+—H WEHKRE
EEFEAMKIONBRARIZATIRA
MEMZRNMRBTRREERIB-EE
E{JHE&%W%“ﬂT\T%%Tix%“
KEBABRFN R_EBE__F+_A=+—
H @ABRAEEHEAG2RTE AL
MBARCZEENBNERSEZE8EA
AR 99,486,000 (ZEZ—F: ARK
76,696,0007T) °
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19.

178

FINANCIAL ASSET AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

On 17 February 2017, the Company entered into a capital
injection agreement (“Agreement”) with E5 AEHE AR
A7) (China Communication Technology Co., Ltd.* ("CCT"))
which was established in Shenzhen, Guangdong Province of
the PRC, and certain shareholders of CCT, pursuant to which
the Company would inject an amount of RMB600,000,000 in
CCT. The capital injection was completed on 25 July 2018 when
the Company became a non-substantial shareholder of CCT
and owned approximately 3.95% of the enlarged registered
capital of CCT. Upon completion of the capital injection into
CCT and other conditions as stipulated in the Agreement,
the Group has irrevocably designated this unlisted equity
investment at fair value through other comprehensive income
at initial recognition as the Group considers this investment
to be strategic in nature. As at 31 December 2019, resulting
from CCT's capital increase during the year, the Company’s
shareholding percentage decreased to approximately 3.91% of
the enlarged registered capital of CCT. There was no change
on the shareholding percentage during the years ended 31
December 2022 and 2021.

19.

Financial asset at fair value through BAREBEFTAEM
other comprehensive income THKENEREE
Unlisted equity investment, at fair value AR EBEFEH

FELTRAKRE
ccT EMATHA

* The English name is for identification purpose only.

InvesTech Holdings Limited B ZRER A

BEAAREBESAEMCZAKRENE
L& =

RZZE—+tF-_A++tH RARIEERSH
ABREBRAR ([FAAA] DRFBEE
RERINTRL ) REFFAE FTREET L
FEWE ([ZHE]) B AARIRER
FHAEE ARBS600,000,000T  FEE R Z
T N\FLtA-_T+HREEK -ARRERAE
EASAMFEEERE  WHEBEAT AL
EREMEARL395% - FITEENT AR
ZHFERENEMEETHE BRAEE
REZIEEBRBEME AUV SRR
BENITEEIETARARBETAL
HEERENFELETRAEE - RZF—AN
FHZA=+—8 BEEMAARFAE
B ARANBRE SR EENFT AL
BRFMERLN% REBEE T —
F—E-_—F+_A=1+—HBILFE HK
L 7 #8% A B

2022

—E-=

2021

—E -
RMB'000
AREETIT

RMB’000
AR®T R

18,368 40,086

Y BXEHELRHS



19. FINANCIAL ASSET AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the fair value loss
net of the income tax effect in respect of the above unlisted
equity investment recognised in other comprehensive loss
amounted to RMB21,718,000 (2021: RMB70,992,000). The
fair value loss for the year ended 31 December 2022 was
primarily attributable to (i) unfavourable operating conditions
of its major subsidiary, Huaxun Fangzhou Co., Ltd., which was
delisted in the Shenzhen Stock Exchange on 17 June 2022;
(i) the decrease in value of equity investments held by CCT;
and (iii) the unenforced amount under various litigations for
enforcement to CCT.

To support the management to determine the fair value of
CCT, the Group engaged an independent professional valuer,
Jones Lang LaSalle Corporate Appraisal and Advisory Limited,

to perform a valuation.

Details of the summary of significant unobservable inputs to
the valuation of the investment together with a quantitation
sensitivity analysis are set out in note 41 to the consolidated
financial statements.

20. LOAN RECEIVABLES

Finance lease receivables

BEMEERYFIA

19.

20.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 7% 3R 2R Bt o

31 December 2022
—E-—FEf - H=+—H

BEAAEBESAHEMZEARENE
RLEE (&)

BHE-_S-_—_F+-A=+—HIEFE"
MEMEPEBERABN DI FHRAK
BENAnBEEETFE(RAEHEE)
BARBE21718000 (ZEZ—F: AR
#70,992,0000C) cHEZZT —_—F + = A
T+ HIEFEMNAABAEEEETEZRA
ROEXFERBATEATARNDER AT

(RZZB-_FRXATEARRINESRRX S
PR ) VG EAORRE: (DERDTAFE

IR AR EBET B R(iNEERTT A
TR RRDHRAITER

RHEEEEEEMNANAABE K

%l?ﬂqﬁiiifﬁﬁﬁﬂiﬁﬂgﬂé (BRI 155
BRERERARMETHE

BRREBEZEATABEHAZEMR
ENFE ERETEHREIN BNEE
BIRE SRR R4

FEW & 7K

2022

2021
T —F

RMB 000
AR®TR

RMB’000
ARBTTT

= 1,749
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20. LOAN RECEIVABLES (continued) 20. BEWER (&)
Finance lease receivables mE g E W T

Present value of minimum lease

Minimum lease receivables receivables
RERERRFRE RERERKRRENRE
31 December 2022 31 December 2021 31 December 2022 31 December 2021
—E-C & —E_C —4F
+-A=t-B +=ZA=t-HB +=HA=+-B +=ZA=t-H
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETR AREFTT ARETR AREFT
Within one year —FR - 1,825 - 1,749
- 1,825 - 1,749
Less: Unearned finance income B RERRMENR = (76)
Present value of minimum lease BEAEEEKGENRE
receivables - 1,749
The Group's finance lease receivables are denominated in AEENREHERBRBEBUARKEE
RMB. The effective interest rate of the receivables is 8.9% EWHIENERFFEAEI% HEZZT
per annum. There are no unguaranteed residual values of Z—F+tZA=+—H BESARERE
assets leased under finance leases and no contingent rent BENEERIGER TEARNATHER
arrangements that needed to be recognised for the years AR EZHE-

ended 31 December 2021.

21. INVENTORIES 21. 78

2022 2021
== T —4F

RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARBTT

Merchandised goods EFEE & 20,336 17,320
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22. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 7% 3R 2R Bt o

31 December 2022
—E-—FEf - H=+—H

22. EZREBENKRK

B WA
Impairment B

Trade receivables

Trade receivables, net

Contract assets BREE
Bills receivable ZiR UG

Trade receivables of the Group represented proceeds
receivable from the sale of goods and rendering of services.
The Group's trading terms with its customers are mainly on
credit, except for new customers where payment in advance is
normally required. The credit term generally ranges from 14
to 90 days, and a longer credit term will be granted to certain
major customers. Each customer has a maximum credit limit.
The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding
receivables and has a credit control management system to
minimise credit risk. Overdue balances are reviewed regularly
by senior management. In view of the aforementioned, as
at 31 December 2022, except for the amounts due from one
(2021: one) customer exceeding 10% of the Group's total trade
and bills receivables, the remaining balances of the trade
receivables related to a large number of diversified customers.
There is no significant concentration of credit risk as at 31
December 2022. Trade receivables were interest-free and
unsecured as at 31 December 2022.

Contract assets arise from construction services for
communication network infrastructure and smart city and
smart IT related project. It primarily relate to the Group’s right
to consideration for work completed but not yet unconditional
at the reporting date. The contract assets are transferred
to receivables when the rights become unconditional. The
Group’s construction contracts include payment schedules
which require stage payments over the construction period
once milestones are reached. These payment schedules
prevent the build-up of significant contract assets.
Additionally, for the construction services for communication
network infrastructure, 5% of the contract sum is kept in
contract assets until the end of the retention period as the
Group’s entitlement to it is conditional on the Group’s work
satisfactorily passing inspection.

B 5 UK IR F 58

2022 2021
== T —F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR® T ARET T
268,000 204,207
(13,498) (9,156)
254,502 195,051
57,971 6,252
5,665 6,744
318,138 208,047

AEEESERBREBEBARBEEE R RIRHE
RIS Z B RE - RIEAEEZE 51K
HAEERFAZZAEEES EHEF
ERABANR - EEH—HRBI4E0HT
E METEEZFBEAEREZEES-
BEEFPHUBRREER ASBEEBES
EHEREERYGE TREEEEHE
BEG BREEERRRERE - 2 HE
BAEESTHRIBHRAF-ER EE
HRZEZZF+ZA=+—80 KREWK
BE—(ZZ-_—F B )FFREBAR
SEESREBRERWGATRI0NINN BSHE
WHRENS TEHRERZIRAMNEFLE] -
R-ZE-_—_F+_/F=+—HHEESEKNE
BERBEFRF R-_E-_—F+-_A=+—81
2B I EKGE AR B R EER -

BHEBERBEREERRENREZH™
AR BB MBI EER ZERGME
EMARKNEBE T2 RAKERHRE A Y
PR SERE R R BRI T2 S B -
BHRBERZENK R EGTREQER
IR AEEREEA NN KT EIR
E—BEINEAMH  AAREERADE
BN - ZENAE BRI IERBERE D
BE UM BUBERKEMRIEEERT
MmE  AAKRERENEEZEMBURRA
SETIZRETIENARBRE 8T ERS%
FRENEEEERBHMER -
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22. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (continued) 22. ESREBERRE (8)
2022 2021
—E=-= T —4F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T ARET T
At beginning of year REH] 6,252 6,402
Increase in contract assets as a result of #E 2 EF)SIHENEL
changing in measure of progress A ELE N 51,411 -
Exchange realignment TE 5, 3% 308 (150)
At end of year REFX 57,971 6,252
An ageing analysis of the trade receivables and contract assets Ti'%%i’i'] RBERRTEERE %JEHQ%\IE
of the Group as at the end of the reporting period, based on BREENRE DT BESITIAR
the transaction date and net of loss allowance, is as follows: Hﬂt’jﬁ?ﬂ% I B HBR SRR
2022 2021
—E-= —T-—F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR® T ARETF T
Within 3 months =EAA 202,667 144,031
3to 6 months =Z=XEA 48,410 23,832
6 to 12 months NE+ @A 49,203 24,066
1 to 2 years —EMF 12,193 9,374
312,473 201,303
The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of trade B O RWIAN R EBEREZESNT

receivables are as follows:

2022 2021

—E-—F

RMB 000 RMB'000

AR¥T T ARET T

At beginning of year R F]) 9,156 8,189
Provision for impairment losses, net BB R R F5E (M5E6)

(note 6) 5,025 1,136
Amounts written off as uncollectible 8H 1 BT Uk [B] FR IR (647) (110)
Exchange realignment TE X % (36) (59)
At end of year RER 13,498 9,156
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22.

TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (continued)

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date
using a provision matrix to measure expected credit losses.
The provision rates are based on days past due for groupings
of various customer categories with similar loss patterns. The
calculation reflects the probability-weighted outcome, the time
value of money and reasonable and supportable information
that is available at the reporting date about past events,
current conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions.
Generally, trade receivables are written off when there is no
reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual cash

flows.

To support the management to determine the ECLs of trade
receivables, the Group engaged an independent professional
valuer, Jones Lane LaSalle Corporate Appraisal and Advisory
Limited, to perform a valuation.

Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure
on the Group's trade receivables and contract assets using a
provision matrix:

As at 31 December 2022

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 7% 3R 2R Bt o

31 December 2022
—E-—FEf - H=+—H

22. EZREBRRR (&)
REBRERE B G B S B RETR

Bzt EEHEEER -BEHEXIIREAR
BRUBBEXNZEATFENSENE
HAHET -AERMMEMEER B
REINREBBRAISEBBEEE  EA
AL B R AR A B AR A FRBI ) & TR R S B kY o
—MRiME B REYWIAN &S IR TR AT
B&HRERE R FLAME-

RHEREEETRKERNEREER
B AKERE 2B EXGEMPER
TERMERFEAERARETHE-

TR AKEEHABRBRETENES
EURFBERANEEZEERRER:

Current

B

Expected credit loss rate EHEERHEX 0.20%
Gross carrying amount (RMB'000) RELE(ARETT) 165,610
Expected credit losses (RMB'000) BHEEER (ARETT) 327

As at 31 December 2021

Current

&R

Expected credit loss rate EHEEEREX 0.26%
Gross carrying amount (RMB'000) FEEE(ARETT) 85,898
Expected credit losses (RMB'000) HHEERR (ARBTR) 226

R-ZB-ZHF+ZA=+—H
Past due
a
Within 1 year 1to2years  Over 2 years
15’ 182f BiBafF
1.90% 19.40% 100% 416%
142,395 9,300 8,666 325,971
2,701 1,804 8,666 13,498
R=-EB=-%+=ZA=+-—H
Past due
kst
Within 1 year Tto2years  Over 2 years
[E3% 1226 BB
1.88% 16.55% 100% 4.35%
108,296 11,233 5,032 210,459
2,039 1,859 5,032 9,156
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ESREBRWFE (&)
FSR 25 5 R A £ B A G 0 U B R
mF

22. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (continued) 22.
The maturity profile of the bills receivable of the Group as at
the end of the reporting period is as follows:

2022 2021
—E=-= —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T ARET T
Within 3 months =EAR 1,773 4,845
3to 6 months —Z=EA 727 237
6 to 12 months NE+ @A 3,165 1,662
5,665 6,744
23. PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND 23. ERRE HERREREME
OTHER ASSETS -3
2022 2021
—E=-= —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T AREF T
Non-current JERNHER
Deposits b 15,548 -
Current BN HA
Advances to suppliers I £ JE 7 A K 37,359 42,832
Deposit and other receivables e & E AR EIE 20,259 11,377
Other tax recoverable H b A 3R [0 B 5k 72 1,206
57,690 55,415
Impairment allowance E (220) (220)
57,470 55,195

ERFIRS ARBE5,548,00055 7L W B E R
ZHBRAALHTNEE - EERHNFIE
B A B IS IR R B 5E39(e) ©

The non-current deposit of RMB15,548,000 represent deposit
paid for acquisition of Sino Profit Trading Limited. The details
of the transaction are set out in note 39 (e) to the consolidated

financial statements.

184
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23.

PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND
OTHER ASSETS (continued)

Where applicable, an impairment analysis is performed at
each reporting date by considering the probability of default
and expected credit losses are estimated by applying a loss
rate approach with reference to the historical loss record of
the Group. The loss rate is adjusted to reflect the current
conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions,
as appropriate. The financial assets included in the above
balance were categorised in stage 1 at the end of the reporting
period. In calculating the expected credit loss rate, the Group
considers the historical loss rate and adjusts for forward-
looking macroeconomic data. As at 31 December 2022 and
2021, the Group assessed the expected loss rate for the

deposits and other receivables to be minimal.

The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding
receivables to minimise credit risk. Long ageing balances are
reviewed regularly by senior management. The Group does
not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements over its
deposits and other receivable balances. Movements in the
provision for impairment of deposits and other receivables are

as follows:

At beginning and end of year RETNRFER

23.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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31 December 2022
—E-—FEf - H=+—H

FENRE HttEWREREME
E(#)

EEABRAT RERESAHBBEREL
A BE M 1T IR B AT S (E A BT 1B SRR (T
BHEEEE ER2EREEMNBAEE
ke BIEXSEL AR ARBREEEARR
Ko 3 R SR A E AR S RO TEORI (20 ) - R R
SR FEBRANEREES D ASE
—RBBR ERHEEBEXRR AEEE
BiBEEIEE R ATIE SR8 ESURE
HAE - RZE_—FR=-ZFT=—F+=H
=+— A AEEFTEEE RE MM EWRFRIE
B TE HAE5 18 R AS AR 1 -

R BB B E S B R EE R WA 7
K EERBRRERE - REE KA AR H
SREEETHEN AREYERELRS
Ko B JE R IR 4 e d B R IR M s E
15 IR T - 2 & Je EL Al FE MR IR 2 IR 1B B
wEEHWT

2022

—Eg=-=

2021

T —F
RMB’000
ARBTT

RMB’000
ARBT

220 220
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24. EQUITY INVESTMENTS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS

Listed equity investments, at fair value

The equity investments are classified as held for trading and

measured at fair value through profit or loss.

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Group acquired
shares of a listed company in Hong Kong, the trading of which
has been suspended since October 2017 ("Suspended Share”).
On 22 March 2022, the trading of the Suspended Share was
resumed. During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group
disposed all of the Suspended Share.

As at 31 December 2022, equity investments at fair value
through profit or loss represents an investment portfolio
comprising thirteen (2021: one) equity securities listed in Hong
Kong of which eleven (2021: one) are listed on the main board
of the Stock Exchange and the remaining two (2021: Nil) are

listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange.

The total fair value gain of RMB5,096,000 was recognised
for changes in fair value of equity investments at fair value
in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year ended 31
December 2022 (2021: RMB1,948,000).

through profit or loss in “Other income and gains”

The fair values of equity investments as at 31 December 2022
have been determined by reference to the quoted market

prices available on the Stock Exchange.

Details of the summary of significant unobservable inputs to
the valuation of financial investments as at 31 December 2021
together with a quantitative sensitivity analysis are set out in

note 41 to the consolidated financial statements.
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24,

BAREBEFABENRERE

2022
—E-C

2021
—E
RMB'000
ARET T

RMB’000
ARBT

13,452 2,880

REZEDBRFBIER S Wik A R BER
Az o

BE_T—tHF+-_A=+—BLEFE XK
%HW%-%%%Lm”EW&B'EEZ
T-tEtFTAREERS (KK -

RZEBEZ—F=ZA -+ 8 FEERHIRE
R -RBE-_T-_—_F+-_A=+—H1It
FE AEERE T 2HEEEG5 -

RZE-_=—F+-_A=+—H BARE
Bt \BmmRAEZE R —EHISE(ZE
ZT—FBE)ERR LR AESEND
KEMRE EFRNEBE(ZE—F: 131"
BRFTER LT EBMIB(ZTEZ—4F:
) B R FIGEM LT ©

AREES,096,000M AR BERZBED
REE T -_—F+_A=+—HILEFE
MREBERPH [ EMamRA R A
REBANBEFABZEHORAEENRD
nEBEEE (T =—F: ARM1,948000
TT) e

BAZER - E-_—_F+_A=+—HH
NRBEDSERB IO BHTISRE
BT
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BREZEATABEGABEBEMEN
B EREEFREDI HREFEA T B R
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25. DEBT INVESTMENT AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH

PROFIT OR LOSS

Unlisted debt investment LEMEBHRKRE
On 20 March 2019, the Group subscribed an unlisted
bond issued by an independent third party with an
aggregate principal amount of HK$15,000,000 (equivalent
to RMB12,980,000), bearing interest at a rate of 12% per
annum. On 18 March 2020, 18 March 2021, 18 June 2021, 12
October 2021 and 9 August 2022, the Company entered into
supplemental subscription agreements, pursuant to which
the maturity dates of the debt investment were extended to
19 March 2021, 19 June 2021, 19 September 2021, 19 January
2022 and 8 February 2023 respectively. The interest rate of the
debt investment was revised to 9% per annum effective from
19 June 2021 and further revised to 9.5% per annum effective
from 20 January 2022.

A fair value loss of RMB10,943,000 was recognised for changes
in fair value of a debt investment at fair value through profit
or loss in “Other expenses” in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss for the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: a
fair value gain of RMB1,364,000 in “Other income and gain”).

To support the management to determine the fair value of
unlisted debt investment, the Group engaged an independent
professional valuer, Jones Lane LaSalle Corporate Appraisal
and Advisory Limited, to perform a valuation.

Details of the summary of significant unobservable inputs
to the valuation of financial investments together with a
quantitative sensitivity analysis are set out in note 41 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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31 December 2022
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25. RARBEFARENERERE

2022 2021
—=E_-= —E-—4F

RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T R ARBTT

1,270 12,530

RZE—-—HAhFEF=AZ-+H xEERE
—HE - NUBVYEZARTASEEL
15,000,000/ 7t (188 M A K #12,980,000
TL)AFE R R12%F BMIELTESF-R =
T_TE=ZA+N\B ZZE-—F=A+N
H-ZZ-—F<A+N\B ZZ=—%+
A+ZARZZ=Z_FNAIHE KRQFFT
YHraREG R B BEBRENIEA
EoRERE-_ZE-_—F=A+AN8 =
T-—FXAtTtILBE —E-—FNAA+h
B ZEZ-F—At+hBUERZT==
F-_ANR-B-ZE-_—F~At+ABE:
BEBRENFNEEEBITRI% RAZF
TZF—AZtHR - E—SEITRAFANE
9.5% o

HE-_ET-_—_H#+-_A=+—BHILtEE"
REARBEFABENEERENAAR
BEZHNGAERZRNEMES] Rk
RARBEEBEAREI0943,000T (=
T FRTEMRARKZE AERAA
EEUZE A RE,364,0007T) °

R EEBBEEHLTEFRRENAA
BE AEEZE-2BUEXHEMTE
BITEEFBREREGRARETHE

FRCHMREGMEBEZEAT ARG AHK
BERENFE EREERBEL T R
RA BTSRRI LT o
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25.

26.

188

DEBT INVESTMENT AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS (continued)

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, the bond issuer
failed to pay the principal and the interest due on 8 February 2023
pursuant to the fifth supplemental agreement and this constituted
an event of default. Up to the date of this report, the bond issuer
repaid the interest accrued up to 8 February 2023 of HK$709,000
(equivalent to RMB607,000).

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND PLEDGED
DEPOSITS

Be LR ER
[RERHYERN

Cash and bank balances
Pledged deposits

Less: Pledged deposits: o B ERER

25.

26.

Pledged for contract bidding MRS QIEER
Pledged for contract execution BAaRFRITIEER
Cash and cash equivalents ReERBREEFED

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and bank
balances of the Group denominated in RMB amounted to
RMB50,053,000 (2021: RMB42,650,000). The RMB is not
freely convertible into other currencies, however, under
Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and
Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign
Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange
RMB for other currencies through banks authorised to conduct

foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily
bank deposit rates. The bank balances and pledged deposits
are deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent history of
default.

InvesTech Holdings Limited B ZRER A

BEAREBEFABENERRE
(%)

RMERRE EBHERITAREREBEEAR
mRBHEINR-_ZE_=ZF AN \BEH
WA RS - BRENEH - BEEARS
BE E5RITABREBEEE S -_=F—"
A/\B®Z:F 8709,0008 T (HHE B A
R#607,0007T) °

BERBESSEYRCEAERK

2022

—Eg-
RMB’000 RMB000
AR®TR ARBTTT
59,436 54,920
25,549 25,765
84,985 80,685
(4,389) (6,265)
(21,160) (19,500)
(25,549) (25,765)
59,436 54,920

RBRERR AEBUAARBAEZRER
RITH & A AR EES0,053,000 (=B = —
F: ARME42,650,0007T) - ARBEAT B
HBABEMER AW BEFERH b
EEIRIED) R (EIE SERMNESER
E) AEBERBBRBERELCEINEEE 2
BITHAREHLRKHEME -

RITAESREBARITERNE ZFB K
EREUH B - sRITHE R R E BB ERIFHRE
BRIFESIBEMMTIRAIRTT



27. TRADE PAYABLES

28.

An ageing analysis of the trade payables of the Group, based
on the invoice date, as at the end of the reporting period, is as

follows:

Within 3 months =EAA
3 to 12 months =Z+ZfA
1to 2 years —ZEMF
Over 2 years R B A

The Group normally obtains credit terms ranging from 1 to 3
months from its suppliers. Trade payables are unsecured and
interest-free.

CONTRACT LIABILITIES

Details of contract liabilities are as follows:

Advances received from customers

Sales of goods HEEm
Rendering of services MRS
Total contract liabilities BHBERE

Portion classified as non-current liabilities %748 %

Current portion

Contract liabilities included advances received to deliver goods
and render services. The increase in contract liabilities in 2021
was mainly due to the increase in advances received from
customers in relation to sales of goods.

27.

28.

B &P R e 8 R
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31 December 2022
—E-—FEf - H=+—H

B ZRNRE
RBEERRAEEE S RAFARERR
HWEH RRER DTN T

2022 2021

—E -

RMB 000 RMB'000

AR®T T AREF T

152,501 94,105

30,957 48,709

10,107 12,924

21,665 19,094

215,230 174,832
AEE-—REHREERE TN T —E2=[EA

=
I:/\

) °%%J§ﬁmlﬁiz%ﬁ%ﬁﬁ3&§é%°

EHNEE
BHEEFBEOT
31 December 31 December
2022
B —F

+=-—A=+—H
RMB’000
AREF T

RMB’000
AR®T

30,190 22,862
18,219 5,802
48,409 28,664

= (2,831)
48,409 25,833

BEHRESREARNE @ RIEH RS IR
MBWHIR —E_—FENAREBEMNER
BB E T B &P WA B U R IR R
IFTEL
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Hi BN RIER BB

29. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 29.

190

Loans from a director —HBEFRLTHER

Accruals s &

Other taxes payable H At IR

Other payables H fth fE AT F0IB

Total other payables and accruals E T FRIE K
[EFT B R4

As at 31 December 2022, included in the Group's other
payables and accruals were loans payable to a director of the
Company at an aggregate amount of HK$6,390,000 (equivalent
to RMBD5,651,000) (2021: Nil). The details of the terms of
loans are set out in note 39(b) to the consolidated financial

statements.

As at 31 December 2021, included in the Group's other
payables and accruals was a loan amounting to HK$4,000,000
(equivalent to RMB3,260,000), payable to Smoothly Global,
which is owned by two directors of the Company. The loan
payable was unsecured and interest-free. During the year
ended 31 December 2022, the loan amount had been fully
settled.

Save as disclosed above, the other payables and accruals are

interest-free and have an average term of three months.

InvesTech Holdings Limited B ZRER A

2022 A
—E=-= —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR®T T ARETT
5,651 -
25,050 12,829

143 1,734

7,576 10,484
38,420 25,047

MN-ZBE-—F+-_A=+—HB A&EBEHEM
ERNFIEREFERBEENEAAG—F
EEMEFEEE H6,390,0008 T (FHER
AR#5,651,000T) (ZE=Z—F:F)-H
BE R ERNFBERN GRS M B KM
FE39(b) ©

R-E-—F+-_A=+—H ~EEEM
JE 5018 2 FE 5T B A R B 45 FE 1 Smoothly
Global (HAARIMEBEEERE)MERK
4,000,000 7T (1B E X A R ¥3,260,0007T)
ZENERARERBEEE - ZENERE
REBEZE-Z-__F+-A=+—HIHFE
WIEEEEE -

B EXATIRERE SN R R LR &
RR%2S RTHEFRBR/=MEA-



30.

INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER

BORROWINGS

Current

Other |

Other

Non-current

30.

Effective
interest rate
(%) Maturity
BRFI%E %) B
L
Lease liabilities (note 15(b) HEAE (MF150) 5.35-5.44 2023
Bank loans - unsecured RITER %Tﬁﬁ 3.65-8.08 2023
0ans - unsecured HitEH-BEA - -
loan - secured HEER-FER 15.60 2023
FEH
Lease liabilities (note 15(b)) MEBE (MF150) 5,35-5.44 2024-2025
loan-unsecured (note 30(d)) E &R %%&ﬁ(wumd)) 8.00 2024

Other

Notes:

As at 31 December 2022, a director of the Company provided
guarantees to certain subsidiaries of the Group in respect of
revolving banking facilities in aggregate of RMB107,937,000
(2021: RMB20,595,000). As at 31 December 2022,
RMB31,635,000 (2021: RMB14,421,000) was outstanding under

these banking facilities.

As at 31 December 2022,
guarantee to a subsidiary of the Company in respect of a non-
revolving bank loan of RMB10,000,000 (2021: RMB10,000,000)
and other loans of RMB3,095,000 (2021: RMB4,886,000).

the directors also provided a

As at 31 December 2022, except for the unsecured bank
loans of US$480,000 (equivalent to RMB3,294,000) and
HK$29,300,000(equivalent to RMB25,913,000) which were
denominated in USD and HK$, all borrowings were denominated
in RMB.
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31 December 2022
—E-—FEf - H=+—H

FTERITREMMER

Effective
interest rate
RMB’000 €0 Maturity RMB'000
ARET R HE ARETR
5,843 5.33-6.97 2022 7,040
50,636 3.59-4.80 2022 24,421
- 2.23-5.78 2022 4,886
3,095 -
59,574 36,347
7,869 5.33-6.97 2023-2025 12,921
2,476 _
10,345 12,921
69,919 49,268
Bat -
(a) Eé:?::EwL—H =+—8B A2

—HEERBRTREREAEAR
%107,937,00% (ZZB-—F: AR%
20,595,0007T) M A& B A T i &8 2 Bl it
BR-WRZZ_=F+=A=+—8 %%
RITREREE ST A ARES1,635,0007T
(ZZ=—%F: AR¥14,421,0000T) °

RZTEZ=ZF+ZA=+—H FB/3
IEMBIRIBITE K AR E10,000,000T (=
——4F: AR#¥10,000,0007T) & H it E X
AR¥3095000c (ZE=Z—F: AR
4,886,0007T ) [ A8 A &) — el B /&8 2 &) 42 44
FiRo

RZFEZZF+=ZA=+—8 "KBHAl
LNETRBLTAENERMBRITER
480,000% 7T (1HE M A R %3,294,0007T ) &
29,300,000/ 7T (48 & 7 A K #25,913,000
TN B EREIUARBE -
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30. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER

192

BORROWINGS (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(c)

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, except for the unsecured
other loans of HK$2,800,000 (equivalent to RMB2,476,000), all
the unsecured bank loans and unsecured other loans were
repayable within one year.

A loan agreement with principal amount of HK$2,800,000
(equivalent to RMB2,476,000) bearing interest rate of 8% per
annum with maturity date on 22 December 2024 was entered
into between a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company and
a related company named Finsoft Finance Limited. Ms. Tin Yat
Yu Carol, holding not more than 30% of the ultimate holding
company of the related company, is also the director of the

related company and the Company.

As at 31 December 2022, the investment properties of the Group
are pledged to secure a loan of RMB3,095,000.

InvesTech Holdings Limited B ZRER A

30.

TERSRITREMMER (8)
HriE ()
© F FToFR-F--—F+-A=+-—

[ 4 4 7 LM B 3R02,800,00078 7T (M8 E
EA/\EMQ 476 ooom)ﬁ\\’ﬁﬁﬁﬂ#&ﬁﬁﬁﬁ
BERRERREMERGAR —FNEE-

ARr—He2EWNBARE R ARE
MERBRAFTMNBERAGVASE
452,800,000 7T (10 & 7 A R 2,476,000
TU) R EFREU BN T _MFE+ A
:Jr:EIﬁ'JE@E’J%%’KT’F*f’Bﬂ*ﬁﬁt(ﬁ
BB R R A R T BIE30%ESS )
NEBEARRARNARES-

RZE-_—F+-_A=+—H A£EE
BEMEREIR - BERARMES 0950007
PE¥ER



31.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2022
—E-—FEf - H=+—H

SHARE CAPITAL 31. B
Shares B% 17

Issued and fully paid: EETRERE:
117,240,000 ordinary shares of US$0.01 each  117,240,000f% & EE0.01% T
(2021: 84,240,000 ordinary shares of EBR(ZZ=_—%F:
US$0.01 each) 84,240,000 &R F & US$1,172,400 US$842,400
0.01€7T 2 EiBAR) 1,172,400% 7T 842,4005 7T
Equivalent to BER RMB7,553,000 RMB5,464,000
AR¥7,553,000t A X#5,464,0007T
A summary of movements in the Company's share capital is as RARIRAEBMEZNT -
follows:

Number of Share capital
shares in issue Equivalent to
ERTRA
2B IR E R
US$'000 RMB'000
FET AR®EFT
At 1 January 2021 R—E-_—F—HF—H 1,404,000,000 28,080 188,710
Share consolidation (increase in nominal ~ B&7 A6 (B EEH0.02% T
value from US$0.02 each to US$0.40 ENZzE040FT) (MIFE@E)))
each) (note (a)(i)) (1,333,800,000) - -
Capital reduction (decrease in nominal IR A HIR (B AR E (B 0.405% T
value from US$0.40 each to US$0.01 AP ZE0.01%7T) (B FEE)))
each (note (a)(ii) - (27,378) (184,152)
Issue of shares (note (b)) BT (HI5E(D)) 14,040,000 140 906
At 31 December 2021 and 1 January 2022 R=-Z=-—-4#+-A=+-HR
—E-_—_f—-HF—H 84,240,000 842 5,464
Issue of shares (note (c)) BT (MRE(c)) 33,000,000 330 2,089
At 31 December 2022 R-ZBE-Zf+=-A=+—H 117,240,000 1,172 7,553
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31. SHARE CAPITAL (continued)
Shares (continued)

Note:

(a)

194

Pursuant to the extraordinary general meeting of the Company
held on 23 June 2021, the proposed capital reorganisation which
comprised the following (the “Capital Reorganisation”) had
become effective on 28 July 2021:

(i) Every twenty (20) issued and unissued ordinary shares
of US$0.02 each in the share capital of the Company
are consolidated into one (1) ordinary share of HK$0.40
each in the share capital of the Company which became
effective on 28 July 2021 (the "Share Consolidation”).
As a result of the Share Consolidation, the number
of authorised ordinary shares was adjusted from
1,404,000,000 of US$0.02 each to 70,200,000 of US$0.40
each while the number of issued and fully paid ordinary
shares was adjusted from 1,404,000,000 of US$0.02 each
to 70,200,000 of US$0.40 each.

(i) The capital reduction was implemented immediately upon
the Share Consolidation becoming effective, pursuant to
which the par value of each of the issued consolidated
shares was reduced from US$0.40 to US$0.01 by
cancelling the paid-up capital of the Company to the
extent of US$0.39 on each of the issued consolidated
shares. As such, the issued share capital was reduced
by US$27,378,000 (equivalent to RMB184,152,000), in
which the corresponding amount had been credited to
contributed surplus.

Details of the Capital Reorganisation are set out in the
announcements of the Company dated 3 May 2021, 26 May 2021,
23 June 2021, 8 July 2021 and 27 July 2021, and the circular of
the Company dated 31 May 2021.

On 6 September 2021, 14,040,000 new shares were issued at
price of HK$1.24 per share to not less than six independent
third parties for an aggregate cash consideration, net of
expenses, of HK$16,833,000 (equivalent to RMB13,976,000). The
related transaction costs amounting to HK$577,000 (equivalent
to RMBA479,000).

On 11 March 2022, 33,000,000 new shares were issued at a price
of HK$1.50 per share to not less than six independent third
parties for an aggregate cash consideration, net of expenses,
of HK$48,008,000 (equivalent to RMB38,848,000). The related
transaction costs amounting to HK$1,492,000 (equivalent to
RMB1,207,000).
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31.

IR ()

iz 12
KBiat

(a)

(%)

BER -_ZE-—FRAZT=ZRARITHR
REBRRFHIAEG BFEATARNEE
BAEE (RAEEDER=Z=_—F+t
A+ N NBAEX:

(i) BE - +QOBRARQRBRAT /KA
BO02ETLZ B HTRMARETYE
BREHBE—(VRARRRAEAFTE
REELOE T2 EBR TE-F
Z—F A+ NBREK(TRHD
GO - ERBRHAEM EEER
B 81 B f11,404,000,0008% (& mEE
0.0235 T ) 38 F 270,200,000/ (& i
E{E040ETT) MEEHITREARZ
L@ A% S E A $1,404,000,0000% (&
A% T E0.025 7T ) 38 £70,200,000A%
(BRMAE040ETT) °

iy MRABREBEROHEHERNEE
T B EREEARRZEHR
KN (AR E EITA BIRIN0.39FE T
BR)EESROEITAHRG ZEE
FR0.403 TCHIR Z=0.013 - Atk » B
1T IR AN B Il R27,378,0003€ 7T (48
B ARK184,152,0007T) © HHES
HOHATREBE-

BAREBEEANFBEHIRAQAFTBBHAE-T
—T—FRAZH - ZTE=—FHAZ=F+RX
H - XA-_+=H —T——
F+ANBR-_ZE-_—Ft+tA-++tEH
REURARRBHAE-_ZT-_—FHA
=T HEEK-

MZZT=—FAA/NH " 14,040,000 %
ERSRI2WETHEREIT T RORN
EEUE=H KA RRESRER
16,833,0007% 7T (855 7 A R #13,976,000
JL) * FARA S Ak A A577,000 7T (FAE R
AR #8479 0007T) °

WZZZZ=4F=H+—H" 330000008
REIZZRIS0E THERBETTFROR
NEBUE=ZF NMERAIXERBRSRE
48,008,000/ 7T (FHE M AR 538,848,000
JL) MR F A B1,492,0005 T (FHE
W AR1,207,0007T) ©



32. SHARE OPTION SCHEME

(a)

2010 Share Option Scheme

The Company operates a share option scheme (the “2010
Share Option Scheme”) for the purpose of providing
incentives and rewards to eligible participants who
contribute to the success of the Group's operations
and/or to enable the Group to recruit and retain high
calibre employees and attract human resources that are
valuable to the Group and any invested entity. Eligible
participants of the Scheme include the Company's
directors, including executive director and independent
non-executive directors, other employees of the Group,
the Company’s shareholders, any non-controlling
shareholder in the Company’s subsidiaries, holders
of any security issued or proposed to be issued by any
member of the Group or any entity in which the Group
holds any equity interest, and any other person including
any consultant, distributor, contractor, supplier, agent,
customer, business partner, joint venture business
partner, promoter or service provider of any member of
the Group whom the board of directors considers, in its
sole discretion, has contributed or will contribute to the
Group. The Scheme became effective on 25 October 2010
and, unless otherwise cancelled or amended, will remain
in force for 10 years from that date. As such, the scheme
expired in October 2020.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

P A SRR MY EE

31 December 2022
—E-—FEf - H=+—H

32. BRESTE

(a)
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32. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) 32. BBIRHERTE (5)
(@) 2010 Share Option Scheme (continued) (a) S ZFTFEERETE (B
Share options do not confer rights on the holders to BRI T A AMEUR B3R
dividends or to vote at shareholders meetings. RRAREHREZEF-
The following share options were outstanding under the ATRFARE - —ZFHBREST
2010 Share Option Scheme during the year: ZI AT 2 B AR

2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
Weighted Weighted
average Number of average Number of

exercise price options exercise price options

BT 9TREE BREHE IETHTRE BREHE
HK$ ‘000 HK$ ‘000
BT T4 BT +in

(Note)

(F&E)

At 1 January and R—A—HK

31 December +-A=+—H 34 396 34 396

Note: Bt T -

Due to the Share Consolidation in 2021, the exercise price of the AR —FHRHEH RZF
share options granted on 25 October 2016 was adjusted from —ANFTAZTHRAEHMERED
HK$1.7 to HK$34.0. TEBE.TETHEE0ET-

No share options under the 2010 Share Option Scheme HE-ZT-—_FR-F-_—F+=A
were granted, exercised, cancelled, or lapsed during the =T -HRLEFE HERBE_Z-F
years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, FRREEIERE 1TE ek

W7 BB -
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32. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)
(@) 2010 Share Option Scheme (continued)

32.

Number of Exercise price*

per share
BRiTEE
HK$

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2022
—E-—F+=HA=+—H

BIRERT & (5)
(@) —Z-—ZEFEKRETE (8

Grant date
of share option Exercise period

BRERILAA s

Name and category of share options
participants SEEMZRER BREYE
'000
TH

Directors 2%
Wang Fang 5 144
108
108
360
Chan Sek Keung, Ringo % 14
1
1
36
39

The exercise price of the share options is subject to
adjustment in the case of rights or bonus issues, or other

similar changes in the Company’s share capital.

No share option expense under the 2010 Share Option
Scheme was recognised by the Group during the year
ended 31 December 2022 and 2021.

o

34

34

34

34

34

34

25-10-2016 25-10-2016 to 25-10-2026
—E-RF ZE-~E+RA-T+HRZE
+A=-+xA ZZZRETAZTAA
25-10-2016 25-10-2017 to 25-10-2026
—E-RE “E—+F+A-THRE
+A=-+xA ZZZRETAZTAA
25-10-2016 25-10-2018 to 25-10-2026
—E-RE “E-\5+R-T+HBZE
+A=-+xA ZZZRETAZTAA
25-10-2016 25-10-2016 to 25-10-2026
Sy “E-"EtA-tHHE
+A=+%H “Z2-~¥tA=t1H
25-10-2016 25-10-2017 to 25-10-2026
ZE-RE “ET-+F+A-+RAZ
+A=+%H “Z2-~¥tA=t1H
25-10-2016 25-10-2018 to 25-10-2026
ZE-RE “Z-\f+A-+RAZ
+A=+%H “Z2-~¥tA=t1H

* B T EER R EITA
FULATEE o

BE T -_—_F#KxK-_FT-_—F+_-H4

—t+t—HLEFE AEEHMERER -

Z-TFEEREFIR N ZERBK
TR o
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32. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

(a)

(b)

198

2010 Share Option Scheme (continued)

The fair value of equity-settled share options granted
during the year ended 31 December 2016 was estimated
as at the date of grant using a binomial model, taking
into account the terms and conditions upon which the
options were granted. The following table lists the inputs

to the model used:

Dividend yield (%) 0.00
Expected volatility (%) 59.63
Risk-free interest rate (%) 1.56
Expected life of options (year) 10
Exercise multiple 2.393

The expected life of the options is based on the historical
data over the past three years and is not necessarily
indicative of the exercise patterns that may occur. The
expected volatility reflects the assumption that the
historical volatility is indicative of future trends, which

may also not necessarily be the actual outcome.

2021 Share Option Scheme
On 23 June 2021,
“2021 Share Option Scheme”) was approved by the

a new share option scheme (the

shareholders of the Company and adopted by the
Company.

The purposes of the 2021 Share Option Scheme are,
through ownership of shares and/or the increase in value
of shares, to align the participants’ interests with those
of the Group, to incentivise and reward the participants
for their contribution to the long-term growth and
profits of the Group and any of the invested entity,
and/or to enable the Group to recruit and retain high-
calibre employees and attract human resources that are
valuable to the Group and any of the invested entity, with
a view to achieving the objective of increasing the value

of the Group.
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(a)

(b)
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32. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

(b)

2021 Share Option Scheme (continued)

Eligible participants include the directors of the
Company, any employee (whether full-time or part-time)
of the Company, any supplier of goods or services to, any
customer of, and any advisors, consultants, agents and

distributors of any member of the Group.

The maximum number of share options permitted to
be granted under the 2021 Share Option Scheme is an
amount equivalent, upon their exercise, to 10% of the
shares of the Company in issue on the adoption date.
The maximum number of shares issuable under share
options to each eligible participant in the Scheme within
any 12-month period is limited to 1% of the shares of the
Company in issue at any time. Any further grant of share
options in excess of this limit is subject to shareholders’

approval in a general meeting.

Share options granted to a director, chief executive or
substantial shareholder of the Company, or to any of
their associates, are subject to approval in advance by
the independent non-executive directors. In addition, any
share options granted to a substantial shareholder or an
independent non-executive director of the Company, or
to any of their associates, in excess of 0.1% of the shares
of the Company in issue at any time or with an aggregate
value (based on the closing price of the Company’s
shares at the date of grant) in excess of HK$5 million,
within any 12-month period, are subject to shareholders’

approval in advance in a general meeting.
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32. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)
(b) 2021 Share Option Scheme (continued)

200

Participants of the 2021 Share Option Scheme are
required to pay the Company HK$1.00 upon acceptance
of the grant on the offer date. The exercise price of the
options is determined by the board of directors in its
absolute discretion and shall not be less than whichever
is the highest of:

(@) the closing price of the shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheet on the date
of the grant, which must be a trading day;

(b)  the average closing price of the shares as stated in
the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheet for the
five (5) trading days immediately preceding the date
of the grant; and

(c)  the par value of a Share on the date of grant. The
2021 Share Option Scheme shall be valid and
effective for a period of 10 years from 23 June 2021
after which no further options will be granted or
offered.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to

dividends or to vote at shareholders’ meetings.

InvesTech Holdings Limited B ZRER A
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2022
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32. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) 32. IEBRRESTE (8

(b) 2021 Share Option Scheme (continued) (b) —E-—FEREE (B
AT AERRE 2= —FBERE
B R AT 2 B AR

The following share options were outstanding under the

2021 Share Option Scheme during the year:

Weighted Weighted

AR EE BEREHA NETHITEE RERESE

HK$
BT

2022 2021
—E-C —E-—F
average Number of average Number of
exercise price options exercise price options
‘000 HK$ ‘000
T4 BT T
(Note)
(H&E)
At 1 January R—HA—H 1.486 6,529 - -
Granted during FAEE
the year - - 1.486 6,529
At 31 December w+-—A=+—8 1.486

No share options under the 2021 Share Option Scheme
were grant, exercised, cancelled, or lapsed during the

year ended 31 December 2022.

On 13 September 2021, the Company offered to
grant share options of the Company to grantees (the
“Grantees”), which are subject to the acceptance of the
Grantees and the payment of HK$1.00 by each of the
Grantees upon acceptance of the options, which carry
the rights to subscribe for a total of 6,528,600 ordinary
shares, pursuant to the 2021 Share Option Scheme. No
share options under the 2021 Share Option Scheme were
exercised, cancelled, or lapsed during the year ended 31
December 2021.

6,529 1.486 6,529

BT+ _-_A=+—HI#F
E-mRE T - —EERETE
B 171 s R R -

RZEBEZ—FALA+=RB XRAE
BE-T - —FRERETEIRERA
([FEBEADREEHARATERE -
HEAFERAZERRSEEREARE R
BB AR P S A1.0078 T 18 - IR AT
REEA 26,528 600 LR -H ==
T F+-_A=Z+—HLEEE #&
ERBE T - —FEREAEETE
FEEH S R R P AR -
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31 December 2022
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32. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) 32. BBIRHERTE (5)
(b) 2021 Share Option Scheme (continued) (b) =F=-—FRREE (&)
Exercise
Name of category of Number of price  Grant date
participants SEALHE /R share options per share  of share option Exercise period
BREHE BRITEE BRERLAHE €8
HK$
BT
Directors ] 772,200 1486 13/9/2021 13/9/2021-12/9/2025
% “ECFAATZAE
NA+=H “ZZRFAATZA
772,200 1486 13/9/2021 13/9/2022-12/9/2025
—B-F “ECCFAATZAE
NA+=H ZECRFAATCR
Other participants L YN 2,492,100 1486 13/9/2021 13/9/2021-12/9/2025
—B-F “E-FAATZAZE
NA+=H ZECRFAATCR
2,492,100 1486 13/9/2021 13/9/2022-12/9/2025
B “ECCFAATZAE
NA+T=H “ZZREAATZRH
6,528,600
The share option expense under the 2021 Share Option BHE_ZE__F+-_A=+—HIE
Scheme recognised by the Group is approximately FE AEEBR-_ZT-_—FER
RMB1,203,000 (2021: RMB925,000) during the year ended BiAEET 2 ERERYDARE
31 December 2022. 1,203,000 (ZE = —F: AR¥
925,0007T.) °
The fair value of equity-settled share options granted BE-_Z-_—F+-_A=+—HL*F
during the year ended 31 December 2021 was estimated FERLUREEEBREZ AAE
as at the date of grant using a binomial model, taking B DHRELEBEBRRAZEXRE (S
into account the terms and conditions upon which the 5 W0 E R PTIR HRE RO B (6 R MR
options were granted. The following table lists the inputs e TR HRE T A BB AE R

to the model used:

Dividend yield (%) 0.00 i B 8 2 (%) 0.00
Expected volatility (%) 81.95 TEHR 18 (%) 81.95
Risk-free interest rate (%) 0.52 4 1) 22 3 B2 (%) 0.52
Expected life of options (year) 4 BERETREIER (F) 4
Exercise multiple 0-334 T EE 0-3.34
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32.

33.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

(b) 2021 Share Option Scheme (continued)
The expected life of options is based on the historical
data over the past three years and is not necessarily
indicative of the exercise patterns that may occur. The
expected volatility reflects the assumption that the
historical volatility is indicative of future trends, which

may also not necessarily be the actual outcome.

At the end of the year, the Company had 6,924,600 share
options outstanding under the 2010 Share Option Scheme
and 2021 Share Option Scheme. The exercise in full of the
outstanding share options would, under the present capital
structure of the Company, result in the issue of 6,924,600
additional ordinary shares of the Company and additional
share capital of US$69,246 (equivalent to RMB475,231) (before
issue expenses).

At the date of approval of these financial statements, the
Company had 6,924,600 share options outstanding under
these schemes, which represented approximately 5.9% of the

Company’s shares in issue as at that date.

RESERVES

The amounts of the Group's reserves and the movements
therein for the current and prior years are presented in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity on pages 87 to 90
of the consolidated financial statements.

32.

33.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2022
—E-—FEf - H=+—H

BIRERT & (5)

(b) ZFE-—FBERETE (&)
BREZENFRUBE=ZFZESL
BELSEE BRULRAIEHLETRE
18 30 B H5 15 - T8 B R 08 S BR /R SR 1R
BRAKBENRE AGERLAE
BRAER

RER AR B 6,924,60017 BE A% 4E 14 &
BRE_Z—SFEREFER_T=_—F
FERARET BITTE - IR B AN A RIIR RS MY AR AR 52
T‘%’%%(ﬁﬁ‘rﬁ%ﬁ@i%ﬁﬁ%ﬂﬁ?@ﬁﬁ%ﬁ
HNEE1T76,924,6000% AN 1 7] L 38 A% K 3% hn A%
69,2463 TT ($H*BME¢1%475,231 L) Ok
MBREITRAS) °

RILEZEMBRR]AY AQFHA
6,924,60017 8 A4 im RAR IR A2 B At BITTE -
HERZBARR D BTN 45.9% °

]
KEIEA$¢J§&@&¢FZ%%$%§&
HEBHREEMBREFETA EIE 241
*%EE“ %EEIJO
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31 December 2022
—E-—F+=H=+—H

34. PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES WITH MATERIAL 3. BEEARFEZHERZZHBIEEH

NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS BAT
Details of the Company’s subsidiaries that have material non- ERBEEERNFEHRERZARAIMER
controlling interests are set out below: AIEFFIRESIT

Percentage of equity interest SRR TR AR B DL
held by non-controlling interests
Wafer iMusic Joint Venture* Wafer iMusic Joint Venture* 30% 30%
* The Group established an unincorporated joint venture with an * REFERE-—ZHEIE=795IRI0 %K
independent third party in proportion to the contribution of 70% 30%H) B E LB . —FEEA R E R E -

and 30% respectively.

2022 2021
—_E__ —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T ARETF T
Loss for the year allocated to AELTIEESI S 2
non-controlling interests FEBE
Fortune Grace Fortune Grace - (3,310)
Wafer iMusic Joint Venture Wafer iMusic Joint Venture 2,863 (843)
2,863 (4,153)
Accumulated balances of non-controlling R ¥k B #3552 T 3E1% )
interests at the reporting date W2 BET S
Wafer iMusic Joint Venture Wafer iMusic Joint Venture 10,856 6,551
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34. PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES WITH MATERIAL 34.
NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS (continued)
The following table illustrates the summarised financial
information of Wafer iMusic Joint Venture. The amounts

disclosed are before any inter-company eliminations:

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2022
—E-—FEf - H=+—H

BEEXREEFIER 2B EEMH
|- NCIRE))

TR /RWafer iMusic Joint Venture®) 81 7
ERBE-MEEEDARBKEN 22
¥

2022 2021
—=E—-— T —F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR® T ARETF T
Revenue g A 49,835
Total expenses X (40,291) (2.809)
Profit/(loss) for the year FEHM(EBE) 9,544 (2,809)
Total comprehensive income /(loss) FE2EWE (BB) B8
for the year 11,705 (2,758)
Current assets MENEE 81,148 21,783
Non-current assets EMEEE 2,624 3,440
Current liabilities mEAIE (47,582) (3,386)
Net cash flows used in operating activities £Z& /EEMAREREFHE (19,843) (3,632)
Net cash flows used in investing activities & & /ZBFTAR S REFHE (427) (19,499)
Net cash flows from financing activities ~ BEEEBIFIBHRE S REFHE 21,645 23,490
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 32 & MR & S (&Y INF5E 1,375 359
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31 December 2022
—E-—F+=H=+—H

35. DISCONTINUED OPERATION AND DISPOSAL OF

206

SUBSIDIARIES

On 25 March 2021, the Company entered into a sale and
purchase agreement, pursuant to which the Company has
conditionally agreed to sell all issued share of InvesTech
Finance (International) Limited (which directly owned 100% of
InvesTech Finance Limited, and collectively “Disposal Group”)
for a cash consideration of HK$16,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately RMB13,355,000) (the “Disposal’). The Disposal
Group was principally engaged in money lending business
in Hong Kong. Details of the Disposal have been set out in
the announcement of the Company dated 25 March 2021.
The Disposal has been completed on 30 March 2021, and
the Disposal Group ceases to be the subsidiaries of the
Company and was regarded as a discontinued operation in
accordance with IFRS 5 “Non-current Assets Held for Sale
and Discontinued Operations”. Accordingly, the results of the
money lending business was not included in the continuing

operations since the year ended 31 December 2021.

The results from the discontinued operation for the period
from 1 January 2021 to 30 March 2021 are presented below:

35.

ERIEEXRBRUHERBE QT

MNR-ZE-—F=ZA-+FHB ARAFL
BBz Bl ARFERGRELE
InvesTech Finance (International) Limited
(EEBREAEEEVBAER D A00%E
GREIEHEEER] 2 EBITRG B
(B /316,000,000 T (HERHDARKE
13,355,0007T) ([HEF®E]) -HEEET
EREBREREER LEFHEABIAN
AREREA-_ZS-_—F=ZA-+HAH
RNE-HEEBEER-_TE=Z—F=A=1+A8
T BERESEETNHERARRMER AKX
B AR 15 B R B 75 3R 5 2RI SE55% [ E &
EMBEEMORILKREER | HEEDR
IFREEB - B MEXBNEEE T
T A=t -HRUEFAFEL

B-F - A-HEEZF=_—F=
A=+HILHE REERIEEERHHE
BEWWT

RMB’000
ARET T

Revenue WA 48
Administrative expenses* TR * (15)

33
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HENEB AW 1,296
Profit for the period from discontinued operation KB BRI E BN R 1,329

*

Including short-term lease expense of RMB15,000.

InvesTech Holdings Limited B ZRER A
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31 December 2022
—E - —FF - A=+—H

35. DISCONTINUED OPERATION AND DISPOSAL OF 3. ERIEKEXBRHEME QT
SUBSIDIARIES (continued) (1 g)
The assets and liabilities of the discontinued operation over RZE-Z—F=A=THEREEHED
which control was lost as at 30 March 2021 are stated as RS &7 EEBHNEERABEIIWNT:
follows:
RMB'000
ARET T
Loan receivables FEUE K 12,511
Interest receivables JE W ) 2, 195
Prepayments, other receivables and other assets TR FRIAE ~ B At JE R TE B Bt B B 8
Tax recoverable AJ = A 1E 9
Cash and cash equivalents ReERBF2EFED 1
Other payables and accruals Hb N FRIA KT E A (8)
Net assets disposed of EHENEETE 12,716
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEMRBRRM KR 1,296
Reclassification of foreign currency translation HEREHSBINELEFEE
reserve upon disposal (657)
Total consideration BRE 13,355
The net cash outflows incurred by the discontinued operation B-_ZE_—F—A-BRE_T_—F=
for the period from 1 January 2021 to 30 March 2021 are stated A=+THILHEERIEKEEETEFNR
as follows: emEFEEWT
RMB'000
ARETF T
Operating activities KRS 183
Investing activities REEH -
Financing activities MEEH (245)
Net cash outflows Re M FHE (62)
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36.

208

CONVERTIBLE BOND

On 23 September 2021, the Group entered into the sales and
purchase agreement to acquire 25% equity interest of Fortune
Grace from Smoothly Global Holdings Limited which was
settled by the issue of the convertible bond in the principal
amount of HK$30,000,000. Details of the convertible bond are
set out as follows:

The Company issued coupon rate 1.5% per annum convertible
bond with a principal amount of HK$30,000,000 on 26
November 2021.

HK$. The bond will mature in three years from the issue date

The convertible bond is denominated in

at their principal amount or can be converted into ordinary
shares of the Company at the holder’s option at the initial
fixed rate of 20,000,000 shares per HK$1.5 of the outstanding
principal. The maturity date of the convertible bond is 25
November 2024 (the “Maturity Date”). The conversion period
start from 26 November 2021 to 19 November 2024. The
Company may at its sole and absolute discretion redeem the
principal amount of the convertible bond at any time prior
to the Maturity Date ("Early Redemption Option”). The Early
Redemption Option held by the Company is closely related to
the host debt component.

The fair value of the debt component was determined at the
issuance of the convertible bond. The fair value of the debt
component, classified as non-current financial liabilities,
was calculated using a market interest rate for an equivalent
non-convertible bonds. The residual amount, representing
the value of the equity conversion component, is included in

shareholders’ equity.

InvesTech Holdings Limited B IZR G R A 7

36.

AR E S

RZE-Z—FNAZ+=8 AEEHFTLE
E 17 7% [MSmoothly Global Holdings Limited
RHEFortune Grace 25%% 1 » H A5 LABE 1T A
©#A30,000,00078 T B AT AR (B 25 5 T 4505 ©
BRATTBRRESFOFBRIAT

AKRBR_E-—F+— A=+ "B%E1T
7N 4 %8 /530,000,000/%8 7T F B E1.5%H 7]
BMEES AT RERESFUNBTHE-ZFE
EAFEHEETHBAR=FANIE BRE
BEAFERKOBASE ERRLBA
20,000,000!&H&1.55%ﬁé@ﬂﬁ1ﬁa’a‘%ﬂ%f
ELHEBREEFACBELRARAA L

fReormRESHBHA AT _MNF+— H
Z+RA([BEA]) #RHE T = —
F+—A-+"HEBE-ZE-_MNF+—A
TAB - AARZREEZBERBEATHEA
([H2R1FE B & =24 ] ) B {n) B & AT & =1 7]

BBRESARE - AR BHA ZIEA B RIEE
RETERE D E YR -
BEBHBONAARBERETIRRESE

B °1§%%E%E@’Aﬁ EBE(DE/FERDY
AOER A E T 5 A
Bl mEE)



36. CONVERTIBLE BOND (continued)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 7% 3R 2R Bt o

31 December 2022
—E-—FEf - H=+—H

36. T#Hﬁﬁ%(ﬂ%

The convertible bond recognised in the consolidated statement RS B RS IR S 3R A HE RR RO AT HR AR B 5 5T

of financial position is calculated as follows:

R ONNE

RMB’000
AR¥T R

Nominal value of convertible bond issued
during the year
Less: Amount of equity component

Debt component on initial recognition and at
31 December 2021

Interest expense (note 7)
Repayment

Exchange realignment

Debt component at 31 December 2022

Interest expense on the convertible bond is calculated using
the effective interest method by applying the effective interest

rate of approximately 5.75% to the debt component.

FRABEITARKRESEE

31,785
RIS EE (10,113)
RFHEREER T - —F
+—A=+—HMNEEITD 21,672
FB S (MEET7) 1,458
FEfTF A (386)
E$ﬂ% 1,880
RZE-_—_F+-_A=+—HH

BigE o 24,624

AR 5 ) ) B P S R BB R ROR
BEBORALS. %N ERMEETHE
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31 December 2022
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37. NOTE TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 37. ZEREREBRMEE

CASH FLOWS

(@) Major non-cash transactions () EXFREXRS
During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group HE_T-__F+_A=1T—HILF
had non-cash additions/lease modification to right- B AEEpEEMHELTYEEA
of-use assets and lease liabilities of RMB662,000 REERHEBRBEZIREAE M
and RMB662,000, respectively, in respect of lease BT 0 R m AREE662,0007T X AR
arrangements for buildings. #5662,0007T °

(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing (b) METBFELEZAEBEH
activities
2022 —EFE-—F

Interest-

bearing
Lease Loans from bank and other Convertible
liabilities a director borrowings* bond

RE—% FHERTR
HERE EECEX HifEs TRRES
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARBT R ARBT R ARBT R ARBT R

At 1 January 2022 RZE-—F—A—H 19,961 - 29,307 21,672
Changes from financing cash flows: BERESREEEZEE:
New bank and other borrowings BRI REMER = = 63,475 -
Repayments of bank and other BRRITRAMER

borrowings - - (37,699) -
Increase in loans from a director RE—REEMEFTEM - 5,651 - -
Lease payments HEMNR (7,119) = = =
Total changes from financing RERGRBELZ

cash flows 2HHmE (7,119) 5,651 25,776 -
Other changes: Hih 2
New leases HHE 662 - - -
Interest expense FEEY 911 - 1,880 1,458
Interest paid classified as SEREERENEL

operating cash flows BFE 911) - (1,880) (386)
Foreign exchange movements B &5 208 - 1,124 1,880
At 31 December 2022 i ——

+ZA=+—H 13,712 5,651 56,207 24,624
* The interest-bearing bank and other borrowings above * FatEt BERIT R EAME RN B IEHE
excluded the lease liabilities. Eaf-
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31 December 2022
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37. NOTE TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS (continued)
(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing
activities (continued)

. MERERERMETE (4)

(b) REIZBRELEZEEEE (B)

2021 —EF-—F
Interest-
bearing
Lease Loans from bank and other Convertible
liabilities a director borrovvmgs bond
KE—H
EZ/EX BRES
RMB’ UUU RMB’ UUU RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT
At 1 January 2021 RZF=Z—-F—R—H 6,966 6,683 41,209 -
Changes from financing cash flows: BEREHEEEZEH:
New bank and other borrowings BRI REMER - - 42,073 -
Repayments of bank and other BRPTRAMER
borrowings - - (53,975) -
Decrease in loans from a director KE—REENEZRD - (8,683) - -
Lease payments HEMRK (7,636) - - -
Total changes from financing HERGRBELEZ
cash flows ZEmsE (7.636) (6,683) (11,902) -
Other changes: Hin g -
Debt component of convertible bond —Hﬁﬁx RERES - - - 21,672
New leases/lease modification %ﬁﬁf/?ﬁf &3] 20,681 - - -
Interest expense FIERAX 989 - 2018 -
Interest paid classified as AREREEREREL
operating cash flows BERFIE (989) - (2,018) -
Foreign exchange movements ERED (50) - - -
At 31 December 2021 RZZZ—F
+-A=+-8H 19,961 - 29,307 21,672
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31 December 2022
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37. NOTE TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 37. REREREKRMETE (5)
CASH FLOWS (continued)
(c) Total cash outflows for leases (c) HEZRESRHALE
The total cash outflows for leases included in the HRGEHEERERNEEZREMN
consolidated statement of cash flows is as follows: HABENT

2022 2021

—E-= —ET_—F

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TR ARETT

Within operating activities KEEBA 1,606 2,357

Within financing activities BMEEHA 7,119 7,636

8,725 9,993

38. PLEDGE OF ASSETS 38. BEEN

Details of the Group’s assets pledged for the Group’s contract NAEEEEEERZAKEEHRRAOR

bidding and contract execution are included in note 26 to the BRITHBHN GG M IMRMeE26 -

consolidated financial statements.

Details of the Group's assets pledged for the Group's other RAREEMERMERNAERBEEF
loan are included in note 30(e) to the consolidated financial BRSPS TRE M 5E30(e) ©
statements.
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39. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

In addition to the transactions disclosed elsewhere in the

consolidated financial statements, the Group had the following

transactions with its related parties during the years ended 31
December 2022 and 2021:

(a)

On 6 December 2017, the Group entered into a loan
agreement with Smoothly Global for an unsecured,
interest-free loan of HK$4,000,000. As at 31 December
2021,
agreement amounted to HK$4,000,000 (equivalent to
RMB3,260,000), and was unsecured and interest-free.
During the year ended 31 December 2021, the maturity

the outstanding loan balance under this loan

of the loan has been extended from 6 December 2021 to
6 December 2022. During the year ended 31 December
2022, the loan was fully settled.

Smoothly Global is 70% and 20% owned by Mr. Chan Sek
Keung, Ringo and Ms. Wang Fang respectively, they are
also the directors of the Company.

On 24 December 2020, the Group entered into a loan
facility agreement of HK$10,000,000 (equivalent to
RMB8,420,000) with a director of the Company. As
at 31 December 2022, HK$6,390,000 (equivalent to
RMB5,651,000) was outstanding under this loan facility
(note 29) (2021: Nil). The outstanding balance under this
loan facility as at 31 December 2022 was unsecured,

interest-free and repayable within one year.

39.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 7% 3R 2R Bt o

31 December 2022
—E-—FEf - H=+—H

HETXREZRBERS
BREAMBHRREMBOMBENR
I RBEZS__FRE—F+= ﬂ

St RALEFEARKEERRER
PR 5

EITT

@ RZTE—tF+_-_ARH A&EEH
Smoothly Globalgt EE R & E &R
4,000, Q0BT VERME - R T

——F+_A=+—RH ZEXHE
B TNHARERE A 54,000,000

B (FHE N ARYS3260,000T) © &
AEERREB -REBEE_T=Z—F
+ZA=+—BHLtFE B HHBEE
H-_E-—4F+_-_ARBIERZC
::¢+:Hﬁaoﬁé@§:z§::
FH+_AZ+-—BHIFE ZZEX
EERHEE -

Smoothly GlobalBfR#®EERTFFH
L5 RIBEBT0% R 20% % 5 - 1K 5 Th
RANEESE-

by RZZEZZEF+ZA=Z+WHH &A%
EHARNG—ZEBIVLERBERE
JE 1% 710,000,000/ 7T (B E R AR
8,420,000L) MR ZZE = —F += A
=+—H ZEFRRETEE 6,390,000
BT (FEE R AR S5,651,0007T) 4 R
Eig (ME29) (T —F:|) - R
—E-_F+-A=+—H ZEXK
mﬁﬁ%EFTiﬁ BERAEER R
MER—FRNEE-
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39. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(c)

214

Outstanding balances with related parties

Details of the Group's outstanding balances with its
related parties as at the end of the reporting period are
disclosed in notes 29 and 30 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Compensation of key management personnel of the

Group

During the year, the Company did not identify any
personnel as key management other than the directors
of the Company. Further details of directors” and the
chief executive’s emoluments are included in note 8 to

the consolidated financial statements.

On 18 October 2022, a wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company (the “Purchaser”), Delta Wealth Credit
Limited (the “Vendor”), Ms. Tin Yat Yu Carol ("Ms. Tin",
also being the director of the Company) and Sino Profit
Trading Limited ("Sino Profit”) entered into the sale and
purchase agreement in relation to the acquisition of
the entire interest of Sino Profit by the Purchaser (the

“Acquisition”).

Sino Profit is wholly-owned by the Vendor, which in turn
is indirectly wholly and beneficially owned by Ms. Tin,
therefore the Vendor and Ms. Tin are connected persons
of the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
The Acquisition constitutes a connected transaction, in
respect of which the Company has complied with the
disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A
of the Listing Rules.

As at 31 December 2022, the Acquisition has not
completed.

InvesTech Holdings Limited B ZRER A

39. MEARZERBERS ()

(c)

48R A 85 25 MK ERRRIB 75 2 R 8
$4 R IR 2 B IS TR I 529 1230
-

AEBETZERABSHD

FR-BRARBEEIN AR B IUEH
IEMALTATIEERE -EF MK
BITHA BH 2 — FFHIFEHNER
B ImR KIS o

RZEZZF+A+TN\B ARAH
2EWMEBRAR([ER]) BERFE

BRARI([ER]) BH—Fxt+ ([HX
T MARRRIER)RERESE
Rar ([EADBREFRBERNS
iz ([WESEDIIVESRE®-

FRMES2ERBE MESTHBAX
THEZERESES #SRELD
RAUE+HAR  EHMAZER/AR
AMBEEAL WHBEERBKEAER
5 ARBERE ETRAE+HAE
FRAZ X 5 BT R EEARE

R-oE-——F+=-_RA=+—8"
EIEEKRTTHK



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 7% 3R 2R Bt o

31 December 2022
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40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 40. RERE S ERMITA
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial HEMRSE T ANREE®RT
instruments as at the end of the reporting period were as
follows:
2022 —
Financial assets EHEE

Financial asset

Financial at fair value

Financial assets at fair through other
assets at value through  comprehensive
amortised cost profit or loss income

REBHEHAE BAREE BAREE

SRz FPAREN  HAHMEE
EREE SREE WENEREE st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR AR®TR AR®TR AR®TR

Trade and bills receivables EUVES LN 260,167 - - 260,167
Financial assets included in FFATE A - EA R

prepayments, other receivables FERHEMEENCRERE

and other assets 35,587 - - 35,587
Equity investments at fair value BRARBEFABEZ

through profit or loss A% A - 13,452 - 13,452
Debt investment at fair value BRAABEFABRLZ

through profit or loss BKRE = 1,270 = 1,270
Financial asset at fair value through AR BEFT AEAM

other comprehensive income ZEARENEMEE - - 18,368 18,368
Pledged deposits BEAFR 25,549 - - 25,549
Cash and cash equivalents BehBEeEED 59,436 - - 59,436

380,739 14,722 18,368 413,829
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31 December 2022
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40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 40. RERE2ERTIA (&)
(continued)
2022 (continued) —EF(8)
Financial liabilities EHEE
Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
Sl Bk 2
SRIBE
RMB’000
AR¥ T
Trade payables B 5N FRIE 215,230
Financial liabilities included in other payables FFAHAMENRIEBEREGTEBR 2
and accruals SRAaE 13,227
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings FHRIRIT R A AR 69,919
Convertible bond TR ES 24,624
323,000

2 1 6 InvesTech Holdings Limited B ZRER A



(continued)
2021
Financial assets

Trade and bills receivables

Financial assets included in
prepayments, other receivables
and other assets

Loan receivables

Equity investment at fair value
through profit or loss

Debt investment at fair value
through profit or loss

Financial asset at fair value through
other comprehensive income

Pledged deposits

Cash and cash equivalents

40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

Z5REREYR
STARNFOR AR
FEREBEED

THEE

FEUCE R
BOABEFARRZ
AR E
BAORBEFAREZ
EBEE
BRnEEFALL
EARENEREE
BHEAER
BehReETED

40.

Financial
assets at
amortised cost

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2022
—E-—F+=HA=+—H

REHNESERMIA (8)

Financial asset
at fair value
through other
comprehensive

Financial
assets at fair
value through

loss income

CREE G SREE s
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREBTT AREBTT AREBTTT ARET T
201,795 - - 201,795
11,157 - - 11,157
1,749 - - 1,749

- 2,880 - 2,880

- 12,530 - 12,530

. B, 40,086 40,086
25,765 - - 25,765
54,920 - - 54,920
295,386 15,410 40,086 350,882
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31 December 2022
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40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 40. RERE2ERTIA (&)
(continued)
2021 (continued) —E—F (%)
Financial liabilities EHEE
Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
R 8 SH PR AN
FIER 2
TRBE
RMB'000
ARET T
Trade payables B 5N RIE 174,832
Financial liabilities included in other payables FFAHAMENRIEBEREGTBR
and accruals SHBE 10,484
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings HRIRIT R EM AR 49,268
Convertible bond AR ES 21,672
256,256

2 1 8 InvesTech Holdings Limited B ZRER A



41.

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group’s financial
instruments, other than those with carrying amounts that

reasonably approximate to fair values, are as follows:

41.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 7% 3R 2R Bt o

31 December 2022
—E-—FEf - H=+—H

EMIRACAARBERAIAEES

N
AEESRMTA (REEARABESENR

EERIN 2FREAERAABERNT:

Carrying amounts Fair values
AR E AREE
2022 2021 2022 2021
—=E2-- —E-—F Z—E-C —E-—%F
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTRE ARETT AR%STR ARETT
Financial assets TREE
Equity investment at fair value mAnBEFARRZ
through profit or loss A E 13,452 2,880 13,452 2,880
Debt investment at fair value BARBEFAEBRZ
through profit or loss RBIRE 1,270 12,530 1,270 12,530
Financial asset at fair value BRARBEGAEM
through other comprehensive FHKENEREE
income 18,368 40,086 18,368 40,086
33,090 55,496 33,090 55,496

The Group’'s corporate finance team is responsible for
determining the policies and procedures for the fair value
measurement of financial instruments. The corporate finance
team reports directly to the chief executive officer. At each
reporting date, the corporate finance team analyses the
movements in the values of financial instruments and the
major inputs applied in the valuation which performed by
an independent professional valuer, if any. The valuation is

reviewed and approved by the chief executive officer.

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and
cash equivalents, trade and bills receivables, current financial
assets included in prepayments, other receivables and
other assets, pledged deposits, loans receivables, interest
receivables, trade payables, interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings and the current financial liabilities included in
other payables and accruals approximate to their carrying
amounts largely due to the short term maturities of these
instruments.

AEEBETHEXYHEAEERERTA
WRRBEAESEBRRLIEF - EMB
HERAARER REREAY XY
BHEINMERTAEEES MNEANE L
SXRHEMETZHENTI2RABE (1
B) - HEC RAEER LIt

REEEFNER REeMRASFEY EH
Ko SRR FE WK~ B TR SRR - A Ath B K
BEREMEENRDEREE BEAT
o EWER - BRAE BB EMNFIE &
BRTT R E MBI Rt A E b B 5ROR
REGFERNABERAEN AR EER
HREEMES TEANZFTANIHIE
PREQAT -
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41.

220

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

As at 31 December 2021, the fair value of equity investment
at fair value through profit or loss, representing a Suspended
Share described in note 24, was measured by valuation
techniques of the guideline public company method. The
guideline public company method requires the research of
comparable companies” benchmark multiples and selection of
an appropriate multiple. In order to reflect the latest financial
performance of the listed company which the Group invested
in, the management have adopted the price to sales ("P/S")
ratio of the comparable companies. In March 2022, the Group

disposed all of the Suspended Share of the listed company.

The fair value of the unlisted equity investment designated
as financial asset at fair value through other comprehensive
income has been estimated using a summation method
with majority of component assets are valued by market-
based valuation technique based on assumptions that are
not supported by observable market prices or rates. The
valuation requires the directors to determine comparable
public companies (peers) based on industry, size, leverage and
strategy, and to calculate an appropriate price multiple, such
as price to book ("P/B") multiple, price to earnings ("P/E")
multiple, price to earnings before interest and taxes ("P/EBIT")
multiple and enterprise value to sales ("EV/S") multiple,
for each comparable company identified. The multiple is
calculated by dividing the enterprise value of the comparable
company by an earnings measure. The trading multiple is
then discounted for considerations such as illiquidity and size
differences between the comparable companies based on
company-specific facts and circumstances. The discounted
multiple is applied to the corresponding earnings measure of
the unlisted equity investment to measure the fair value. The
directors believe that the estimated fair values resulting from
the valuation technique, which are recorded in the consolidated
statement of financial position, and the related changes in fair
values, which are recorded in other comprehensive income,
are reasonable, and that they were the most appropriate

values at the end of the reporting period.

The fair values of unlisted debt investment are measured
by valuation techniques of binomial model using significant
unobservable market inputs including the credit spread and

short rate volatility.

InvesTech Holdings Limited B IZR G R A 7
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FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF 4. EMTACZAARBERIABESE
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) & (E)

Fair value hierarchy NARBEER

Below is a summary of significant unobservable inputs to the TERBLERREMEZEANTAIBER
valuation of financial investments together with a quantitation ABBUAER-_ZE-__FR-_F-—%F
sensitivity analysis at 31 December 2022 and 2021: TZA=T—RAZEEBRESN:

Description Valuation technique Unobservable input Amount of Sensitivity of fair
unobservable input value to the input

B fEE7 % FOUBRZHEE FTIREHARE AABEHRABREZBBE

Equity investment at fair value ~ Guideline public company method  Valuation multiple:

through profit or loss (Market approach)
RARBEFABEZ B RARARE (HE) HEEH
BAKE
- Price to sales N/A (2021: 0.49) N/A (2021: 1% increase/decrease in
multiple would result in increase/
decrease in fair value by 0.45%)
—BIRLEE TEA TER(ZE—F EF8EN/5
(ZZ=—5:049) L1 SR AR EREN D
0.45%)
Discount for lack of N/A (2021: 21.72%) N/A (2021: 1% increase/decrease in
marketability discount would result in decrease/
increase in fair value by 0.58%)
RzmsRAETE  TEA TEB (2T 7R/ R
(Z2=—%F:20.72%) P1%BERAREBRD /B0
0.58% )
Debt investment at fair value  Binomial method (Income Credit spread (%) N/A (2021: 8.11%) N/A (2021: 10% increase/decrease
through profit or loss approach) in spread would result in
decrease/increase in fair value by
0.45%/0.04%)
RAREBEFABEZ ZEAFE(BAE) FEEE%) TEA TL% (ZZ2=—F 228N/ R
EBRE (ZB-—F:811%) DO ER AR BERD /LM
0.45%,70.04%)
Short rate volatility (%)  N/A (2021: 0.82%) N/A (2021: 10% increase/decrease
in ratio would result in decrease/
increase in fair value by 0.00%)
K2 HAR R B)(%) A TER(ZF=—-F: tt“ n/
(ZZ=—F:082%) PI0%EEHAREERD /M
0.00%)
Discounted expected future cash  Credit spread (%) 29.58% 10% increase/decrease in discount
flow (Income approach) would result in decrease/increase
in fair value by 0.77%/0.84%
HRBAKRRELTE (WNZE) FEEE®) 29.58% FREm/ A% EERL L BE

B,/ N0.77%/0.84%
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41. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Fair value hierarchy (continued)

Description Valuation technique Unobservable input

. ERMIAECZARBERAAREBESE

YA€)

DIREEFR (B

Amount of
unobservable input

Sensitivity of fair
value to the input

FUBRBHE

ik BT %

Summation method (With majority
of the component assets valued

Financial asset at fair value
through other comprehensive

Valuation multiple:

income by market approach)
BARBEALMEZEKSE A (TRERBIBENT RERE:
ZEREE GERTIAE)

- Price to book

—ERLEEER

- Price to sales

—ERLEE

- Price to earnings
before interest and
tax

— (BB LR SRR
&7

222
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FIRZRARE

04610 1.48
(2021: 0.46 to 1.26)

046ZE148( =B =
0.46%1.26)

N/A(2021: 1.15)

—E:

TER(ZF=2—F:

1.15)

N/A (2021: 36.08)

TEm(ZF=—%:

36.08)

MABEHBABEZHBE

10% (2021: 10%) increase/decrease in
multiple would result in increase/
decrease in fair value by 0.37%
(2021: 0.18%)
EEEM/H0% (ZF=—F:

U%)ﬁ-r’—#g(mfﬁ@iﬁﬂﬂ/ﬂ)
037% (ZZZ—%F:0.18%)

N/A (2021: 10% increase/decrease in
multiple would result in increase/
decrease in fair value by 0.02%)

WL%(_q_—¢=%§%M/ﬁ

D0 ER R BEEM B
0.02%)
N/A (2021: 10% increase/decrease in

multiple would result in increase/
decrease in fair value by 0.02%)

TER (ZTZ—F: B/ 6
P10 ER AR BB A
0.02%)
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41. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF 4. EMTECZAARABERAAEBES
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) (&)
Fair value hierarchy (continued) AREBEER (&)

Description Valuation technique Unobservable input Amount of Sensitivity of fair

unobservable input value to the input

ik fHER & FUBREHE FUREHARE AABEHRABEZBRBE

- Enterprise value to 1.3 t0 8.42 (2021: 1.52) 10% (2021: 10%) increase/decrease in
sales multiple would result in increase/
decrease in fair value by 0.00%
(2021:17.09%/0. 00%)
—DEEELEE 108FC4A-T—F: EEIEIHA10% (

152) F: 10%)%%@1%1“@;‘
i/ WA0.00% (ZB=—4:
17.09%/0.00% )

Discount for lack of 32.52% (2021: 26.80%) 10% (2021: 10%) increase/decrease in
marketability (%) discount would result in decrease/
increase in fair value by 14.82%
(2021: 13.66%)
BEmERBETE  325% (25 =—4: WEEM/ A% (ZE=—F:
(%) 26.80%) 10%) BERRAE ERD & !
14.82% (ZFZ—F:13.66%)

Discount for lack of 18.50% (2021: 20.40%) 10% (2021: 10%) increase/decrease in
control (%) discount would result in decrease/
increase in fair value by 23.95%
(2021: 12.20%)
RS EHETE%)  1850% (Z2=—F: Frasgm,/ HA0% (ZE=—4F:
20.40%) 10%) BEHRABERD /EM
23.95% (ZFZ—5:1220%)

The discount for lack of marketability represents the discounts Mz mm iR mS2EEERR
determined by the Group that market participants would take BEEBERGERCAKEMETE E-

into account when pricing the investments.

The valuation multiples represent the market multiples derived HERBAKEATELRAR (F%)HTH
from the comparable companies (peers) and were applied to HGREE WEANRGREEMT B EENE
the financials of the financial assets to arrive the fair value. HAREE-
The discount for lack of control represents the amount by TR = 45 T 42 T 5 B 35 75 1b 5K S BR R = 45
which the pro rata value of a non-controlling interest is less TRE &) 3 128 i) 2 2 Lt (B > A48 1) 4 2 L 91
than the pro rata value of a controlling interest over which a BHHESEE -

business enterprise reflects lack of a control.
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41. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF 4. ESRMTAZAABERAAEES
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) (&)
Fair value hierarchy (continued) NABESHR(E)
The following table illustrates the fair value measurement TRINFAEEERMITANAABENE
hierarchy of the Group’s financial instruments: ER
Assets measured at fair value: RARBEAENEE:

Fair values measurement using
AREEFERA
Quoted Significant Significant
prices in observable unobservable
active markets inputs inputs

(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)

EATEHE EATHER

SERT IS ]RE WARE WARE
(ZE14%) (ZE24%) (ZE3#k) st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARBTT ARBTT ARBT T

As at 31 December 2022 i
+TZA=+—H
Equity investments at fair value RO BEFAER
through profit or loss RAIR & 13,452 - - 13,452
Debt investment at fair value BRREBEFAERD
through profit or loss BEBRE - - 1,270 1,270
Financial asset at fair value BRREEF AR
through other comprehensive ZEHKHNEREE
income - - 18,368 18,368
13,452 - 19,638 33,090
As at 31 December 2021 i —
+ZA=+—H
Equity investment at fair value AR BEAREN
through profit or loss i A 9% & - - 2,880 2,880
Debt investment at fair value BARBEFAERN
through profit or loss BHIRE - - 12,530 12,530
Financial asset at fair value through &2 7t BEFT A AL
other comprehensive income ZHKARNERAE - - 40,086 40,086
_ - 55,496 55,496
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41.

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF 41.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Fair value hierarchy

During the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, there
were no transfers amongst Level 1, Level 2 and Level 3 in the

fair value hierarchy.

The movements in fair value measurements within Level 3

during the year are as follows:

Equity investments at fair value through profit or loss

At 1 January m—H—H

Total fair value losses recognised in the ~ REFAIBRERNER
consolidated statement of profit or loss AR BEBEEE

Disposal &

Exchange realignment I R

At 31 December R+=ZA=+—H

Debt investment at fair value through profit or loss

At 1 January m—H—H

Interest FE

Total fair value gain recognised in the RErEERRAERL
consolidated statement of profit or loss AR BEEREERE

Exchange realignment [E 5 =

At 31 December Rn+=—A=+—8”

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 7% 3R 2R Bt o

31 December 2022
—E-—FEf - H=+—H

SRMIAZAREBERAAEESE
& ()

DPRAEBEER
REBE_ZT__Fk-_ZFT-_—F+2H
=T RALFE ARBESRNE IR
EVEYSERE it 3 LR

FARRAABEFENZS NN :

BRAABEFABENRERE

2022 2021
—=E—— T —F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T AREF T
2,880 999
1,099 1,948
(4,129) -

150 (67)

- 2,880

BARBEFABRSNERRE

2022 A
—E=-= —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR¥T T ARET T
12,530 13,055
(1,007) (1,472)
(10,943) 1,364
690 (417)

1,270 12,530
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41.

42.

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Equity investment at fair value through other
comprehensive income

At 1 January m—H—H
Total fair value losses recognised in A E A 2 T W as R A HE

other comprehensive income AR BEBERR

At 31 December

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES

The Group's principal financial instruments comprise interest-
bearing bank and other borrowings, debt component of
convertible bond and cash and cash equivalents. The main
purpose of these financial instruments is to finance the
Group’s operations. The Group has various other financial
assets and liabilities such as trade and bills receivables, trade

and bills payables, which arise directly from its operations.

It is, and has been throughout the year under review, the
Group's policy that trading in financial instruments shall be

undertaken with due care.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments
are interest rate risk, foreign currency risk, credit risk and
liquidity risk. The board reviews and agrees policies for
managing each of these risks and they are summarised below.

226 InvesTech Holdings Limited B ZRER A

1. EMTREZARBERAIAEES

& ()
BEAABESARMZERENRE
RE

7
e HY

2022 A
—E=-= —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR¥T T ARET T
40,086 111,078
(21,718) (70,992)
18,368 40,086

2. MBEREEEREREE

AEENTIZSRMTABEARRITRA
e R EFNEBBI ARBREE R
ReSEY ZFeRIANIEENDS
AEENEBEFES AKEEZHA M
TRMEEMBE FIE S REERRERER
BEHRRERNF - HERBAREERE
Ko

REEAQBEFERN AEE-ERRREE
HETERmIAR G-

KEAEEEMTANTIZAR BT ER
B SNERR  EERBRMTE R E
FEERMEETE D B ERROBE
BRABRBALT -



42,

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (continued)

Interest rate risk

The Group’'s exposure to the risk of changes in interest rates
relates primarily to the Group’s debt obligations in US$, RMB
and HK$ with floating interest rates.

The Group's policy is to manage its interest costs using a mix
of fixed and floating rate debts with respect to the prevailing
interest rate environment. The Group mitigates the risk by
monitoring closely the movements in interest rates and
reviewing its banking facilities regularly. The Group has not
used any interest rate swap to hedge its exposure to interest
rate risk.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity of the Group's
loss before tax and equity in response to changes in interest
rates of the Group’'s floating rate debts in US$, RMB and HK$

(with all other variables held constant).

2022 B F
US$ debts ELER
RMB debts AR EEET
HK$ debts BILEM
US$ debts ELER
RMB debts AR ER
HK$ debts BILER

* Excluding accumulated losses

42,

(decrease) in
interest rate
basis points

E#/(T)

ARETR

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2022
—E-—FEf - H=+—H

BEEMREEBERBEER (&)

A 2= 2 By
AEBEHOMEREGREE TR RA
SEHETT ARBMBITTSER -

AEBHBRIIZBITHERRE - FAER
MFBEBNEEERMNERA - REEFE
BYERMNEED M ERRIRITEEN
R R R o AN S B 3 A PR (E AR R R 4w
E DA S5 P D 4 0 ) R L B

TREJNAKERBABRNERE AL
BXTT ARERBILFSEBNNEES
(FIEEMBESGRIE) MEBRE-

Increase/
(Decrease)/

(Increase)/

decrease in loss increase in

before tax
R AT 5 18
(&m), "W
RMB’000
ARBT R

equity*

Rz
(H2) /48 hn*
RMB’000

AR T

FIREZ

RMB’000

100 (33) -
100 (270) -
100 (259) -
(100) 33 .
(100) 270 -
(100) 259 -

* PR RRAER
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42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND  42.

POLICIES (continued)
Interest rate risk (continued)

in interest rate
basis points
L
7/ ()
RMB'000
ARBTT

2021 —E-—F
US$ debts ETCES
RMB debts AREEE
US$ debts ETTES
RMB debts ARBE

*  Excluding retained profits/accumulated losses

Foreign currency risk

The Group’s companies operated in different locations with
most of the transactions settled in local currency and did not
have significant exposure to risk resulting from changes in
foreign currency exchange rates.

Credit risk

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy third
parties. It is the Group's policy that all customers who wish
to trade on credit terms are subject to credit verification
procedures. In addition, receivable balances are monitored
on an ongoing basis and the Group’s exposure to impairment
is not significant. For transactions that are not denominated
in the functional currency of the relevant operating unit, the
Group does not offer credit terms without the specific approval

of the head of credit control.
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(decrease)

BRREMREEEERBEK (&)

MR (8)

Increase/

(Increase)/ (Decrease)/

increase in

equity*

decrease in loss
befaore tax

BR B A ES 18
(&), mL
RMB'000
ARET T

A0/
RMB'000
ARMTTE

100 (44) _
100 (200) -
(100) 44 -
(100) 200 -

* TR RRBENRAER

B == [ 2

AEBHR TEATHi‘@E%L REBDR 5
NEHWEEEE WEERINEERZESHE
?&E’Jikﬂ[ﬁm

FERR
AEEEARRAMEREENE=0HE

IRG RNEENERAEL B R ENAR
RGN EFPEITEERTZEF o
FEU R E I ER ER - MAEBERRER
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2022
—E - —FF - A=+—H

42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 42. B EMREEREREBE (&)

POLICIES (continued)

Credit risk (continued) EERE (&)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging REREBRERFAERSE

The tables below show the credit quality and the maximum TREJENAEBEEERRNEERE
exposure to credit risk based on the Group’s credit policy, REaEERBAE EXEUBBERA
which is mainly based on past due information unless other B2 (BRIEFTRBAN B DAY BRI KA LS
information is available without undue cost or effort, and year- NEREBEMER) UER+ZA=+—8H
end staging classification as at 31 December. The amounts NWERERSBE - 2INBBRREHEENE
presented are gross carrying amounts for financial assets. BRIEIME ©

As at 31 December 2022 RZFEZZFA+=ZH=4+—H

12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
128 EH
FEF# BAERANRAESEERE

Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
EAE ¥ $3R LA #st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR AR%TR AR%®Tn AR®TR AR®Tx

Trade and bills receivables* 25 REBRIH - - - 331,636 331,636
Financial assets included in prepayments, &M ATE{FRIE « E UL IE

other receivables and other assets REMEENSREE

- Normal** — 35,807 - - - 35,807
Pledged deposits BEHEAEN

- Not yet past due — AR 25,549 - - - 25,549
Cash and cash equivalents ReRkRe%EEN

- Not yet past due —HRBEH 59,436 - - - 59,436

120,792 - - 331,636 452,428
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42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND  42.

POLICIES (continued)
Credit risk (continued)
Maximum exposure and year-end staging (continued)
As at 31 December 2021

12-month

Bt %

REEEREEERBER (&)

EERB (&)
RERBERERELABRSIE (E)
RZFZ—F+=-HA=4+—H

Lifetime ECLs

A A !
Simplified
Stage 2 Stage 3 approach
5 EYE] E3R 1973
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARETT ARETRT ARETn ARET:H
Trade and bills receivables* B REBEMH - - - 217,203 217,203
Finance lease receivable** BE A B U R 1,749 - - - 1,749
Financial assets included in prepayments, 5 AJBATRIE - EAbfEYFIE
other receivables and other assets REMEENSREE
- Normal** — 11,377 - - - 11,377
Pledged deposits BHEMER
- Not yet past due —RARBH 25,765 - - - 25,765
Cash and cash equivalents ReRAEED
- Not yet past due —HRBE 54,920 - - - 54,920
93811 - . 217,203 311,014
* For trade and bills receivables and contract assets to * BAKREERAREEEENESRE

which the Group applies the simplified approach for
impairment, information based on the provision matrix
is disclosed in note 22 to the consolidated financial
statements.

**  The credit quality of the finance lease receivables,
financial assets included in prepayments, other
receivables and other assets is considered to be "normal”
when they are not past due and there is no information
indicating that the financial assets had a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition. While the
credit quality of the loan receivables is considered to be
“doubtful” since it had a significant increase in credit
risk.
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42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (continued)
Credit risk (continued)
Changes in the gross carrying amount of loan receivables that
contributed to changes in loss allowances were as follows:

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 7% 3R 2R Bt o

31 December 2022
—E-—FEf - H=+—H

42. BINEREEEEREEK (&)

FERR (&)
FBREFEEFASHEEDH G BERME
HEnT

Lifetime ECL, Lifetime
non-credit ECL, credit-
impaired impaired

BRI ERAHR

BEHEEBRE BUERASR

(L\|ERE FHEEER
RAE) (FERIE) At
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Balance as at 1 January 2021 R-ZE-—F—H—H
2 REER
Origination of new loan kB E R
receivables
Decrease due to disposal of MM B AT
subsidiaries
Exchange realignment b 3 SR &

Balance as at 31 December 2021 R-_ZT-_—F+_A
=t+—Hz#&%

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group’s exposure to
credit risk arising from trade receivables are set out in note 22
to the consolidated financial statements.

ARBTIT ARETIT ARBTIT

14,293 7,578 21,871
48 - 48
(14,219) (7,512) (21,731)
(122) (66) (188)

ERAEETEYEE S ERFEMEE
NEERBRNE—FSTEEEE HREAY
TERERM5E22 ©
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42,

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (continued)

Liquidity risk

The Group monitors its risk to a shortage of funds using
a recurring liquidity planning tool. This tool considers the
maturity of both its financial instruments and financial
assets (e.g., trade receivables) and projected cash flows from

operations.

Ultimate responsibility for liquidity risk rests with the board
of directors of the Company, which has built an appropriate
liquidity risk management framework for the management
of the Group’s short, medium and long-term funding and
liquidity management requirements. Having considered the
forthcoming business plan, the Group manages liquidity risk
by maintaining adequate banking facilities and continuously
monitoring working capital forecast and actual cash flows.
Should there be any significant change in banking facilities
available, the Group will adjust the working capital forecast

and business plan accordingly to maintain its liquidity.

The following table details the Group's remaining contractual
maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities based on the

agreed repayment terms.

42,

BEEREEBERBEER (&)

B R
AEEMNBEFERDESRE TAEE
BeRBROER HETAZEREHBTAM
TREE (HINEZ R EIE A LA
RIEAMEERER -

RBMERBNSEKETHARREETS A
F-ApREFERAKENES T EH
B2BYBEEMNRDERREEERNURK
RBUEEERTE KEEARZELERE

AEBE#BRARRTHEMSTEEELE
ExBRANERRSRE RUEERSME
R - A A E A IRTTRVE HIREREX
HE) AEBEFHERMAEREEESTER N
AT RERPIE-

TRALREHEEFRREZAKEFE
TEERABBEZHTAORMA -

Less than 3t012
On demand 3 months months Over 1 year Total
RERER MBAURT 32128 A 1F50E @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR AR¥Tn AR%Tr AR%®Trn AR%Tx
Trade payables BN ZE 89,715 62,786 30,957 31,772 215,230
Financial liabilities included in FTARMEMRER
other payables and accruals E:ERzeRAR - 13,227 - - 13,227
Lease liabilities HEERE - 1,690 4,743 8,232 14,665
Interest-bearing bank and other FRRITREMBER
borrowings (excluding lease liabilities) (HE&ERIN) - 5,784 49,781 2,670 58,235
Debt component of convertible bond ABRRESFNEEDD - - 398 26,930 27,328
89,715 83,487 85,879 69,604 328,685
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42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 42.
POLICIES (continued)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2022
—E-—FEf - H=+—H

BEEMREEBERBEER (&)

Liquidity risk (continued) REMRR (&)
Less than 3t0 12
3 months months Over 1 year
fEAMKT 3Z12{8 A 1ERE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARETT ARETRT ARETn ARET:H
Trade payables BN HE 142,484 11276 13552 7520 174,832
Financial liabilities included in ATAR MR TE R
other payables and accruals E:EBR eRAR 9,960 2,626 - - 12,586
Lease liabilities HEEE 2,057 5,891 13,817 21,765
Interest-bearing bank and other SHERITRAMER
borrowings (excluding lease liabilities) (HEBRE ﬁ?fﬂ\) 4,039 25,385 - 29,424
Debt component of convertible bond R EFNERLS - 367 25,183 25,550
152,444 19,998 45,195 46,520 264,157
Capital management BEXRER

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management are
to safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going concern
and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its

businesses and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions
and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets. To
maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may
adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital to
shareholders or issue new shares. The Group is not subject to
any externally imposed capital requirements. No changes were
made in the objectives, policies or processes for managing
capital during the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021.

AEBEEAERNIEZABREREAEE
URBERETABELEARATREN
BERLER UXHEEBNERBRREER
KiEe

ZIKEIIJEZ“U%EHNRE’J@;@WMHE%%TEE@
ISR E B EAEBIWH AL AR
%%ﬁ%ﬂﬁ%%éﬁ$%%'$%ﬂ%ﬁ%&ﬁﬂ&
RIRBERRE -« MRFRERANRBITHR
17 REBMIEZBEAINRIE N E AR
KRR - RBE TR -FT-—F
T A=+ —BLFE TEHEEELRN
BiZ BRSBRFEL T R=RE-
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42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND  42.

POLICIES (continued)

Capital management (continued)

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is
the total of interest-bearing bank and other borrowings and
convertible bond divided by the total assets. The gearing ratios
as at the end of the reporting periods were as follows:

Interest-bearing bank and other FHRIRITREMER
borrowings (note 30) (Bft5E30)

Convertible bond (note 36) AR B 25 (T EE36)

Total assets BEE

Gearing ratio BAREBEHLE

234 InvesTech Holdings Limited B ZRER A

BRREMEEEERBEK (&)

EXREE(8)

AEBEAERNBELR (BAFTBRITR
HER R AT BB ER 2 BB AREE
FEZER)EREA -BREMRKNELE
BRI

31 December 31 December

2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F

=

+t=A=+—-B +=-A=t—H
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARET T

69,919 49,268
24,624 21,672
94,543 70,940
746,412 655,429
12.7% 10.8%
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43. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE
COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position of the

43. A2 E] BT AR R &R

BERARARBREMNRNFBERRRNE
Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows: BT

NON-CURRENT ASSET
Investments in subsidiaries

Total non-current asset

CURRENT ASSETS

Prepayments, other receivables and

other assets

Equity investment at fair value through

profit or loss

Debt investment at fair value through

profit or loss
Amounts due from subsidiaries
Cash and cash equivalents

Total current assets

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Loans from a director
Amounts due to subsidiaries
Other payables and accruals
Tax payable

Total current liabilities
NET CURRENT ASSETS

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT
LIABILITIES

NON-CURRENT LIABILITY
Convertible bond

Total non-current liability

Net assets

EQUITY
Issued capital (note 31)
Reserves (note)

Total equity

FRBEE
RHTE R RIRE

FRBEERR

RBEE

B FRIA - B MR IR I
HipEE

B BEFABRZ
AR E

B BEFARGDZ
BHRE

& W B 8 A B K TR
ReRReEED

MBEERR
REBAE
’E—HREBFENER
FEAS B /88 A B3R IR

Hip N IAMETER
JE 5 5K

mBEERR
RBREE

REERARBAR

FREBRME
A] R AR AR 55

FRBAEARE
FEE

i

2T (FFE31)
(M)

AR

2021

—E-—F

RMB'000

ARETFT

249,608 249,608
249,608 249,608
3,714 1,956

- 2,880

1,270 12,530
62,143 15,846
126 58
67,253 33,270
5,651 -
6,723 6,195
2,187 933
6,005 5,990
20,566 13,118
46,687 20,152
296,295 269,760
24,624 21,672
24,624 21,672
271,671 248,088
7,553 5,464
264,118 242,624
271,671 248,088
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43. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 43. RQBMBARREK (#)

COMPANY (continued)
Note: Hiat -
A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows: RAGIHEZBENT

Foreign
currency
translation

Share Convertible

Share Contributed option Capital bond equity Accumulated

premium surplus reserve reserve reserve reserve losses

TERESER
N B it

At 1 January 2021 WZZ--%-F-8 625,012 - 6,304 106,715 - 53,163 (575,537) 215,657
Loss and total comprehensive FEFERZEFELE
loss for the year - - - - - (678) (182,433) (183,111)
Cancellation of share premium HERNEE (625,012) 625,012 - - - - - -
Capital reorganisation ExEd - 184,152 - - - - - 184,152
Issue of shares Bk 13569 - - - - - 13569
Share issue expenses BOESE (479) - - - - (£79)
Equity-settled share option IMEREE  BRERH
arrangement - 2743 - - - - 2743
Issue of convertible bond BuakEs - - 10,113 - - 10,113
At 31 December 2021 W=E=-F+-B=t+-H 13,070 809,164 9,047 106,715 10,113 52485 (757970) 242,624
Loss and total comprehensive FREERZEFRLE
loss for the year - - - - - 4,808 (21,635) (16,827)
Issue of shares BRM 37,966 - - - - - - 37,966
Share issue expenses LOES5 (1,207) - - - - - - (1,207)
Fquity-settled share option IEREE BRERH
arrangement - - 1,562 - - - - 1,562
At 31 December 2022 W-E--f+-h=t+-H 49,829 809,164 10,609 106,715 10,113 57,293 (779,605) 264,118
44. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS Lb., EBEREE

2022 2021
—E-=

RMB’000

AR® T

RMB'000
ARETIT

U — B R E A

Commitments for the acquisition

of a company 62,191 -

45. APPROVAL OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 45. HEFESPHHER
STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were approved and EFEgR_T_=F=-A=+T—HHER
BRETIBERGEME®RE-

authorised for issue by the board of directors on 31 March
2023.
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